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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Aspen Group, Inc. is an education technology holding company. AGI has two subsidiaries, Aspen University Inc. ("Aspen University" or "AU") organized in 1987 and United
States University Inc. ("United States University" or "USU").
All references to the “Company”, “AGI”, “Aspen Group”, “we”, “our” and “us” refer to Aspen Group, Inc., unless the context otherwise indicates.
Description of Business
AGI leverages its education technology infrastructure and expertise to allow its two universities, Aspen University and United States University, to deliver on the vision of
making college affordable again. Because we believe higher education should be a catalyst to our students’ long-term economic success, we exert financial prudence by
offering affordable tuition that is one of the greatest values in higher education. AGI’s primary focus relative to future growth is to target the high growth nursing profession. As
of April 30, 2022, 11,522 of 13,334 or 86% of all active students across both universities are degree-seeking nursing students. Of the students seeking nursing degrees, 9,562 are
RNs studying to earn an advanced degree, including 6,672 at Aspen University and 2,890 at USU. In contrast, the remaining 1,960 nursing students are enrolled in Aspen
University’s BSN Pre-Licensure program in the Phoenix, Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta metros.
Aspen University has been offering a monthly payment plan available to all students across every online degree program offered by Aspen University, since March 2014. The
monthly payment plan is designed so that students will make one fixed payment per month, and that monthly payment is applied towards the total cost of attendance (tuition
and fees, excluding textbooks). The monthly payment plan offers online undergraduate students the opportunity to pay their tuition and fees at $250/month, online master
students $325/month, and online doctoral students $375/month, interest free, thereby giving students a monthly payment option versus taking out a federal financial aid loan.
USU has been offering monthly payment plans since the summer of 2017. Today, USU monthly payment plans are available for the online RN to BSN program ($250/month),
online MBA/MAEd/MSN programs ($325/month), online hybrid Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Studies, Teacher Credentialing tracks approved by the California Commission on
Teacher Credentialing ($350/month), and the online hybrid Master of Science in Nursing-Family Nurse Practitioner (“FNP”) program ($375/month).
Fiscal 2022 Overview
For Fiscal Year 2022, the Company achieved and experienced the following key developments:
Aspen 2.0 Business Plan and Other Trends
In Fiscal Year 2022, the Company implemented its ‘Aspen 2.0’ business plan. Aspen 2.0 is designed to deliver maximum efficiency as defined by revenue earned from each
marketing dollar spent. Under the plan, growth spending has been re-focused on our highest efficiency businesses in an effort to accelerate the growth in these units, with
decreased spending in our lowest efficiency unit (an area where high growth is not essential). Specifically, we have reduced marketing spending in our traditional AU Nursing +
Other unit. In addition, we have suspended spending in our Phoenix metro BSN Pre-Licensure, as it was nearing capacity and also more recently due to regulatory issues
described beginning at page 1 of this Report. Those marketing dollars have been redirected towards high LTV programs, specifically our four new BSN Pre-Licensure metros,
AU’s online doctoral programs, and USU's MSN-FNP program. Additionally, due to a requirement to collateralize a new surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for
Private Postsecondary Education, the Company reduced marketing spend in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022 compared to immediately preceding periods. While this
resulted in improved operating results for that quarter, we may see negative trends in future periods if the decrease in marketing spend results in a decline in enrollments. In the
Phoenix metro, which was profitable, we cannot currently matriculate pre-professional nursing students into the two-year core nursing program. See Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
Arizona State Board of Nursing Probation
Because Aspen University’s first-time pass rates for our BSN pre-licensure students taking the NCLEX-RN exam in Arizona fell from 80% in 2020 to 58% in 2021, which is
below the minimum 80% standard set by the Arizona State Board of Nursing (“AZ BON”) in March 2022, AU entered into a Consent Agreement for Probation and a Civil
Penalty (the “Consent Agreement”) with the AZ BON pursuant to which AU’s Provisional Approval was revoked, with the revocation stayed pending
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AU’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the Consent Agreement. The minimum probationary period is 36 months from the date of the Consent Agreement. In June
2022, the AZ BON granted approval of Aspen University’s request for provisional approval as long as the program is in compliance with the consent agreement through March
31, 2025. Aspen University is not currently enrolling students in the BSN Pre-licensure program in Arizona.
Because the pre-licensure program is comprised of two components, a one-year pre-requisite Pre-Professional Nursing (“PPN”) requirement followed by a two-year core
program, one effect of the foregoing events was to prevent PPN students from matriculating into the core program until after the probation stipulation is met.
See “State Professional Licensure” on page 10 for more information on the Consent Agreement and Civil Penalty, and “Item 3 - Legal Proceedings” for more information on a
class action lawsuit filed after disclosure of the Consent Agreement.
Stipulated Agreement and Surety Bond
In connection with the above developments with respect to the AZ BON, Aspen University has also entered into a Stipulated Agreement with the Arizona State Board for Private
Postsecondary Education (the “Arizona Board”) which required us to post a surety bond for $18.3 million. Aspen University posted the surety bond on April 22, 2022. Aspen
University is not currently enrolling students in the BSN Pre-licensure program in Arizona, a condition of the Stipulated Agreement.
Certain Financing and Related Developments
Set forth below are descriptions of certain transactions and developments involving funding and capital that occurred in fiscal year 2022. See “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - “Liquidity and Capital Resources” on page 61 for more information on our liquidity and capital resources.
a.

On March 14, 2022, we raised $10 million in gross proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes. We also issued two lenders a total of $20 million in Revolving
Promissory Notes which have not been drawn upon. Subsequently, the two Revolving Promissory Notes and $5 million of the proceeds from the convertible notes were
pledged as collateral for the $18.3 million surety bond (see discussion above). For the fourth quarter 2022, the Company reduced marketing spend sequentially by $1.0
million, primarily to ensure sufficient collateral for the surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education.

b.

On August 31, 2021, AGI entered into a letter agreement with The Leon and Toby Cooperman Family Foundation (“Cooperman”). On September 1, 2021, the Company
borrowed $5 million from The Leon and Toby Cooperman Family Foundation (“Cooperman”) under a Credit Facility Agreement.

c.

On July 21, 2021, AGI received a payment of $498,120 as a final distribution by the bankruptcy trustee in the previously disclosed Higher Education Management
Group, Inc. bankruptcy proceedings. The bankruptcy filing occurred after AGI obtained a $772,793 judgment against Higher Education Management Group, Inc. No
further assets are available for distribution.

Atlanta, GA Campus Approvals
On January 20, 2022, the Company announced that Aspen University received the final required state and board of registered nursing regulatory approvals for their new BSN
Pre-Licensure campus location in Atlanta, Georgia. The Atlanta site was occupied by the University of Phoenix, located at 859 Mt. Vernon Highway NE, Suite 100, which is
situated just off Interstate 285 in the Sandy Springs suburb in the inner ring of Atlanta. Aspen University began enrolling first-year PPN students in Atlanta starting in February
2022, and expects to enroll Nursing Core students (Years 2-3) in Fall 2022.
Accreditation
Since 1993, Aspen University has been accredited by the Distance Education Accrediting Commission ("DEAC"), an institutional accrediting agency recognized by the United
States Department of Education (the "DOE") and the Council for Higher Education Accreditation ("CHEA"). On February 25, 2019, the DEAC informed Aspen University that
it had renewed its accreditation for five years to January 2024.
Since 2009, USU has been accredited by WASC Senior College and University Commission ("WSCUC"), an institutional accrediting agency recognized by the DOE and the
Council for Higher Education Accreditation ("CHEA"). Its current accreditation period extends through 2030.
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As a result of their respective accreditations, both universities are qualified to participate under the Higher Education Act of 1965 ("HEA") and the Federal student financial
assistance programs (Title IV, HEA programs).
Our operations are organized in one reporting segment.
Competitive Strengths - We believe that we have the following competitive strengths:
Proprietary Education Technology Platform – Traditionally, a University or Online Program Manager (OPM) offering online education has three core systems that serve as
the backbone of their technology stack: (i) a Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system used by the enrollment team to manage prospective students; (ii) a student
information system (or SIS) that the university uses to manage its student body, and (iii) a learning management system (or LMS) which serves as the online classroom.
In each of these categories, there are a number of software as a service ("SaaS") companies that offer solutions for higher education. Most universities and OPMs license one or
all of these systems. In studying these systems, we concluded that there was no reasonable way to have these three separately licensed systems fluently communicate with to
each other to achieve our end goal of having real-time data on every aspect of a student's career – whether it be academic in nature or personal, financial or other behavioral
aspects.
As a result, several years ago we built an in-house Student Information System and connected it to our Learning Management System, D2L. We subsequently built and launched
the first phase of an in-house CRM system that was designed for the enrollment departments at Aspen University and USU.
The first-phase CRM included an algorithm that recommends to Enrollment Advisors (EAs), in priority order, the follow-up calls that should be made in a given day to
complete the enrollment process for prospective students in that EAs individually designated database. The algorithm was created by studying the daily habits and activities of
the three most productive EAs in AGI history. This recommendation engine then automatically updates in real-time after each follow-up/action is conducted by an EA. To our
knowledge, these advanced features are not offered by any CRM software company in the industry. This recommendation engine has boosted our lead conversion rates for our
online nursing programs to approximately 12% vs. <10% prior to launch.
Emphasis on Online Education - The curriculum for all courses at AGI's universities is designed primarily for online delivery. Two nursing degree programs at AGI's
universities require clinical practice: Aspen University's BSN Pre-Licensure hybrid (online/on-campus) nursing program and USU’s MSN-FNP hybrid (online/on-campus)
nursing program. In addition, USU's Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Studies degree, Teacher Credentialing tracks require field experience/student teaching. Online, we provide
students the flexibility to study and interact at times that suit their schedules. We design our online/on-campus sessions and materials to be interactive, dynamic and user
friendly.
Debt Minimization - We are committed to offering among the lowest tuition rates in the sector. Our tuition rates combined with our monthly payment plan payment option for
our post licensure online nursing programs has alleviated the need for a significant majority of our students to take out federal financial aid loans to fund their tuition and fees
requirements.
Commitment to Academic Excellence - We are committed to continuously improving our academic programs and services, as evidenced by the level of attention and
resources we apply to instruction and educational support. We are committed to achieving high course completion and graduation rates compared to competitive distance
learning, for-profit schools. Regular and substantive interaction and one-on-one student contact with our highly experienced faculty brings knowledge and great perspective to
the learning experience. Faculty members are available by telephone, video conference and email to answer questions, discuss assignments and provide help and encouragement
to our students.
Highly Scalable and Profitable Business Model - We believe our education model, our relatively low student acquisition costs, and our flexible faculty cost model enable us
to expand our operating margins. As we increase student enrollments, we are able to scale our online business on a variable basis through growing the number of full-time and
adjunct faculty members after we reach certain enrollment metrics (not before). A single adjunct faculty member can work with as little as one student or as many as 50 at any
given time. A full-time faculty member works with a maximum of 110 students at any given time.
We also believe our hybrid BSN Pre-Licensure Program has significant potential since there are large waiting lists of applicants at many public universities that offer BSN PreLicensure programs in major U.S. metropolitan areas. According to AACN’s report on 2019-2020 Enrollment and Graduations in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in
Nursing, U.S. nursing schools turned away 80,407 qualified applicants from baccalaureate and graduate nursing programs in 2019 due to an insufficient number of faculty,
clinical sites, classroom space, clinical preceptors and budget constraints.
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(https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/News/Factsheets/Faculty-Shortage-Factsheet.pdf).
The Company is currently operating five pre-licensure locations in the Phoenix, Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta metros. We started operating in Phoenix in 2018. The
Company opened two additional new metro locations in Fiscal Year 2021 (Austin and Tampa) and in Fiscal Year 2022 (Nashville and Atlanta), the latter of which began
enrolling first year students in February 2022). We stopped admitting students into our Phoenix locations in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022 in accordance with the AZ
BON matter.
“One Student at a Time” Personal Care - We are committed to providing our students with highly responsive and personal individualized support. Every student is assigned
an Academic Advisor who becomes an advocate for the student’s success. Our one-on-one approach assures contact with faculty members when a student needs it and
monitoring to keep them on course. Our administrative staff is readily available to answer any questions and work with a student from initial interest through the application
process and enrollment, and most importantly while the student is pursuing their studies.
Admissions
In considering candidates for acceptance into any of our certificate or degree programs, we look for those who are serious about pursuing – or advancing in – a professional
career, and who want to be both prepared and academically challenged in the process. We strive to maintain the highest standards of academic excellence, while maintaining a
friendly learning environment designed for educational, personal and professional success. A desire to meet those standards is a prerequisite. Because our programs are designed
for self-directed learners, successful students have a basic understanding of time management principles and practices, as well as good writing and research skills. Admission to
Aspen University is based on a thorough assessment of each applicant’s potential to complete the program successfully.
Industry Overview
According to the DOE reports, among college students that study exclusively online, the percentage of students at private for-profit institutions was higher (60%), than that of
students at public institutions (46%) and private nonprofit institutions (34%). In particular, the percentage of students who took distance education courses exclusively was
highest at private for-profit four-year institutions (73%) which, despite enrolling only 4% of undergraduates, accounted for 6% of undergraduates who were enrolled exclusively
in distance education courses.
In terms of the nursing sector, job opportunities for registered nurses are expected to grow about as fast as the average growth for all occupations, or approximately 9%, between
2020 and 2030, according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics’ Occupational Outlook Handbook, 2020-30 Edition. However, despite the anticipated growth in job
opportunities, over 80,400 qualified applications were not accepted by entry-level baccalaureate and graduate nursing programs according to the 2019-2020 Enrollment and
Graduations in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in Nursing report from the American Association of Colleges of Nursing
(https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/News/Factsheets/Faculty-Shortage-Factsheet.pdf). These statistics suggest there continues to be unmet demand from qualified students
for nursing educational programs. In fiscal year 2022, nursing shortages continued in part due to ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. A growing number of nurses are
leaving the profession as they reach retirement age or due to pandemic-induced job fatigue. This supply-side trend, coupled with the rising demand for healthcare to support the
aging U.S. population, is expected to perpetuate a nursing shortage through 2030. Given the growing demand for healthcare services across a multitude of specialties, reports
project that 1.2 million new registered nurses (RNs) will be needed by 2030 to address the current shortage.
Competition
According to the most recent 2019 Digest of Education Statistics (nces.ed.gov), there are more than 4,300 U.S. colleges and universities serving traditional college-age students
and adult students. Any reference to universities herein also includes colleges. Competition is highly fragmented and varies by geography, program offerings, delivery method,
ownership, quality level, and selectivity of admissions. No one institution has a significant share of the total postsecondary market. While we compete in a sense with traditional
“brick and mortar” universities, our primary competitors are universities that primarily enroll online students. Our primarily online university competitors include American
Public Education, Inc. (Nasdaq: APEI), Adtalem Global Education (NYSE: ATGE), Apollo Education Group, Inc., Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (Nasdaq: LOPE), Strategic
Education, Inc. (Nasdaq: STRA), and Western Governors University.
We believe that these competitors have degreed enrollments ranging from approximately 38,000 to over 100,000 students. As of April 30, 2022, AGI had 13,334 active degreeseeking students enrolled. Because of COVID-19 which has caused most
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educational institutions to transition to some extent to more online capabilities, we may face more online competition in the future. Further, COVID-19 caused nurses to seek
graduate level courses to retrench as they were overwhelmed treating hospitalized patients. COVID-19 also significantly reduced the number of students enrolled in
postsecondary education institutions in recent years, which limits the pool of prospective students for which we compete for enrollments with our competitors in the industry.
The primary mission of most traditional accredited four-year universities is to serve full-time students and conduct research. Most online universities serve working adults.
Aspen Group acknowledges the differences in the educational needs between working and full-time students at “brick and mortar” schools and provides programs and services
that allow our students to earn their degrees without major disruption to their personal and professional lives.
We also compete with public and private degree-granting regionally and nationally accredited universities. An increasing number of universities enroll working students in
addition to the traditional 18 to 24-year-old students, and we expect that these universities will continue to modify their existing programs to serve working learners more
effectively, including by offering more distance learning programs. We believe that the primary factors on which we compete are the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Active and relevant curriculum that considers the needs of employers;
The ability to provide flexible and convenient access to programs and classes;
Cost of the program;
Monthly payment plan options;
High-quality courses and services;
Comprehensive student support services;
Breadth of programs offered;
The time necessary to earn a degree;
Qualified and experienced faculty;
Reputation of the institution and its programs;
The variety of geographic locations of campuses;
Name recognition; and
Convenience.

Academics
Aspen University
School of Nursing and Health Sciences
School of Education
School of Business and Technology
School of Arts and Sciences
United States University
College of Nursing and Health Sciences
College of Business and Technology
College of Education
Sales and Marketing
Following Mr. Michael Mathews becoming our Chief Executive Officer in 2011, he and his team made significant changes to Aspen’s sales and marketing program,
specifically spending a significant amount of time, money and resources on our proprietary Internet marketing program. What is unique about our Internet marketing program is
that we have not used and have no plans in the near future to acquire non-branded, non-exclusive leads from third-party online lead generation companies to attract prospective
students. To our knowledge, most if not all for-profit online universities utilize multiple third-party online lead generation companies to obtain a meaningful percentage of their
prospective student leads that are branded and exclusive in nature, and those leads are both non-branded and non-exclusive in addition to exclusive branded leads. Our executive
officers have many years of expertise in the online lead generation and Internet advertising industry, which has and for the foreseeable future is expected to continue to allow us
to cost-effectively drive all prospective student leads that are branded and exclusive in nature.
We have invested in our technology infrastructure and believe our education technology platform enables us to achieve lower costs per enrollment as compared to our
competition.

5

Table of Contents

Human Capital
We recognize that our performance depends on the education, experiences, and efforts of our employees, and our ability to foster a culture that brings out the best in each. As of
April 30, 2022, we had 312 full-time employees, including full-time faculty, and 821 adjunct professors, who are part-time employees. None of our employees are parties to
any collective bargaining arrangement. We believe our relationships with our employees are good. Our employees have diverse backgrounds, as evidenced by the fact that
approximately 74% of our faculty and staff are female and approximately 48% of our employees self-identify as ethnically diverse.
Diversity and equity are at the heart of our culture, influenced in part by the communities we serve including but not limited to healthcare, the military, and veterans. In support
of their respective missions, each of our universities have published diversity and equity statements that guide and support their actions to attract, retain and develop highly
qualified administration, faculty, and staff:
Aspen University is committed to diversity, equity, and inclusion in its faculty, administration, and staff hiring practices, employee policies, and student admissions
practices and policies. It is committed to non-discrimination in the delivery of its educational services and employment opportunities. The University does not
discriminate on the basis of sex, race, color, national origin, religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, veteran status, physical or mental disability, medical condition as
defined by law, or any basis prohibited by law.
As forged by its mission and vision and the University’s unique and distinctive character to serve the underserved community in California and the nation,United States
University ensures an uncompromising commitment to offering access to affordable higher education to all individuals who meet the criteria for admission regardless of
age, gender, culture, ethnicity, socio-economic class and disability. At all times, USU shall strive to ensure equitable representation of all diverse groups in its student
body. USU’s diverse administration, faculty and staff shall be equally dedicated to the success of all students. The diversity of USU’s administration and faculty shall
help enrich curricula, while a diverse staff shall serve students with sensitivity to special needs.
We have learned that an inclusive and positive workplace results in business growth and inspires increased academic and business innovation, the retention of exceptional talent,
and a more involved workforce.
Talent Development and Retention
The Company is dedicated to attracting, retaining, and developing employees who adhere to high standards of business and personal integrity and who maintain a reputation for
honesty, fairness, respect, responsibility, and trust. Our strategic initiatives require our leadership, management, faculty, and staff to perform at a consistently high level and to
adapt and learn new skills and capabilities. Our employees must have a wide and diverse range of education, experience, background, and skill to anticipate and meet our
business needs and exercise sound business judgment.
To promote retention, we offer comprehensive compensation and benefits packages that are competitive and performance-based. We have undertaken an analysis of marketcompetitive compensation and benefits practices to attract new and more culturally diverse employees and to reward current ones. We believe that continuous education aids in
employee retention and so we provide a tuition benefit to them, their spouses, or their dependents. Full-time employees receive a 100% tuition discount on most programs
offered by the universities. Spouses, legal partners, and legal dependents of full-time employees, as well as adjunct faculty, receive a 50% discount.
To promote career development among our leadership and staff, we provide job and leadership training as well as professional development opportunities. We financially
support university administration and management as they seek professional development through professional organizations relevant to their fields and conference attendance.
We financially support faculty professional development to stay current in their field of study through NurseTim© trainings (nursing faculty only) and conference attendance.
The Faculty Speaker Series, Tuesday Teaching Tips, and Research Colloquium, all supported through the Center for Graduate Studies, also contribute to the professional
development of faculty.
We believe that our well-educated and well-qualified faculty are the basis for the success of our students and our programs. Because our business is primarily nursing
education, we expect our faculty to integrate their personal and professional nursing experiences into the education of our students. All nursing faculty maintain current,
unencumbered state or multi-state compact RN licenses. All faculty are expected to have a degree one level above the degree level they are teaching and to maintain currency in
their field. We train and develop our faculty through a formal onboarding process that includes orienting them to academic policies and procedures, pedagogical performance
expectations, and responsibilities related to their faculty role. They
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also receive training in tools for increasing student engagement and specific technologies they are required to use for various purposes. After their training, the universities
regularly review the performance of their faculty by, among other things, monitoring the contact that faculty have with students, reviewing student feedback, and evaluating the
learning outcomes achieved by students. As a result of our training and professional development practices for faculty, we have very little turnover and faculty retention is high.
Over time, we have hired, retained, and developed a diverse leadership, management, and workforce that is a key component of our success and culture. We believethat our
success is directly correlated to our ability to provide employees an interesting and engaging work experience. We value our rich, diverse employees and provide career and
professional development opportunities that foster the success of our company.
Impact of COVID-19
The health and well-being of our employees is of utmost importance to the Company. Starting in March 2020, all employees transitioned to a remote workforce. Since that time,
Company employees have demonstrated resilience, wisdom, commitment, and compassion in working with colleagues and students. Beginning on June 1, 2021, in an
abundance of caution, employees in the U.S. were allowed to return to their offices after providing proof of full vaccination. As of July 6, 2021, all U.S. employees began
returning to their offices in a hybrid work environment, meaning that employees now work 40% from home and 60% from the office. Each team within the Company has been
given the flexibility to work with their management to determine which days and/or weeks will be worked from home vs. office. Employees are required to follow all Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention and local guidelines and federal regulations. Finally, the Company has also introduced a fully-remote model for certain high-performance
employees, what the Company calls the ‘Meritocracy Benefit’.
Corporate History
The Company was incorporated on February 23, 2010 in Florida. In February 2012, Aspen Group reincorporated in Delaware under the name Aspen Group, Inc.
Aspen University Inc. was incorporated on September 30, 2004 in Delaware. Its predecessor was a Delaware limited liability company organized in Delaware. On March 13,
2012, Aspen Group, which was then inactive, acquired Aspen University Inc. in a transaction we refer to as the reverse merger. On December 1, 2017, Aspen Group acquired
USU.
Available Information
Our corporate website is www.aspu.com. On our website under "SEC Filings", we make available access to our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A and amendments to those materials filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), free of charge.
Regulation
Regulatory Environment
Students attending our schools finance their education through a combination of individual resources, corporate reimbursement programs and federal student financial
assistance funds available through our participation in the Title IV Programs. The discussion which follows outlines the extensive regulations that affect our business.
Complying with these regulations entails significant effort from our executives and other employees. Further, regulatory compliance is also expensive. Beyond the internal
costs, compliance with the extensive regulatory requirements also involves engagement of outside regulatory professionals.
To participate in Title IV Programs, a school must, among other things, be:
•
•
•

Authorized to offer its programs of instruction by the applicable state education agencies in the states in which it is physically located (in our case, Colorado, Arizona,
Texas, Florida, Georgia, Tennessee and California) or otherwise have a physical presence as defined by the state and meet the state education agency requirements to
legally offer postsecondary distance education in any state in which the school is not physically located;
Accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Secretary of DOE; and
Certified as an eligible institution by DOE.
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Collectively, state education agencies, accrediting agencies, and the DOE comprise the higher education regulatory triad. We cannot predict the actions that any entity in the
higher education regulatory triad, Congress, or Administration may take or their effect on our schools.
State Authorization
As institutions of higher education that grant degrees and certificates, we are required to be authorized by applicable state education authorities which exercise regulatory
oversight of our schools. In addition, in order to participate in the Title IV Programs, we must be authorized by the applicable state education agencies.
Because we are subject to extensive regulations by the states in which we become authorized or licensed to operate, we must abide by state laws that typically establish
standards for instruction, qualifications of faculty, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, financial operations and other operational matters. State laws and
regulations may limit our ability to offer educational programs and to award degrees. Some states may also prescribe financial regulations that are different from those of DOE.
If we fail to comply with state licensing requirements, we may lose our state licensure or authorizations, which in turn would result in a loss of accreditation and access to Title
IV funds.
The California Legislature is currently considering the reauthorization of the California Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education (“California Bureau”) as part of its sunset
review cycle. There is currently a bill in process (SB1433) that would amend the existing Private Postsecondary Education Act, which governs private institutions operating in
the state. On June 22, 2022, SB1433 was amended to include a number of updated definitions, substantive changes around minimum operating standards, and amended
accreditation requirements for degree granting institutions, among other amendments. The Bill is set for a hearing in the Assembly Business and Professions committee on June
28th. We expect there will be additional amendments following the hearing, and we do not know what the final version of the bill will include or whether it will be approved by
the Governor. In prior years, there have been multiple onerous bills proposed in California that have not become law, and we cannot predict whether similar proposals may be
integrated into the current proposal as it moves through the legislative process. Other states in which AGI operates may also make material changes to their authority and
structure at any time, so AGI must constantly assess its state oversight agencies to ensure compliance.
Licensure of Online Programs
On July 31, 2018, the DOE announced its intention to convene a negotiated rulemaking committee (the “Committee”) to consider proposed regulations for Title IV Programs,
including revisions to the 2016 state authorization of distance education regulations. The Committee convened for several meetings from January to April 2019. On June 12,
2019, the DOE published a notice of proposed rulemaking, which included proposed regulations that would supplant the 2016 regulations. The DOE released final regulations
on accreditation and state authorization of distance education on November 1, 2019, which took effect July 1, 2020 (the “Final Regulations”). Like the 2016 regulations, the
Final Regulations require Title IV Program institutions, like ours, that offer postsecondary education through distance education to students in a state in which the institution is
not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to state jurisdiction as determined by that state, to meet any state requirements to offer postsecondary education to
students who are located in that state.
Under the Final Regulations, institutions may meet the authorization requirements by obtaining such authorization directly from any state that requires it or through a state
authorization reciprocity agreement, such as the State Authorization Reciprocity Agreement (“SARA”). SARA is intended to make it easier for students to take online courses
offered by postsecondary institutions based in another state. SARA is overseen by a National Council (“NC-SARA”) and administered by four regional education compacts.
In May 2022, resulting from its formal move from Colorado to Arizona, Aspen University was removed as an approved institutional participant in NC-SARA through COSARA. An agreement with CO-SARA permits most currently enrolled students to be covered through early September 2022. Aspen University will be on the agenda for AZSARA in early September 2022 to obtain approval to become an institutional participant again in NC-SARA from its new primary location in Arizona. In the meantime, Aspen
University is seeking individual state authorizations for its students. Aspen University is currently authorized in 30 states and is in the development process with 20 states and
the District of Columbia. Aspen maintains its state authorizations through annual reporting and required renewals. The only state that does not participate in NC-SARA is
California and it has imposed regulatory requirements on out-of-state educational institutions operating within its boundaries, such as those having a physical facility or
conducting certain academic activities within the state. Aspen University is registered as an out-of-state institution with California until February 19, 2023, and plans to renew at
that time. Aspen University currently enrolls students in all 50 states. While we do not believe that any of the states in which our schools are currently licensed or authorized,
other than Arizona, Texas, Florida, Georgia, Tennessee and California, is individually material to our
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operations, the loss of licensure or authorization in any state could prohibit us from recruiting prospective students or offering services to current students in that state, which
could significantly reduce our enrollments.
On July 14, 2020, the Delaware DOE informed Aspen that an application for renewal was not necessary due to its active institutional membership with NC-SARA. With
Aspen’s removal as an active institutional member of NC-SARA in May 2022, Aspen currently seeks renewal in the State of Delaware.
Because USU is based in California, which does not participate in NC-SARA, USU must obtain authorization in every state in which it intends to market and enroll online
students, which was the standard method prior to the formation of NC-SARA. USU is currently authorized to offer one or more programs in 42 states and is in the application
development process with 8 additional states and the District of Columbia. USU maintains its state authorizations through annual reporting and required renewals.
Individual state laws establish standards in areas such as instruction, qualifications of faculty, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, financial operations, and other
operational matters, some of which are different than the standards prescribed by the Arizona Board, the Texas Board, the Florida Commission, the Tennessee Commission, the
Georgia Commission, and the California Bureau. Laws in some states limit the ability of schools to offer educational programs and award degrees to residents of those states.
Some states also prescribe financial regulations that are different from those of DOE, and many require the posting of surety bonds. Laws, regulations, or interpretations related
to online education could increase our cost of doing business and affect our ability to recruit students in particular states, which could, in turn, negatively affect enrollments and
revenues and have a material adverse effect on our business.
Licensure of Physical Locations
The Higher Education Opportunity Act ("HEOA") and certain state laws require our institutions to be legally authorized to provide educational programs in states in which our
schools have a physical location or otherwise have a physical presence as defined by the state. Aspen University is authorized to provide educational programs in Arizona by the
Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education (“Arizona Board”), in Texas by the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board (“Texas Board”), in Tennessee by the
Tennessee Higher Education Commission (“Tennessee Commission”), in Georgia by the Georgia Nonpublic Postsecondary Education Commission (“Georgia Commission”),
and in Florida by the Florida Commission on Independent Education (“Florida Commission”). USU is authorized to provide educational programs in California by the
California Bureau. Failure to comply with state requirements could result in Aspen University losing its authorization from the Arizona Board, Texas Board, Tennessee
Commission, Georgia Commission, or Florida Commission; and USU losing its authorization from the California Bureau. In such event, the schools would lose their eligibility
to participate in Title IV Programs, or their ability to offer certain educational programs, any of which may force us to cease the school’s operations.
Additionally, Aspen University and USU are Delaware corporations. Delaware law requires an institution to obtain approval from the Delaware Department of Education, or
Delaware DOE, before it may incorporate with the power to confer degrees. In July 2012, Aspen University received notice from the Delaware DOE that it was granted
provisional approval status effective until June 30, 2015. On April 25, 2016, the Delaware DOE informed Aspen University it was granted full approval to operate with degreegranting authority in the State of Delaware. On July 14, 2020, the Delaware DOE informed Aspen that an application for renewal was not necessary due to its active institutional
membership with NC-SARA. With Aspen’s removal as an active institutional member of NC-SARA in May 2022, Aspen currently seeks renewal in the State of Delaware. On
June 6, 2018, the Delaware DOE granted an initial operating license to USU until June 30, 2023.
In March 2022, Aspen entered into a Consent Agreement with the AZ BON resulting primarily from concerns raised by the AZ BON stemming from NCLEX-RN pass rates
below the state’s required threshold. The result of the Consent Agreement is that Aspen University remains approved with the AZ BON based on a stayed revocation and
probationary period with certain conditions, including but not limited to, the cessation of enrollments in the core component of the pre-licensure nursing program and reporting
to staff/board on a monthly basis. The cessation of enrollments into the core component of the pre-licensure nursing program will remain in effect until Aspen University
complies with the conditions of its Consent Agreement with the AZ BON, which is more fully discussed under “State Professional Licensure” below. In April 2022, Aspen
University entered into a Stipulated Agreement with the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education as an amendment to its 2022 Regular Vocational and Degree
Granting Agreement for licensure. The Stipulated Agreement required the cessation of enrollments in both the pre-professional nursing and core components of the prelicensure program in Arizona, the posting of a surety bond in the amount of $18,287,110 which has already been posted, the submission of student records on a monthly basis,
and the removal of the Arizona pre-licensure nursing program start date information from its website and marketing materials. Aspen University is not currently enrolling
students in the BSN Pre-licensure program in Arizona. The Stipulated Agreement can be amended in the future.
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Accreditation
Aspen University is institutionally accredited by the DEAC, an accrediting agency recognized by CHEA and the DOE, and USU is institutionally accredited by WSCUC, an
accrediting agency also recognized by CHEA and the DOE. Accreditation is a non-governmental system for evaluating educational institutions and their programs in areas
including student performance, governance, integrity, educational quality, faculty, physical resources, administrative capability and resources, and financial stability. In the
U.S., this recognition comes primarily through private voluntary associations that accredit institutions and programs. To be recognized by the DOE, accrediting agencies must
adopt specific standards for their review of educational institutions. Accrediting agencies establish criteria for accreditation, conduct peer-review evaluations of institutions and
programs for accreditation, and publicly designate those institutions or programs that meet their criteria. Accredited institutions are subject to periodic review by accrediting
agencies to determine whether such institutions maintain the performance, integrity and quality required for accreditation.
Accreditation is important to our schools for several reasons. Accreditation provides external recognition and status. Employers rely on the accredited status of institutions when
evaluating an employment candidate’s credentials. Corporate and government sponsors under tuition reimbursement programs look to accreditation for assurance that an
institution maintains quality educational standards. Other institutions depend, in part, on our accreditation in evaluating transfers of credit and applications to graduate schools.
Moreover, institutional accreditation awarded from an accrediting agency recognized by DOE is necessary for eligibility to participate in the Title IV Programs. As part of the
Final Regulations published on November 1, 2019, and which took effect July 1, 2020, the DOE amended regulations relating to the recognition of accrediting agencies. The
Final Regulations amended the DOE’s process for recognition and review of accrediting agencies, including the criteria used by the DOE to recognize accrediting agencies, and
the DOE’s requirements for accrediting agencies’ policies and standards that are applied to institutions and programs. Accrediting agencies are under heightened scrutiny due to
perceived shortcomings of certain agencies and their oversight of closed institutions. In response, accreditors are increasing their scrutiny of institutions. From time to time,
accrediting agencies adopt or make changes to their policies, procedures and standards. If our schools fail to comply with any of these requirements, the non-complying school’s
accreditation status could be at risk.
In addition to institutional accreditation, there are numerous specialized accreditors that accredit specific programs or schools within their jurisdiction, many of which are in
healthcare and professional fields. USU’s and Aspen University’s baccalaureate and master’s degree programs in nursing are accredited by the Commission on Collegiate
Nursing Education (CCNE) and Aspen University’s doctoral nursing degree is currently CCNE-accredited. CCNE is officially recognized by CHEA and the DOE and provides
accreditation for nursing programs. Accreditation by CCNE signifies that those programs have met the additional standards of that agency. We are also pleased that Aspen
University’s School of Business and Technology has been awarded the status of Candidate for Accreditation by the International Accreditation Council for Business Education
(IACBE) for its baccalaureate and master’s business programs. Finally, USU’s Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Studies has two Teacher Credentialing tracks: (1) Multiple Subject
Credential Preparation track for students in California interested in teaching at the TK-6 level, and (2) General track for students interested in exploring a variety of topics,
transfer students, or students outside of California. Both tracks are approved by the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC).
If we fail to satisfy the standards of specialized accreditors, we could lose the specialized accreditation for the affected programs, which could result in materially reduced
student enrollments in those programs and prevent our students from seeking and obtaining appropriate licensure in their fields.
State Professional Licensure
States have specific requirements that an individual must satisfy in order to be licensed or certified as a professional in specific fields. For example, graduates from some USU
and Aspen University nursing programs often seek professional licensure in their field because they are legally required to do so in order to work in that field or because
obtaining licensure enhances employment opportunities. Success in obtaining licensure depends on several factors, including each individual’s personal and professional
qualifications as well as other factors related to the degree or program completed, including but not necessarily limited to:
•
•
•

whether the institution and the program were approved by the state in which the graduate seeks licensure, or by a professional association;
whether the program from which the applicant graduated meets all state requirements; and
whether the institution and/or the program is accredited by a CHEA and DOE-recognized agency.
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Professional licensure and certification requirements can vary by state and may change over time.
In addition, the Final Regulations that took effect July 1, 2020 require institutions to make readily available disclosures to enrolled and prospective students regarding whether
programs leading to professional licensure or certification meet state educational requirements for that professional license or certification. These disclosures apply to both onground and online programs that lead to professional licensure or certification or are advertised as leading to professional licensure or certification. Under the Final Regulations,
institutions must determine the state in which current and prospective students are located, and then must: (1) determine whether such program’s curriculum meets the
educational requirements for licensure or certification in that state; (2) determine whether such program’s curriculum does not meet the educational requirements for licensure or
certification in that state; or (3) choose not to make a determination as to whether such program’s curriculum meets the educational requirements for licensure or certification in
that state. Institutions must also provide direct disclosures in writing to prospective students and current students under certain circumstances. Institutions must provide direct
disclosures in writing to prospective students if the institution has determined the program in which the student intends to enroll does not meet the educational requirements for
licensure or certification in the state in which the student is located or if the institution has not made any determination. Institutions must provide direct disclosures in writing to
current students, but only if the institution has determined the program in which the student is enrolled does not meet the educational requirements for licensure in the state in
which the student is located.
As noted above, in March 2022, Aspen University entered into the Consent Agreement with the AZ BON. Aspen University held provisional approval to offer the core
component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona through AZ BON; in June 2022, the AZ BON granted approval of Aspen University’s request for provisional
approval as long as the program is in compliance with the consent agreement through March 31, 2025. However, Aspen University is not currently enrolling students in the BSN
Pre-licensure program in Arizona. While Aspen University disputed many of the allegations made, the institution determined that settlement was the best option to reduce
disruption for students and address the concerns raised. As a condition of the Consent Agreement, Aspen University’s Provisional Approval was revoked, with the revocation
stayed pending Aspen University’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the Consent Agreement. The stay is broken into two phases, the first lasting through the end of
Calendar Year 2022. During Phase I, Aspen University is not permitted to enroll any new students into the core component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona, and
must achieve the AZ BON-required 80% NCLEX pass rate for the Calendar Year 2022 annual reporting cycle. If this benchmark is not achieved, the AZ BON may lift the stay
and initiate the revocation. If Phase I is completed successfully, Phase II will commence with Aspen University on Probation (regular or “stayed revocation” probation,
depending on the outcome of Phase I). Aspen University is permitted to begin enrollments into the core component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona once four
consecutive quarters of 80% NCLEX first-time pass rates occur. However, once achieved, if the NCLEX pass rate falls below 80% for any quarter, the AZ BON may limit
enrollments, and repeated failures may result in a required cessation of enrollments and teach-out of the program. The terms of the Consent Agreement also include
requirements that we provide the AZ BON with monthly reports, provide that our faculty and administrators undergo additional training, retain an approved consultant to
prepare and submit evaluations to the AZ BON, and hire a minimum of 35% full-time qualified faculty by September 30, 2022. The Consent Agreement is filed as Exhibit
10.22 to this Report. For the quarters ended March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, Aspen University’s NCLEX scores were 73.33% and 69.64%, respectively.
Nature of Federal, State and Private Financial Support for Postsecondary Education
The federal government provides a substantial part of its support for postsecondary education through the Title IV Programs, in the form of grants and loans to students.
Students can use those funds at any institution that has been certified by DOE to participate in the Title IV Programs. Aid under Title IV Programs is primarily awarded on the
basis of financial need, generally defined as the difference between the cost of attending the institution and the amount a student can reasonably contribute to that cost. All
recipients of Title IV Program funds must maintain satisfactory academic progress and must progress in a timely manner toward completion of their program of study. In
addition, each school must ensure that Title IV Program funds are properly accounted for and disbursed in the correct amounts to eligible students.
Our institutional missions manifest themselves through offering students the opportunity to fund their education without relying solely on student loans. In 2014, Aspen
University launched a $250 monthly payment plan for associate and bachelor degree students and a $325 monthly payment plan for master’s degree students, and subsequently
a $375 monthly payment plan for doctoral and MSN-FNP students. The monthly payment plan is available to all Aspen University and United States University students except
those in the Aspen University BSN Pre-Licensure program.
Currently, 6,811 or 67% of Aspen University students utilize monthly payment options, including the monthly payment plan or the installment plan. In 2017, USU implemented
these monthly payment options and currently has 2,148 or 69% of its students utilizing them.
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When Aspen University students seek funding from the federal government, they could receive loans and grants to fund their education under the following Title IV Programs:
(1) the Federal Direct Loan program, or Direct Loan, and (2) the Federal Pell Grant program, or Pell. USU students are eligible for the same, plus Federal Work Study and
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants, which are both financial needs based. Graduate students are only eligible to participate in the Direct Loan and Federal
Work Study programs and not all undergraduate students receive a Pell Grant or the Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant. The majority of students who seek
funding from the federal government receive at least one Direct Loan that must be repaid with interest starting after the student leaves school.
Additionally, some students may receive full or partial tuition reimbursement from their employers. Eligible credit-worthy students can also access private loans through a
number of different lenders for funding at current market interest rates.
Under the Direct Loan program, the DOE makes loans directly to students. The Direct Loan Program includes the Direct Subsidized Loan, the Direct Unsubsidized Loan, and
the Direct PLUS Loan for credit-worthy parents of dependent undergraduate students and credit-worthy graduate and professional students.
For Pell Grants, the DOE makes grants to undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. To date, few of our students have received Pell Grants. Accordingly, the Pell
Grant program currently is not material to the Company’s cash revenues.
Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs
The substantial amount of federal funds disbursed through Title IV Programs, the large number of students and institutions participating in these programs, and allegations of
fraud and abuse by certain for-profit institutions have prompted the DOE to exercise considerable regulatory oversight over for-profit institutions of higher learning.
Accrediting agencies and state education agencies also have responsibilities for overseeing compliance of institutions in connection with Title IV Program requirements. As a
result, our institutions are subject to extensive oversight and review. Because the DOE periodically revises its regulations and changes its interpretations of existing laws and
regulations, we cannot predict how the Title IV Program requirements will be applied in all circumstances. See the “Risk Factors” contained herein which disclose
comprehensive regulatory risks.
In addition to the state authorization requirements and other regulatory requirements described herein, other significant factors relating to Title IV Programs that could
adversely affect us include the following legislative action and regulatory changes:
Congressional Action. Congress reauthorizes the Higher Education Act approximately every five to six years. Congress most recently reauthorized the Higher Education Act in
August 2008 through the end of 2013 and the law has been extended since that date. Congress has held hearings regarding the reauthorization of the HEA and has continued to
consider new legislation regarding the passage of the HEA. Congress enacted a small package of HEA changes as part of the larger Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021
legislation signed into law in December 2020, which will become effective between 2021 and 2023. The significant rules in this legislation were focused on the simplification of
the federal aid application and determination of student eligibility. We cannot predict the impact of these new laws on our students since the DOE has not provided
implementation guidance, nor can we predict whether or when Congress might act to amend further the HEA. The elimination of additional Title IV Programs, material changes
in the requirements for participation in such programs, or the substitution of materially different programs could increase our costs of compliance and could reduce the ability of
certain students to finance their education at our institutions.
Federal Rulemaking. On May 24, 2021, the DOE published a Federal Register notice indicating its intent to convene multiple committees to develop proposed regulations in
three broad areas under Title IV of the Higher Education Act: affordability of postsecondary education, institutional accountability, and Federal student loans.
The DOE held virtual public hearings for interested parties to comment on the rulemaking agenda, including the list of topics being considered and other suggested topics, in
June 2021.
In the Fall of 2021, the DOE conducted the first of two rounds of negotiated rulemaking. The first round of negotiations ran for three weeks over October, November and
December and covered the following topics:
•
•
•
•

Total and Permanent Disability
Closed School Discharge
Interest Capitalization
Improving the Public Service Loan Forgiveness (PSLF) Application Process
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•
•
•
•
•
•

Public Service Loan Forgiveness (PSLF) Eligibility
Borrower Defense to Repayment (Adjudication Process)
Borrower Defense to Repayment (Post-Adjudication)
Borrower Defense to Repayment (Recovery From Institutions)
Predispute Arbitration and Class Action Waivers
Creating A New Income-driven Repayment Plan

In the Spring of 2022, ED conducted a second round of rulemaking over three weeks in January, February, and March, covering the following topics:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Administrative Capability
The 90/10 Rule
Certification Procedures
Change in Ownership/Control
Financial Responsibility
Gainful Employment
Ability-to-Benefit

As is typically the case with federal rulemaking, limited consensus was reached, providing the DOE with discretion to draft regulations for comment as it sees fit on most of the
topics noted. We are aware of approximately 10 of the discrete regulatory topics discussed during the rulemaking that have been drafted into proposed rules and submitted to the
White House Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs (“OIRA”)/Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”) for review. The content of those proposed rules is not public
and will not be made public until the White House offices have signed off, at which point, the DOE can publish the proposals for comment. Rules that impact the Title IV
programs are subject to the HEA Master Calendar, which requires final rules be published before November 1 of the year prior, in order to become effective on July 1 of the
following year. In order to meet this deadline, the DOE must complete the OIRA and OMB processes as noted above, publish the proposed rule for comment (typically with a
30-60 day public response period), review and respond to the comments, draft a final rule, have that reviewed by counsel and the OIRA/OMB, and then publish in the Federal
Register by November 1.
Currently, the following proposed rules are being reviewed by OIRA/OMB:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Income Driven Repayment
Implementing Statutory Changes to Pell Grants for Incarcerated Students
The 90/10 Rule
Clarifying Rules on Changes in Ownership
Borrower Defense
Total and Permanent Disability Discharge
Closed School Discharge
False Certification Discharges
Public Service Loan Forgiveness
Interest Capitalization

The DOE is still indicating that it believes it will get this collection of regulatory packages through the process prior to November 1.
On June 21, 2022, the Agency Rule List for the DOE stated that five of the 2021-2022 Federal Negotiated Rulemaking issues will not be completed this year. The list includes:
•
•
•
•
•

Gainful Employment
Factors of Financial Responsibility
Standards of Administrative Capability
Certification Procedures
Ability-to-Benefit

This delay means that these rules cannot become effective until July 1, 2024, at the earliest.
Administrative Capability. The DOE regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has the requisite “administrative capability” to
participate in Title IV Programs. Failure to satisfy any of the standards may lead DOE to
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find the institution ineligible to participate in Title IV Programs or to place the institution on provisional certification as a condition of its participation. To meet the
administrative capability standards, an institution must, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Comply with all applicable Title IV Program regulations;
Have capable and sufficient personnel to administer the federal student financial aid programs;
Have acceptable methods of defining and measuring the satisfactory academic progress of its students;
Have cohort default rates above specified levels;
Have various procedures in place for safeguarding federal funds;
Not be, and not have any principal or affiliate who is, debarred or suspended from federal contracting or engaging in activity that is cause for debarment or suspension;
Provide financial aid counseling to its students;
Refer to the DOE’s Office of Inspector General any credible information indicating that any applicant, student, employee, or agent of the institution, has been engaged in
any fraud or other illegal conduct involving Title IV Programs;
Report annually to the Secretary of Education on any reasonable reimbursements paid or provided by a private education lender or group of lenders to any employee who
is employed in the institution’s financial aid office or who otherwise has responsibilities with respect to education loans;
Develop and apply an adequate system to identify and resolve conflicting information with respect to a student’s application for Title IV aid;
Submit in a timely manner all reports and financial statements required by the regulations; and
Not otherwise appear to lack administrative capability.

The DOE regulations also add an administrative capability standard related to the existing requirement that students must have a high school diploma or its recognized
equivalent in order to be eligible for Title IV Program aid. Under the administrative capability standard, institutions must develop and follow procedures for evaluating the
validity of a student’s high school diploma if the institution or the Secretary of Education has reason to believe that the student’s diploma is not valid.
If an institution fails to satisfy any of these criteria or any other DOE regulation, DOE may:
•
•
•
•

Require the repayment of Title IV Program funds;
Transfer the institution from the “advance” system of payment of Title IV Program funds to heightened cash monitoring status (HCM1) or to the “reimbursement”
system of payment;
Place the institution on provisional certification status; or
Commence a proceeding to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate the participation of the institution in Title IV Programs.

Distance Education. We primarily offer our existing degree and certificate programs via Internet-based telecommunications from our headquarters in Arizona and California.
Under the HEOA, an accreditor that evaluates institutions offering distance education must require such institutions to have processes through which the institution establishes
that a student who registers for a distance education program is the same student who participates in and receives credit for the program.
The Final Regulations regarding state authorization, effective as of July 1, 2020, require Title IV Program institutions, like ours, that offer postsecondary education through
distance education to students in a state in which the institution is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to state jurisdiction as determined by that state, to
meet any state requirements to offer postsecondary education to students who are located in that state. Institutions may meet the authorization requirements by obtaining such
authorization directly from any state that requires it or through a state authorization reciprocity agreement, such as SARA, where applicable. See “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of
this Report.
The Final Regulations regarding distance education, effective as of July 1, 2021, included new definitions for student and faculty interaction, the definition of faculty, and other
aspects of the administration of a distance education program. These are key requirements for distance education program students to retain access to Title IV funds. The
universities assessed the amended regulations and determined that material changes to their delivery methodology and processes were not necessary.
Financial Responsibility. The Higher Education Act and the DOE regulations establish extensive standards of financial responsibility that institutions such as Aspen and USU
must satisfy to participate in the Title IV Programs. These standards generally require that an institution provide the resources necessary to comply with Title IV Program
requirements and meet all of its financial obligations, including required refunds and any repayments to the DOE for liabilities incurred in programs administered by the DOE.
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The DOE evaluates institutions on an annual basis for compliance with specified financial responsibility standards that include a complex formula that uses line items from the
institution’s audited financial statements. In addition, the financial responsibility standards require an institution to receive an unqualified opinion from its accountants on its
audited financial statements, maintain sufficient cash reserves to satisfy refund requirements, meet all of its financial obligations, and remain current on its debt payments. The
formula focuses on three financial ratios: (1) equity ratio (which measures the institution’s capital resources, financial viability, and ability to borrow); (2) primary reserve ratio
(which measures the institution’s viability and liquidity); and (3) net income ratio (which measures the institution’s profitability or ability to operate within its means). An
institution’s financial ratios must yield a composite score of at least 1.5 on a scale of -1.0 to 3.0 for the institution to be deemed financially responsible without the need for
further federal oversight. The DOE may also apply such measures of financial responsibility to the operating company and ownership entities of an eligible institution.
Although we believe our schools met the minimum composite score necessary to meet the financial ratio standard for fiscal year 2022, the DOE may determine that our
calculations are incorrect, and/or it may determine that either or both of our schools continue to not meet other financial responsibility standards. If the DOE were to determine
that we do not meet its financial responsibility standards, we may be able to continue to establish financial responsibility on an alternative basis. Alternative bases include, for
example:
•
•

Posting a letter of credit in an amount equal to at least 50% of the total Title IV Program funds received by us during our most recently completed fiscal year;
Posting a letter of credit in an amount equal to at least 10% of such prior year’s Title IV Program funds received by us, accepting provisional certification, complying
with additional the DOE monitoring requirements and agreeing to receive Title IV Program funds under an arrangement other than the DOE’s standard advance payment
arrangement such as the “reimbursement” system of payment or cash monitoring.

On May 14, 2019, USU was granted temporary provisional approval to participate in the Title IV Programs and had a program participation agreement reapplication date of
December 31, 2020 which it met. As part of the temporary provisional approval, the DOE informed USU that it must post a letter of credit ("LOC") in the amount of $255,708
based on a failure to meet the audited same day balance sheet requirements that apply in a change of control. This LOC was funded by USU. The DOE informed USU that the
LOC was reduced to $9,872; this letter with the reduced amount will remain in effect for at least the duration of the temporary provisional approval. On May 6, 2022, the DOE
fully certified USU and issued a new Program Participation Agreement, effective through December 31, 2025, thereby removing the provisional status of its participation. USU
is working with the DOE to address the outstanding LOC.
Failure to meet the DOE’s “financial responsibility” requirements, either because we do not meet the DOE’s financial responsibility standards or are unable to establish
financial responsibility on an alternative basis, would cause us to lose access to Title IV Program funding.
Third-Party Servicers. DOE regulations permit an institution to enter into a written contract with a third-party servicer for the administration of any aspect of the institution’s
participation in Title IV Programs. The third-party servicer must, among other obligations, comply with Title IV Program requirements and be jointly and severally liable with
the institution to the Secretary of Education for any violation by the servicer of any Title IV Program provision. An institution must report to the DOE new contracts with or any
significant modifications to contracts with third-party servicers as well as other matters related to third-party servicers. We contract with two third-party servicers which perform
certain activities related to our participation in Title IV Programs. If our third-party servicers do not comply with applicable statutes and regulations including the Higher
Education Act, we may be liable for their actions, and we could lose our eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs.
Return of Title IV Program Funds. Under the DOE’s return of funds regulations, when a student withdraws, an institution must return unearned funds to the DOE in a timely
manner. An institution must first determine the amount of Title IV Program funds that a student “earned.” If the student withdraws during the first 60% of any period of
enrollment or payment period, the amount of Title IV Program funds that the student earned is equal to a pro rata portion of the funds for which the student would otherwise be
eligible. If the student withdraws after the 60% threshold, then the student has earned 100% of the Title IV Program funds. Additionally, effective July 1, 2021, a student is not
considered to have withdrawn if the student successfully completes one module that includes 49% or more of the number of days in the payment period, excluding scheduled
breaks of five or more consecutive days and all days between modules. The institution must return to the appropriate Title IV Programs, in a specified order, the lesser of (i) the
unearned Title IV Program funds and (ii) the institutional charges incurred by the student for the period multiplied by the percentage of unearned Title IV Program funds. An
institution must return the funds no later than 45 days after the date of the institution’s determination that a student withdrew. If such payments are not timely made, an
institution may be subject to adverse action, including being required to submit a letter of credit equal to 25% of the refunds
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the institution should have made in its most recently completed fiscal year. Under the DOE regulations, late returns of Title IV Program funds for 5% or more of students
sampled in the institution’s annual compliance audit or a DOE program review constitutes material non-compliance with the Title IV Program requirements and may result in
the posting of a letter of credit.
The “90/10 Rule.” A requirement of the Higher Education Act commonly referred to as the “90/10 Rule,” applies only to “proprietary institutions of higher education.” An
institution is subject to loss of eligibility to participate in the Title IV Programs if it derives more than 90% of its revenues (calculated on a cash basis and in accordance with a
DOE formula) from Title IV Programs for two consecutive fiscal years. An institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single fiscal year will be placed on provisional
certification for at least two fiscal years and may be subject to other conditions specified by the Secretary of the DOE. For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2021, approximately
44.72% of Aspen’s revenue and approximately 33.81% of USU’s revenue were derived from Title IV Programs.
The 90/10 Rule was recently changed as part of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARP”), but the effective date of this change is not yet established. Under a provision in
ARP, the HEA would be modified to change the formula from counting only Title IV program funds on the “90 side” to include instead all ‘‘federal funds that are disbursed or
delivered to or on behalf of a student to be used to attend such institution” or collectively “federal education assistance funds.” This is a substantial change, and the impact is not
entirely clear, in part because it is unclear whether other federal funds, such as Department of Defense Military Tuition Assistance program, Workforce Innovation and
Opportunity Act and Trade Adjustment Assistance, will be included in the new definition, despite not being discussed as an impetus for the change. The 90/10 Rule was one of
the few items during the 2021/2022 Negotiated Rulemaking that reached consensus; however, the proposed rule is currently with OIRA/OMB and is not yet public. The changes
agreed to by the negotiators did not clearly address how federal funds through programs outside of those provided to veterans and military members would be counted, but it
was clear that the intent is for GI Bill and any funds provided by the Department of Defense to be moved to the “90 side” of the equation, and it is possible that other federal
funding programs, such as the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act, will be included as well.
Student Loan Defaults. Under the Higher Education Act, an education institution may lose its eligibility to participate in some or all of the Title IV Programs if defaults on the
repayment of Direct Loan Program loans by its students exceed certain levels. For each federal fiscal year, a rate of student defaults (known as a “cohort default rate”) is
calculated for each institution with 30 or more borrowers entering repayment in a given federal fiscal year by determining the rate at which borrowers who become subject to
their repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year default by the end of the following two federal fiscal years. For such institutions, the DOE calculates a single cohort default
rate for each federal fiscal year that includes in the cohort all current or former student borrowers at the institution who entered repayment on any Direct Loan Program loans
during that year.
If an institution’s cohort default rate equals or exceeds 25% in any single year, the institution may be placed on provisional certification status. Provisional certification does not
limit an institution’s access to Title IV Program funds; however, an institution with provisional status is subject to closer review by the DOE and may be subject to summary
adverse action if it violates Title IV Program requirements. If an institution’s default rate exceeds 40% for one federal fiscal year, the institution may lose eligibility to
participate in some or all Title IV Programs. Aspen University’s current official 3-year cohort default rates are as follows: FY2018 (6%), FY2017 (6%), and FY2016 (8.8%).
USU’s current official 3-year cohort default rates are as follows: FY2018 (11.7%), FY2017 (7.7%), and FY2016 (10.6%).
Incentive Compensation Rule. As a part of an institution’s program participation agreement with the DOE and in accordance with the HEOA, an institution may not provide any
commission, bonus or other incentive payment to any person or entity engaged in any student recruitment, admissions or financial aid awarding activity based directly or
indirectly on success in securing enrollments or financial aid. Failure to comply with the incentive payment rule could result in termination of participation in Title IV Programs,
limitation on participation in Title IV Programs, or financial penalties. AGI believes its schools are compliance with the Incentive Compensation Rule (the “IC Rule”).
In recent years, other postsecondary educational institutions have been named as defendants in whistleblower lawsuits, known as “qui tam” cases, brought by current or former
employees pursuant to the Federal False Claims Act, alleging that their institution’s compensation practices did not comply with the IC Rule. A qui tam case is a civil lawsuit
brought by one or more individuals, referred to as a relator, on behalf of the federal government for an alleged submission to the government of a false claim for payment. The
relator, often a current or former employee, is entitled to a share of the government’s recovery in the case, including the possibility of treble damages. A qui tam action is
always filed under seal and remains under seal until the government decides whether to intervene in the case. If the government intervenes, it takes over primary control of the
litigation. If the government declines to intervene in the case, the relator may nonetheless elect to continue to pursue the litigation at his or her own expense on behalf of the
government. Any such litigation could be costly and could divert management’s time and attention away from the business, regardless of whether a claim has merit.
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The U.S. Government Accountability Office (the “GAO”) released a report finding that the DOE has inadequately enforced the current ban on incentive payments. In response,
the DOE has undertaken to increase its enforcement efforts by, among other approaches, strengthening procedures provided to auditors reviewing institutions for compliance
with the incentive payments ban and updating its internal compliance guidance in light of the GAO findings.
Code of Conduct Related to Student Loans. As part of an institution’s program participation agreement with the DOE, HEOA requires that institutions that participate in Title IV
Programs adopt a code of conduct pertinent to student loans. For financial aid officers or other employees who have responsibility related to education loans, the code must
forbid, with limited exceptions, gifts, consulting arrangements with lenders, and advisory board compensation other than reasonable expense reimbursement. The code also must
ban revenue-sharing arrangements, “opportunity pools” that lenders offer in exchange for certain promises, and staffing assistance from lenders. The institution must post the
code prominently on its website and ensure that its officers, employees, and agents who have financial aid responsibilities are informed annually of the code’s provisions.
Aspen has adopted a code of conduct under the HEOA which is posted on its website. In addition to the code of conduct requirements that apply to institutions, HEOA contains
provisions that apply to private lenders, prohibiting such lenders from engaging in certain activities as they interact with institutions. Failure to comply with the code of conduct
provision could result in termination of our participation in Title IV Programs, limitations on participation in Title IV Programs, or financial penalties.
Misrepresentation. The HEOA and current regulations authorize the DOE to take action against an institution that participates in Title IV Programs for any “substantial
misrepresentation” made by that institution regarding the nature of its educational program, its financial charges, or the employability of its graduates. The DOE regulations
define “substantial misrepresentation” to cover additional representatives of the institution and additional substantive areas and expands the parties to whom a substantial
misrepresentation cannot be made. The regulations also augment the actions the DOE may take if it determines that an institution has engaged in substantial misrepresentation,
which include revoking an institution’s program participation agreement or imposing limitations on an institution’s participation in Title IV Programs.
Credit Hours. The Higher Education Act and current regulations use the term “credit hour” to define an eligible program and an academic year and to determine enrollment
status and the amount of Title IV Program aid an institution may disburse for particular programs. There are different regulatory definitions for a credit hour for degree and
non-degree programs that do not transfer to a degree. Recently, both Congress and the DOE have increased their focus on institutions’ policies for awarding credit hours. The
credit value for degree program courses is generally monitored by an institution’s accreditor. The DOE regulations contain specific formulas for Title IV eligible credits for nondegree programs that do not transfer to a degree. DOE regulations define the term “credit hour” in terms of a certain amount of time in class and outside class, or an equivalent
amount of work. If the DOE determines that an institution is out of compliance with the credit hour definition, the DOE could require the institution to repay the incorrectly
awarded amounts of Title IV Program aid. In addition, if the DOE determines that an institution has significantly overstated the amount of credit hours assigned to a program,
the DOE may fine the institution, or limit, suspend, or terminate its participation in the Title IV Programs.
The DOE published a Final Rule relating to credit and clock hours, as well as distance education, on September 2, 2020, with an effective date of July 1, 2021. The Final Rule
modified the credit hour formula and calculation of credit hours for programs that do not lead to a degree or are fully transferable to a degree program. Aspen University and
USU do not provide Title IV funding to students in non-degree programs that would be subject to this rule change. The Final Rule did not change the method of determining the
credit value of courses offered at the universities.
Compliance Reviews. We are subject to announced and unannounced compliance reviews and audits by various external agencies, including the DOE, its Office of Inspector
General, state licensing agencies, and accrediting agencies. As part of the DOE’s ongoing monitoring of institutions’ administration of Title IV Programs, the HEOA and the
DOE regulations require institutions to submit annually a compliance audit conducted by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards and applicable audit standards of the DOE, which were updated effective for fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2016. These auditing standards differ from those
followed in the audit of our consolidated financial statements contained herein. In addition, to enable the DOE to make a determination of financial responsibility, institutions
must annually submit audited financial statements prepared in accordance with the DOE regulations. Furthermore, the DOE regularly conducts program reviews of education
institutions that are participating in the Title IV Programs, and the Office of Inspector General of the DOE regularly conducts audits and investigations of such institutions.
Potential Effect of Regulatory Violations. If we fail to comply with the regulatory standards governing Title IV Programs, the DOE could impose one or more sanctions,
including transferring the non-complying school to the reimbursement or cash monitoring system of payment, seeking to require repayment of certain Title IV Program funds,
requiring Aspen or USU to post a letter of credit in favor of the DOE as a condition for continued Title IV certification, taking emergency action against us, referring the matter
for criminal prosecution or initiating proceedings to impose a fine or to limit, condition, suspend or
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terminate our participation in Title IV Programs. In addition, the failure to comply with the Title IV Program requirements by one institution could increase DOE scrutiny of the
other institution and could impact the other institution’s participation in Title IV Programs.
We also may be subject, from time to time, to complaints and lawsuits relating to regulatory compliance brought not only by our regulatory agencies, but also by other
government agencies and third parties, such as state attorneys general, federal and state consumer protection agencies, present or former students or employees and other
members of the public.
Restrictions on Adding Educational Programs. State requirements and accrediting agency standards may, in certain instances, limit our ability to establish additional educational
programs. Many states require approval before institutions can add new programs under specified conditions. The Arizona Board, the Florida Commission, the Texas Board, the
Tennessee Commission, The Georgia Commission, and the California Bureau, institutional or programmatic accreditors and other state educational regulatory agencies that
license, accredit or authorize us and our programs may require institutions to notify them in advance of implementing new programs, and upon notification, may undertake a
review of the institution’s licensure, accreditation or authorization.
On August 22, 2017, the DOE recertified Aspen University to participate in Title IV Programs. On April 16, 2021, the DOE granted provisional certification for a two-year
timeframe, and set a subsequent program participation reapplication date of September 30, 2023. On May 15, 2019, USU was granted temporary provisional approval to
participate in the Title IV Programs and submitted a program participation agreement reapplication prior to the December 31, 2020 deadline. On May 6, 2022, USU was issued
a new program protection agreement and has full certification until December 31, 2025.
In the future, the DOE may impose terms and conditions in any program participation agreement that it may issue, including growth restrictions or limitations on the number of
students who may receive Title IV Program aid. The institution may also be required to provide certifications to the DOE signed by a senior administrative official attesting that
the new program meets certain accreditation and state licensure requirements.
DEAC and WSCUC require pre-approval of new courses, programs, and degrees that are characterized as a “substantive change.” An institution must obtain written notice
approving such change before it may be included in the institution’s scope of accreditation. An institution is further prohibited from advertising or posting on its website
information about the course or program before it has received approval. The process for obtaining approval generally requires submission of a report and course materials and
may require a follow-up on-site visit by an examining committee.
Gainful Employment. Under the Higher Education Act, only proprietary school educational programs that lead to gainful employment in a recognized occupation are eligible to
participate in Title IV Program funding. DOE issued final Gainful Employment (“GE”) regulations on October 31, 2014 (“2014 GE Rule”), which went into effect on July 1,
2015. The 2014 GE Rule defines the requirements that programs at proprietary institutions must meet in order to be considered a GE program that is eligible for Title IV
Program funding. On July 1, 2019, DOE issued a new final GE Rule. In this publication, the DOE rescinded the entirety of Subparts Q and R of 34 CFR 668, which included all
of the provisions of the 2014 GE Rule. The effective date of this new rule is July 1, 2020, with an option to implement early. As of July 1, 2019, neither Aspen University nor
USU is required to comply with the 2014 GE Rule.
As noted above, GE was one of the topics included in the 2022 negotiated rulemaking. The issue paper presented on GE was hotly debated and did not reach consensus. Unlike
most of the other non-consensus proposals, the GE proposal was voted down by at least six negotiators, including representatives of the community colleges. The primary
concerns were the abbreviated opportunity to review the proposal and the data supporting it, and the proposed addition of an earnings threshold unrelated to the student’s debt,
but targeting an earnings threshold based on what an average high school graduate in the state would earn without a degree or diploma. If a GE program did not yield earnings
above that threshold it would fail, regardless of its debt-to-income ratio. Additionally, the proposal removed the transitional periods, the alternative earnings reporting, and the
appeal process. As of now, the GE proposed rule has not been submitted to OIRA/OMB, and it is unclear whether it will be submitted in the near future. We do not know what
will be included in the proposed or final rule. As explained above, GE is one of the rules that the DOE has indicated will not be complete by November 1, 2022 and therefore
cannot be effective until July 2024, at the earliest.
Eligibility and Certification Procedures. Each institution must periodically apply to the DOE for continued certification to participate in Title IV Programs. Such recertification
is typically required every six years, but may be required earlier, including when an institution undergoes a change of control. An institution may come under the DOE’s review
when it expands its activities in certain ways, such as opening an additional location, adding a new program, or, in certain cases, when it modifies academic credentials that it
offers.
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The DOE may place an institution on provisional certification status if it finds that the institution does not fully satisfy all of the eligibility and certification standards and in
certain other circumstances, such as when it undergoes a change in ownership and control. The DOE may more closely review an institution that is provisionally certified if it
applies for approval to open a new location, add an educational program, acquire another school or make any other significant change.
In addition, during the period of provisional certification, the institution must comply with any additional conditions included in its program participation agreement. If the DOE
determines that a provisionally certified institution is unable to meet its responsibilities under its program participation agreement, it may seek to revoke the institution’s
certification to participate in Title IV Programs with fewer due process protections for the institution than if it were fully certified. Students attending provisionally certified
institutions remain eligible to receive Title IV Program funds.
Borrower Defense to Repayment (“BDTR”). Pursuant to the Higher Education Act and following negotiated rulemaking, on November 1, 2016, the DOE released a final
regulation (“2016 BDTR Rule”) specifying the acts or omissions of an institution that a borrower may assert as a defense to repayment of a loan made under the Direct Loan
Program and the consequences of such borrower defenses for borrowers, institutions, and the DOE. Under the regulation, for Direct Loans disbursed after July 1, 2017, a
student borrower may assert a defense to repayment if: (1) the student borrower obtained a state or federal court judgment against the institution; (2) the institution failed to
perform on a contract with the student; and/or (3) the institution committed a “substantial misrepresentation” on which the borrower reasonably relied to his or her detriment.
These defenses are asserted through claims submitted to the DOE, and the DOE has the authority to issue a final decision in which it may discharge all or part of a borrower's
Direct Loan. In addition, the regulation permits the DOE to grant relief to an individual or group of individuals, including individuals who have not applied to the DOE seeking
relief. If a defense is successfully raised, the DOE has discretion to initiate action to collect from an institution the amount of losses incurred based on the borrower defense
discharge.
The 2016 regulation also amends the rules concerning discharge of federal student loans when a school or campus closes, requires institutions to report events that might
potentially impact an institution’s financial responsibility (“financial triggers”) to allow the DOE to determine if the institution needs to provide additional assurances or surety
to continue participating in the Title IV Programs, and prohibits pre-dispute arbitration agreements and class action waivers for borrower defense-type claims.
On January 19, 2017, the DOE issued a final procedural rule, specifically relating to the then-upcoming borrower defense rules, with request for comments. These rules were
limited to updating the hearing procedures for actions to establish liability against an institution of higher education and establishing procedures for recovery proceedings under
the borrower defense regulations.
On June 16, 2017, the DOE announced its intent to convene a negotiated rulemaking committee to develop new and different proposed regulations related to borrower defense
to replace the 2016 BDTR Rule and to address certain other related matters. The DOE published the amended final BDTR Rule on September 23, 2019 (the “2019 BDTR
Rule”), with an effective date of July 1, 2020. The amended rule made substantial changes to the 2016 Rule. The 2019 BDTR Rule again changes the basis under which a
student can make a BDTR claim for loans disbursed after July 1, 2020, limiting it from the three bases in the 2016 Rule to only one basis in the 2019 Rule: misrepresentation
upon which a borrower reasonably relied, and which resulted in financial harm to the borrower. The 2019 Rule also removes the group claim option, and instead relies on
individual evaluation of borrower’s claims; however, as was the case in the 2016 Rule, the DOE can still initiate an action against the institution to recoup its losses for
discharged loans.
In addition, the 2019 BDTR Rule changes the “financial triggers” and reporting process, narrowing the DOE’s basis for determining a school lacks financial responsibility, and
relying on more definitive liabilities that would impact an institution’s composite score, as opposed to more speculative potential losses. The updated provisions include both
“mandatory triggering events,” and “discretionary triggering events” that may impact the institution’s financial responsibility under the DOE rules. Institutions are required to
report any of the events included under either category, but mandatory events will require the DOE to take action (which includes recalculating the institution’s most recent
composite score, if applicable), while the DOE has discretion to determine whether action needs to be taken if the trigger is discretionary. The mandatory triggers include a
liability from a settlement or final determination in an action brought by a state or federal agency; a capital distribution or distribution of dividends when an institution’s
composite score is below 1.5; or, for publicly traded institutions, an action to revoke registration or delist by the applicable exchange.
The 2019 Rule removes the prohibition on pre-dispute arbitration provisions and class action waivers, and instead requires institutions to disclose, in laymen’s terms, how
arbitration and class action waivers impact the student. The 2019 Rule also makes additional changes to the closed school and false certification loan discharge rules, as well as
updating the financial
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reporting requirements relating to how long term debt is calculated and disclosed in annual financial audits, and how institutions must account for operating leases to reflect
updated GAAP standards.
The DOE has begun aggressively pursuing resolution of hundreds of thousands of BDTR claims, granting billions in loan discharges. This has proven quite difficult for
institutions as the applicable regulation varies depending on the date of disbursement of the loan for which discharge is sought. Thus, for any borrower applicant, depending on
their dates of enrollment and when loans were disbursed, could have their claim reviewed under three different versions of the BDTR regulation.
Now to further complicate this process, the DOE included a revision of the BDTR regulations in the 2021/2022 negotiated rulemaking. The proposed rule is currently with
OIRA/OMB and the text is not yet public. However, the proposal presented and discussed during rulemaking includes many of the same provisions as the 2016 BDTR Rule, but
split the financial responsibility sections out into a separate package debated by a different set of negotiators. If adopted as drafted, the BDTR proposal would reinstitute the
group claim process, reduce due process safeguards for institutions, especially during the claim adjudication process, allow claims at any time without statutes of limitations, and
provide for loan discharges regardless of whether there is any actual harm to the borrower.
Because the proposed rule is with OIRA/OMB now, we expect that it will complete the comment and response process in time for a November 1, 2022 publication, resulting in a
July 1, 2023 effective date.
Change in Ownership Resulting in a Change of Control. In addition to school acquisitions, other types of transactions can also cause a change of control. The DOE, accrediting
agencies, and most state education agencies, all have standards pertaining to the change of control of schools, but those standards are not uniform. The DOE regulations describe
some transactions that constitute a change of control, including the transfer of a controlling interest in the voting stock of an institution or the institution’s parent corporation.
The DOE regulations provide that a change of control of a publicly-traded corporation occurs in one of two ways: (i) if there is an event that would obligate the corporation to
file a Current Report on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, disclosing a change of control or (ii) if the corporation has a shareholder that
owns at least 25% of the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation and is the largest shareholder of the corporation, and that shareholder ceases to own at least 25% of
such stock or ceases to be the largest shareholder. A significant purchase or disposition of our voting stock could be determined by the DOE to be a change of control under this
standard. Many states include the sale of a controlling interest of common stock in the definition of a change of control requiring approval. A change of control under the
definition of one of these agencies would require us to seek approval of the change in ownership and control to maintain our accreditations, state authorization or licensure. The
requirements to obtain such approval from the states and our accrediting agencies vary widely. In some cases, approval of the change of ownership and control cannot be
obtained until after the transaction has occurred.
When a change of ownership resulting in a change of control occurs at a for-profit institution, the DOE applies a different set of financial tests to determine the financial
responsibility of the institution in conjunction with its review and approval of the change of ownership. The institution generally is required to submit a same-day audited
balance sheet reflecting the financial condition of the institution or its parent corporation immediately following the change in ownership. The institution’s same-day balance
sheet must demonstrate an acid test ratio of at least 1:1, which is calculated by adding cash and cash equivalents to current accounts receivable and dividing the sum by total
current liabilities (and excluding all unsecured or uncollateralized related party receivables). The same-day balance sheet must also demonstrate positive tangible net worth. If
the institution does not satisfy either of these requirements, the DOE may condition its approval of the change of ownership on the institution’s agreeing to post a letter of credit,
provisional certification, and/or additional monitoring requirements, as described in the above section on Financial Responsibility. As part of the change of control of USU, in
addition to being granted provisional approval to participate in the Title IV Programs, the DOE informed USU that it must post a letter of credit based on a failure to meet the
audited same day balance sheet requirements that apply in a change of control.
A change of control also could occur as a result of future transactions in which Aspen is involved. Some corporate reorganizations and some changes in the composition of the
Board are examples of such transactions. Moreover, the potential adverse effects of a change of control could influence future decisions by us and our shareholders regarding
the sale, purchase, transfer, issuance or redemption of our stock. In addition, the regulatory burdens and risks associated with a change of control also could discourage bids for
your shares of common stock and could have an adverse effect on the market price of your shares. The time required for the DOE to act on a change in ownership and control
application may vary substantially. In some such recent transactions, institutions have experienced extensive delays in this review process, in some cases exceeding 18-24
months.
Possible Acquisitions. Similar to the Company’s acquisition of USU, we may expand through acquisition of related or synergistic businesses. Our internal growth is subject to
monitoring and ultimately approval by the DEAC and WSCUC. If the
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DEAC or WSCUC finds that the growth may adversely affect our academic quality, the DEAC or WSCUC can request us to slow the growth and potentially withdraw
accreditation and require us to re-apply for accreditation. The DOE may also impose growth restrictions on an institution, including in connection with a change in ownership
and control.
Clery Act and Title IX. Both USU and Aspen University publish the required Annual Crime and Security Reports to comply with the requirements of the federal Jeanne Clery
Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (“Clery Act”). USU publishes separate reports for its San Diego, CA and Phoenix, AZ locations; Aspen
publishes separate reports for its Denver, CO, Austin, TX, and Phoenix, AZ locations. With the publication cycle in October 2022, Aspen will additionally publish for locations
in Tampa, FL and Nashville, TN. Both universities are committed to providing students, faculty, staff, and guests a safe and secure environment. The Reports identify policies
and procedures for security and crime prevention, substance abuse, sexual misconduct/harassment (Title IX), and emergency response and evacuation. On May 6, 2020, the
DOE issued a new final rule regarding Title IX which substantially changes institutions’ responsibilities in responding to sexual harassment and sexual assault. The new rule
became effective on August 14, 2020, and USU and Aspen have made necessary changes to our policies and procedures to maintain compliance.
The Biden Administration indicated early on that it planned to make updates to the Title IX regulations a priority item. The proposed rule was submitted to OIRA/OMB in
February 2022, and an unofficial version was published on June 23rd, the 50th anniversary of the original passage of the law. Once the proposed rule is officially published in the
Federal Register, commentors will have 60 days to provide feedback.
Because Title IX regulations are not subject to the Master Calendar that governs Title IV regulations, an updated final rule on Title IX could be published relatively quickly. We
expect that there is sufficient time for the rule to become final before the end of 2022.
Other Approvals. The U.S. Department of Defense and the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (the “VA”) regulate our participation in the military’s tuition assistance
program and the VA’s veterans’ education benefits program, respectively. The laws, regulations, standards and policies of these agencies cover the vast majority of our
operations, including our educational programs, facilities, instructional and administrative staff, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, financial operations and
financial condition. These regulatory requirements can also affect our ability to add new or expand existing educational programs and to change our corporate structure and
ownership.
Seasonality
Our business has been seasonal with our fiscal fourth quarter (beginning February 1) being our strongest quarter and the fiscal second quarter (beginning August 1) being the
next strongest. The fiscal first quarter (beginning May 1) is the weakest as it covers the summer months of June and July. Given the growth of USU’s structured two-year MSNFNP program and Aspen University’s BSN Pre-Licensure hybrid campus program, future seasonality may be less pronounced.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Investors should carefully consider the following Risk Factors before deciding whether to invest in Aspen Group.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our business operations or our financial condition. If any of
the events discussed in the Risk Factors below occur, our business, consolidated financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially and adversely
affected. In such case, the value and marketability of the common stock could decline.
Risk Factors Summary
Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should consider before investing in our common stock. The following is a summary of the principal risk
factors we face:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the sufficiency of our cash resources;
any inability by AU to comply with the terms of the Consent Agreement and probation imposed by the AZ BON;
strong competition in the postsecondary education market;
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and any future public health emergencies;
our ability to successfully execute our growth strategy of opening new nursing campuses;
our ability to update and expand the content of existing programs and develop new programs and specializations on a timely basis and in a cost-effective manner;
continued growth and acceptance of online education;
the effectiveness of our marketing and advertising efforts;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the accuracy of our assumptions with respect to our long-term accounts receivable;
continued demand for the nursing workforce;
the long-term success of our monthly payment plan;
our ability to develop awareness among, and attract and retain, high quality learners to our schools;
the impact on our business of failure by the third parties on which we rely to provide services in running our operations, including administration and hosting of learning
management system software for our online classroom;
any system disruptions to our online computer networks;
the loss of the services of key personnel and our continued ability to attract and retain our faculty, administrators, management and skilled personnel;
our and our service providers’ ability to update the technology that we rely upon to offer online education;
any interruption to our technology infrastructure or service on our websites, including through privacy and data security breaches;
the potential impact of new laws or regulations governing Internet commerce;
compliance with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, information security, advertising and consumer protection, government access requests, or,
new laws in one or more of these areas;
failure to protect our intellectual property and the impact of potential intellectual property infringement claims against us;
inflation and government responses thereto could result in a recession in the U.S., which could adversely impact us, directly and through lower student enrollments;
tax treatment of companies engaged in Internet commerce;
potential impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising from the USU acquisition;
failure to comply with the extensive regulatory requirements for our business;
our continued ability to maintain authorizations in the states where we have campuses;
our ability to achieve and maintain a required minimum pass rate on the NCLEX in the BSN Pre-Licensure nursing programs;
potential repayment liability to the Department of Education (the “DOE”) resulting from a defense to repayment of federal student loans by our students;
our continued ability to maintain institutional accreditation and comply with the complex regulations associated with Title IV Programs;
USU’s provisional certification by the DOE resulting in the need to reestablish our eligibility and certification to participate in the Title IV Programs;
potential adverse actions and litigation resulting from compliance reviews by the DOE;
potential loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs if percentage of our revenues derived from Title IV Programs is too high;
new regulations or congressional action or reduction in funding for Title IV Programs;
potential sanctions for failure to calculate correctly and return timely Title IV Program funds for students who stop participating before completing their educational
program;
potential loss of eligibility to participate in the Title IV Programs, including as the result of our distance education programs being considered “correspondence courses,”
failure to demonstrate “financial responsibility” or “administrative capability,” failure by third parties on which we rely to administer our participation in Title IV
Programs to comply with applicable regulations, or loan default rates;
potential sanctions for failure to comply with the DOE’s substantial misrepresentation rules or credit hour requirements;
future legislation or additional rulemaking by the DOE that may limit or condition Title IV Program participation of proprietary schools; and
potential sanctions for failure to comply with the federal campus safety and security reporting requirements as implemented by the DOE.

Risks Relating to Our Business
In order to meet our working capital needs, we expect to raise capital or materially reduce our cash outflows.
In order to meet our short-term working capital requirements and to achieve our operational goals during the next 12 months, we expect to either raise sufficient capital or
reduce our expenditures. While we consider our plans through the end of August, we have implemented two key steps. First we have reduced our marketing expenses by
$700,000 per month on an interim basis. Our monthly marketing spend had been approximately $1.4 million. In addition, we expect to enter into an at-the-market offering
which has the potential to supply additional cash. As of July 22, 2022, we have $4.2 million of unrestricted cash on hand.
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The issuance of securities by us in a financing could have a dilutive effect on our current investors, and any such issuance or the possibility of such issuance may cause the
market price of our common stock to decline. In addition, any debt or equity financing secured by us could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities
and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital, continue our operations as presently contemplated and to pursue
business opportunities. If we are unable to raise additional capital sufficient to meet our current requirements and growth goals, we may have to further reduce our operations.
There can be no assurance that such funding will be available to the Company in the amount required at any time or, if available, that it can be obtained on terms satisfactory to
the Company. Finally, even a temporary reduction of marketing will effect our future enrollments and class starts and reduce our future revenue.
If we are unable to satisfy the probation terms under the Consent Agreement with the Arizona State Board of Nursing, or fail to meet the requirements of other states
in which we operate, our future results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
Aspen University, our largest subsidiary which is based in Phoenix, Arizona, entered into a Consent Agreement related to its BSN pre-licensure program in Arizona, in which
the AZ BON revoked its approval of AU’s core component of its pre-licensure program in Arizona but simultaneously imposed a conditional stay on the revocation.
Approximately 12% of AU’s enrollments are students in its BSN Pre-Licensure nursing programs at two campus locations in Phoenix. The AU Arizona Pre-Licensure program
accounted for 19.5% of our consolidated revenue in fiscal year 2022 and is projected to decline to approximately 10% of our revenue in fiscal year 2023.
The stay is broken into two phases. During Phase I of the Consent Agreement which lasts through calendar year 2022, Aspen University is not permitted to enroll any new
students into the core component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona, and must achieve the AZ BON required 80% NCLEX first-time pass rate for the Calendar
Year 2022 annual reporting cycle. If this benchmark is not achieved, the AZ BON may lift the stay and initiate the revocation. If Phase I is completed successfully, Phase II will
commence with Aspen University on Probation (regular or “stayed revocation” probation, depending on the outcome of Phase I). During Phase II, Aspen University is permitted
to begin enrollments into the core component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona once four consecutive quarters of 80% first-time pass rate occurs. However, if the
NCLEX pass rate falls below 80% for any quarter, the AZ BON may limit enrollments, and repeated failures may result in a required cessation of enrollments and teach-out of
the program. Aspen University did not meet the 80% minimum for the first two quarters of 2022.
As long as Aspen University is unable to enroll new students in the Phoenix metro area, our results of operations and cash flow may be materially and adversely affected. Until
the minimum probationary period ends, should Aspen University not successfully satisfy the probation terms, our future results of operations and cash flow could be materially
and adversely affected. Additionally, if we lose the Arizona approval and are forced to teach out those locations as a result of the foregoing developments, we will be prohibited
from further utilizing the two Phoenix campus locations for future in-person pre-licensure classes at AU, and will be forced to find other uses for the premises, such as
subletting the premises to USU or an outside party which we may be unable to do on commercially reasonable terms or at all. In such an event, our investments in those
campuses will not result in the long-term benefits originally anticipated, and our future prospects at those locations would be materially diminished.
Further, any similar adverse developments in other states in which we operate could also have a material adverse effect on us. The regulatory risks of our other state locations
could also be at higher risk as a result of the developments in Arizona as regulators could review our operations with enhanced scrutiny following the investigations and actions
taken by the AZ BON.
If the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education does not reduce the surety bond, it will eliminate one possible way of increasing our working capital.
The Arizona Board required us to post an $18.3 million surety bond which we were able to do. In addition to the premium cost, we had to subordinate our $20 million debt
financing to support the surety bond which eliminated our ability to borrow additional funds from the two lenders. If the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education does not agree during this fiscal year to reduce the size of the surety bond, we will have to incur the cost of an additional renewal premium and be unable to use the
debt facility for our working capital needs.
As a result of the disclosure of the recent AZ BON probation and related matters, we are subject to a class action lawsuit and are or may become subject other
litigation which could expose us to significant costs and cause business and reputational harm.
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As more particularly described in “Item 3 – Legal Proceedings,” in April 2022 certain students who had completed the PPN portion of AU’s BSN Pre-Licensure nursing degree
program filed a class action lawsuit in Arizona state court against AU, alleging violation of the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act and unjust enrichment, claiming that AU made
false representations and promises and material omissions to the students with respect to its BSN Pre-Licensure program in Arizona. To the extent that costs exceed our
insurance coverage, we could be materially and adversely affected. Further, the existence and facts alleged in this litigation could have a material adverse effect on our public
image, and in turn on future enrollments.
Should we fail to effectively defend against the above lawsuit, or other litigation arises against us with respect to AU Arizona or otherwise, our financial condition and results of
operations may be materially adversely affected.
Because there is strong competition in the postsecondary education market, especially in the online education market and as a result of COVID-19, our cost of
acquiring students may increase and our results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.
Postsecondary education is highly fragmented and competitive. We compete with traditional public and private two-year and four-year brick and mortar institutions as well as
other for-profit schools and online not-for-profit schools. Public and private colleges and universities, as well as other for-profit schools, offer programs similar to those we
offer. Public institutions receive substantial government subsidies, and public and private institutions have access to government and foundation grants, tax-deductible
contributions that create large endowments and other financial resources generally not available to for-profit schools. Accordingly, public and private institutions may have
instructional and support resources that are superior to those in the for-profit sector. In addition, some of our competitors, including both traditional colleges and universities
and online for-profit schools, have substantially greater name recognition and financial and other resources than we have, which may enable them to compete more effectively
for potential students. We also expect to face increased competition as a result of new entrants to the online education market, including established colleges and universities
that have not previously emphasized online education programs, a trend which has been amplified and accelerated as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Major brick and
mortar universities continue to develop and advertise their online course offerings. Purdue University’s 2017 acquisition of Kaplan University and the University of Arizona
Global Campus’ 2020 acquisition of Ashford University are prime examples of this change. Another example is Arizona State University which spends considerable sums on
advertising its online degree programs in partnership with its Online Program Manager.
COVID-19 has created a tendency to increase remote learning as well as create a movement away from in person interactions to a limited extent. Our for-profit competitors
such as Adtalem Global Education, Inc. and American Public Education, Inc., as well as public non-profit institutions, shifted their licensure program from on-campus classes to
100% online classes in response to the pandemic, although transitions back to campus learning have commenced or been completed in some cases. Because the long-term
effects of COVID-19, including the widespread adoption of online learning methods employed by our competitors, remain uncertain, the resulting increase in competition may
subsist going forward. For example, our competitors may determine that a new potential revenue stream has been opened to them and decide to maintain their increased online
course offerings indefinitely or permanently to capitalize on the perceived opportunities, which would result in relatively new additional competitors.
Additionally, another side effect of the pandemic was to force many prospective higher education students in the U.S. to defer commencement of their college and
postsecondary courses and/or to more closely consider the possibility of declining to pursue a college or post-graduate degree. The result of these and other factors has been
steepened declines in new college and graduate student enrollments in recent years.
While we believe another factor in this decline has been the sustained increases in degree costs, which could render our offerings more attractive than some competitors given
the relatively lower costs of our programs to other more traditional educational programs, the trend poses significant uncertainty and challenges to the industry as a whole,
including AGI, and may cause us to experience lower revenue, be less competitive and otherwise harm our business as we continue to compete with a lower and lower pool of
prospective enrollments.
We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors and may face competitive pressures including price pressures that could adversely affect our
business or results of operations and reduce our operating margins. These competitive factors could cause our enrollments, revenues and profitability to materially decrease.
COVID-19 has materially and adversely affected our business.
The COVID-19 pandemic caused a significant downturn to the U.S. and global economies for an extended period. Our nursing students include many working nurses who
became over stressed due to the healthcare crisis and necessary long hours they had
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to work. As a result, our attrition rates increased. We also believe nursing students delayed taking courses and also enrollments were adversely affected.
All of these factors and remote work inefficiencies have materially and adversely affected our results of operations.
If we are unable to successfully execute our growth strategy of opening new nursing campuses, our results of operations and future growth could be materially and
adversely affected.
In addition to its two existing campus locations in Phoenix, the Company opened two additional new metro locations in fiscal year 2021 (Austin and Tampa) and opened two
new locations in fiscal year 2022 (Nashville and Atlanta). Opening new campus locations will require us to obtain appropriate state and accrediting agency approvals and to
comply with any requirements from those agencies related to a new location. Adding new locations will also require significant financial investments, including capital
improvements, human resource capabilities, and new clinical placement relationships. If we are unable to obtain the required approvals, attract sufficient additional students to
new campus locations, offer programs at new campuses in a cost-effective manner, identify appropriate clinical placements, or otherwise manage effectively the operations of
newly established campus locations, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
In the event that we are unable to update and expand the content of existing programs and develop new programs and specializations on a timely basis and in a costeffective manner, our results of operations may be harmed.
The updates and expansions of our existing programs and the development of new programs and specializations may not be accepted by existing or prospective students or
employers. If we cannot respond to changes in market requirements, our business may be adversely affected. Even if we are able to develop acceptable new programs, we may
not be able to introduce these new programs as quickly as students require or as quickly as our competitors introduce competing programs. To offer a new academic program,
we may be required to obtain appropriate federal, state and accrediting agency approvals, which may be conditioned, delayed or declined in a manner that could significantly
affect our growth plans. In addition, a new academic program that must prepare students for gainful employment must be approved by the DOE for Title IV purposes if the
institution is provisionally certified. If we are unable to respond adequately to changes in market requirements due to financial constraints, regulatory limitations or other
factors, our ability to attract and retain students could be impaired and our financial results could suffer.
Establishing new academic programs or modifying existing programs may require us to make investments in management and faculty, incur marketing expenses and reallocate
other resources. If we are unable to increase the number of students, or offer new programs in a cost-effective manner, or are otherwise unable to manage effectively the
operations of newly established academic programs, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Because we are an online provider of education, we are substantially dependent on continued growth and acceptance of online education and, if the recognition by
students and employers of the value of online education does not continue to grow, our ability to grow our business could be adversely impacted.
We believe that continued growth in online education will be largely dependent on additional students and employers recognizing the value of degrees and courses from online
institutions. If students and employers are not convinced that online schools are an acceptable alternative to traditional schools or that an online education provides necessary
value, or if growth in the market penetration of exclusively online education slows, growth in the industry and our business could be adversely affected. Because our business
model is in part based on online education, if the acceptance of online education does not grow, our ability to continue to grow our business and our financial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
Because our future growth and profitability will depend in large part upon the effectiveness of our marketing and advertising efforts, if those efforts are unsuccessful
we may not be profitable in the future.
Our future growth and profitability will depend in large part upon our media performance, including our ability to:
•
•

Maintain and grow our nursing programs including Aspen University’s BSN Pre-Licensure hybrid online/campus program; USU’s MSN-FNP program; Aspen
University’s legacy Baccalaureate, Master’s and Doctoral online degree programs; and USU's legacy Baccalaureate and Master's degree programs;
Select communities which have excess demand for nursing students interested in an on-campus model. In this respect, we are uncertain if our commercial experience in
Phoenix can be replicated in other metros. To date we have not had the same enrollment results in Austin, Tampa, or Nashville; and Atlanta began enrollments in
February 2022; Further,
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•
•
•
•
•
•

enrollments in Tampa have been much lower than expected due to students in Florida preferring Associate-level, 2-year nursing degree programs versus Bachelor-level
pre-licensure programs;
Replicate the success we have had with nursing in other programs;
Create greater awareness of our schools and our programs;
Identify the most effective and efficient level of spending in each market and specific media vehicle;
Determine the appropriate creative message and media mix for advertising, marketing and promotional expenditures;
Comply with applicable laws and regulations affecting our marketing activities; and
Effectively manage marketing costs (including creative and media).

Further as a result of our cash needs, we will not be able to expand BSN Pre-Licensure program beyond Atlanta until we improve our operating results.
Our marketing expenditures may not result in increased revenue or generate sufficient levels of brand name and program awareness. If our media performance is not effective,
our future results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected. Further, as disclosed earlier in this Report and Item 7, we are purposely slowing our growth
rate and re-allocating marketing expenses. We may not achieve the results anticipated for a number of reasons including any future recession, unanticipated regulatory actions,
the impact of COVID-19 on nurse enrollments and any adverse reaction of potential students who learn of the regulatory actions in Arizona.
Because of the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the effect on the capital markets and the economy is uncertain, and we may have to deal with a recessionary economy and
economic uncertainty including possible adverse effects upon our business.
As a result of the Russian invasion of Ukraine, certain events have affected the global and United States economy including increased inflation, substantial increases in the
prices of oil and gas and other goods, large Western companies ceasing to do business in Russia and uncertain capital markets with declines in leading market indexes. The
duration of this war and its impact are at best uncertain and continuation may result in Internet access issues if Russia, for example, began illicit cyber activities. In addition, in
the U.S. the Federal Reserve has begun raising interest rates sharply, the continuation of which could lead to a recession. Ultimately the economy may turn into a recession with
uncertain and potentially severe impacts upon public companies and us. We cannot predict how this will affect our business but the impact may be adverse. If the U.S. or global
economy enters a recession, one possible if not probable result could be reduced spending by individuals on higher education, which could materially and adversely affect us.
If our assumptions with respect to our long-term accounts receivable prove to be inaccurate, we may be required to take a charge to our Allowance for Doubtful
accounts and incur a material non-cash charge to earnings.
As a result of the growing acceptance of our monthly payment plans, our long-term accounts receivable balance has grown from $10,249,833 at April 30, 2021 to $11,406,525
at April 30, 2022. The primary component consists of students who make monthly payments over 36, 39 and 72 months. The average student completes their academic program
in 30 months, therefore most of the Company’s accounts receivable are short-term. However, when students graduate earlier than the 30-month average completion duration,
and as students enter academic year two of USU’s MSN-FNP 72-month payment plan, they all transition to long-term accounts receivable when their liability increases to over
$4,500. Our ability to collect the sums owed directly by students in contrast to the federal government or other third parties is directly tied to the future ability of students to pay
us and their other obligations stemming from a variety of factors including the impact of any economic decline in the United States, the students’ individual and family
financial conditions, including unemployment and under-employment, health issues which affect students, and/or family members and whether students continue with their
courses or cease taking courses. Due to inflation, Federal Interest rate hikes and other factors, many market analysists predict a recession is probable later in 2022 or 2023,
which would diminish the spending power of prospective students, as well as possibly reduce demand for our offerings due to a weakened labor market. Further if we
experience a recession, it is possible that we will face more difficulty in collecting our accounts receivable from students and former students.
While our management, based on its experience, makes assumptions which affect the reserves we take against our long-term accounts receivable, these assumptions may be
incorrect and the above or other factors may cause us to increase our reserves and reduce the long-term accounts receivable on our consolidated balance sheet. The amount of
any future reductions we take may be a non-cash material charge to future earnings.
We experienced a reduction in enrollments year-over-year, and if we are unable to change the trend in future periods, our results of operations and prospects, and
your investment in us, could be materially adversely impacted.
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On a Company-wide basis, new student enrollments were down 14% year-over-year, primarily as a result of three factors: (1) Aspen University dropped advertising spend in the
BSN pre-licensure program in the Phoenix metro down to a maintenance spend, causing enrollments in that metro to drop, and subsequently stopped enrollments in Phoenix
starting in Q4 of fiscal 2022, (2) enrollments at USU were down 1% year-over-year given the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic as prospective nursing post-licensure
students continue to delay their education goals on a short-term basis as they continued to care for COVID patients, and (3) Aspen University saw a COVID-19 related increase
in attrition among current nursing students and a reduction in prospective nursing post-licensure students. Further, due to the probation imposed by the AZ BON, AU’s Arizona
pre-licensure locations will continue to contribute to the slowing of enrollment growth or a decline in enrollments. If the trend continues without offsetting reductions in
expenses, it could materially adversely impact our business and financial condition, and in turn reduce our common stock price.
If the demand for the nursing workforce decreases or the educational requirements for nurses were relaxed, our business will be adversely affected.
Aspen Group’s primary focus has been the continued growth of enrollment in its nursing programs at both universities. As of April 30, 2022, approximately 86% of our active
degree-seeking students were enrolled in our nursing programs. If the demand for nurses or family nurse practitioners does not continue to grow (or declines) or there are
changes within the healthcare industry that make the nursing occupation less attractive to learners or reduce the benefits of a bachelor’s or an advanced degree, our enrollment
and results of operations will be adversely affected.
Although our management has successfully implemented a monthly payment business model, it may not be successful long-term.
Under the leadership of Mr. Michael Mathews, our Chief Executive Officer, we have developed a monthly payment business model designed to substantially increase our
student enrollment and reduce student debt among Aspen University’s and USU’s student bodies. While results to date have been as anticipated, there are no assurances that
this business model will continue to be successful. Among the risks are the following:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our ability to compete with existing online institutions which have substantially greater financial resources, deeper management and academic resources, and enhanced
public reputations;
The emergence of more successful competitors including traditional campus based universities which accelerated their online presence as a result of the pandemic;
Factors related to our marketing, including the costs of Internet advertising and broad-based branding campaigns;
Limits on our ability to attract and retain effective employees because of the incentive compensation rule;
Performance problems with our online systems;
Our failure to maintain accreditation or regulatory approvals;
Student dissatisfaction with our services and programs;
Adverse publicity regarding us, our competitors or online or for-profit education generally;
A decline in the acceptance of online education;
A decrease in the perceived or actual economic benefits that students derive from our programs;
The potential that potential students may not be able to afford the monthly payments as a result of declines in the economy;
The failure to collect our growing accounts receivable;
The inability to expand our monthly payment program due to working capital requirements;
If our monthly payment plan business model does not continue to be favorably received, our revenues may not increase.

If we are unable to develop awareness among, and attract and retain, high quality learners to our schools, our ability to generate significant revenue or achieve
profitability will be significantly impaired.
Building awareness of Aspen University and USU and the programs we offer are critical to our ability to attract prospective learners. If we are unable to successfully market and
advertise our educational programs, our ability to attract and enroll prospective students could be adversely affected, and consequently, our ability to increase revenue or
achieve profitability could be impaired. It is also critical to our success that we convert these applicants to enrolled students in a cost-effective manner and that these students
remain active in our programs. Some of the factors that could prevent us from successfully enrolling and retaining students in our programs include:
•
•

The emergence of more successful competitors;
Factors related to our marketing, including the costs of Internet advertising and broad-based branding campaigns;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Performance problems with our online systems;
Failure to maintain accreditation or regulatory approvals;
Student dissatisfaction with our services and programs, including with our customer service and responsiveness;
Adverse publicity regarding us, our competitors, or online or for-profit education in general;
Price reductions by competitors that we are unwilling or unable to match;
A decline in the acceptance of online education or our degree offerings by students or current and prospective employers;
Increased regulation of online education, including in states in which we do not have a physical presence;
A decrease in the perceived or actual economic benefits that students derive from our programs;
Litigation or regulatory investigations including those arising in Arizona that may damage our reputation; and
Difficulties in executing on our strategy as a preferred provider to employers for the vertical markets we serve.

If we are unable to continue to develop awareness of Aspen University and USU and the programs we offer, and to enroll and retain students, our enrollments would suffer and
our ability to increase revenues and achieve profitability would be significantly impaired.
Because we rely on third parties to provide certain services in running our operations, if any of these parties fail to provide the agreed services at an acceptable level,
it could limit our ability to provide services and/or cause student dissatisfaction, either of which could adversely affect our business.
We rely on third parties to provide us with services in order for us to efficiently and securely operate our business including our computer network and the courses we offer to
students. Any interruption in our ability to obtain the services of these or other third parties or deterioration in their performance could impair the quality of our educational
product and overall business. Generally, there are multiple sources for the services we purchase. Our business could be disrupted if we were required to replace any of these
third parties, especially if the replacement became necessary on short notice, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Because we rely on third-party administration and hosting of learning management system software for our online classroom, if that third-party were to cease to do
business or alter its business practices and services, it could have an adverse impact on our ability to operate.
Our online classrooms at Aspen University and USU employ the D2L learning management system called Brightspace. The system is a web-based portal that stores and
delivers course content, provides interactive communication between students and faculty, and supplies online evaluation tools. We rely on third parties to host and help with
the administration of it. We further rely on third parties, the D2L agreement and our internal staff for ongoing support and customization and integration of the system with the
rest of our technology infrastructure. If D2L were unable or unwilling to continue to provide us with service, we may have difficulty maintaining the software required for our
online classroom or updating it for future technological changes. Any failure to maintain our online classroom would have an adverse impact on our operations, damage our
reputation and limit our ability to attract and retain students.
If we cannot manage our growth, our results of operations may suffer and could adversely affect our ability to comply with federal regulations.
The growth that we have experienced as well as any future growth that we may experience, may place a significant strain on our resources and increase demands on our
management information and reporting systems and financial management controls. We have experienced growth at Aspen University over the last several years and USU has
grown significantly since we acquired it, although in the fiscal years 2021 and 2022 our growth has declined primarily as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, reduced
marketing spending and regulatory challenges. Further, we have less experience in managing our hybrid programs and anticipate substantial growth from this business.
Managing multiple campuses in many locations will pose operational challenges which may impact our ability to manage our business with the same level of effectiveness as
we achieved in the past fiscal years. If growth negatively impacts our ability to manage our business, the learning experience for our students could be adversely affected,
resulting in a higher rate of student attrition and fewer student referrals. Future growth will also require continued improvement of our internal controls and systems, particularly
those related to complying with federal regulations under the Higher Education Act, as administered by the DOE, including as a result of our participation in federal student
financial aid programs under Title IV. If we are unable to manage our growth, we may also experience operating inefficiencies that could increase our costs and adversely affect
our profitability and results of operations.
If we experience system disruptions to our online computer networks, it could impact our ability to generate revenue and damage our reputation, limiting our ability
to attract and retain students.
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We continue to make investments to update our computer network and systems primarily to permit accelerated student enrollment and enhance our students’ learning
experience. We plan to make significant changes to our student systems and our accounting systems to enhance our ability to support the growth of the business, improve the
visibility of program specific activities and related costs and enhance overall business intelligence to support capital allocation decision making. The performance and reliability
of our technology infrastructure is critical to our reputation and ability to attract and retain students and manage our business. Any system error or failure, or a sudden and
significant increase in bandwidth usage, could result in the unavailability of our online classroom, damaging our reputation, and could cause a loss in enrollment. In addition,
changes in systems can be disruptive, divert management's time and typically may involve bugs which cause further disruptions. Our technology infrastructure and systems
could be vulnerable to interruption or malfunction due to events beyond our control, including natural disasters, terrorist activities, hacking or cyber security issues and
telecommunications failures.
If we lose the services of key personnel, it could adversely affect our business.
Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain key personnel. Our future also significantly depends on the continued services of Mr. Michael Mathews,
our Chief Executive Officer. We also rely upon Mr. Matthew LaVay, our Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Gerard Wendolowski, our Chief Operating Officer and Dr. Cheri St.
Arnauld, our Chief Academic Officer, all of whom are important to the management of our business and operations and the development of our strategic direction and would
also be difficult to replace. We have a $3 million key man life insurance policy on Mr. Mathews. The loss of the services of Mr. Mathews and other key individuals and the
process to replace these individuals would involve significant time and expense and may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives.
If we are unable to attract and retain our faculty, administrators, management and skilled personnel, we may not be able to support our operations.
To maintain our operations and to execute our growth strategy, we must attract and retain highly qualified faculty, administrators, management and skilled personnel.
Competition for hiring these individuals is intense, especially with regard to faculty in specialized areas. If we fail to attract new skilled personnel or faculty or fail to retain and
motivate our existing faculty, administrators, management and skilled personnel, our business and growth prospects could be severely harmed. Further, we have moved to a
new hybrid model focused on using full-time faculty members in addition to adjunct or part-time faculty. These efforts may not be successful resulting in the loss of faculty and
difficulties in recruiting. Further, we cannot predict the effect of our recent layoffs on our retained staff. Our remaining employees may be fearful of being laid off or be
concerned over whether we may remain operational. Accordingly, we may sustain a further decline in our employees which could adversely affect the services we provide.
If we or our service providers are unable to update the technology that we rely upon to offer online education, our future growth may be impaired.
We believe that continued growth will require our service providers to increase the capacity and capabilities of their technology infrastructure. Increasing the capacity and
capabilities of the technology infrastructure will require these third parties to invest capital, time and resources, and there is no assurance that even with sufficient investment
their systems will be scalable to accommodate future growth. Our service providers may also need to invest capital, time and resources to update their technology in response to
competitive pressures in the marketplace. If they are unwilling or unable to increase the capacity of their resources or update their resources appropriately and we cannot change
over to other service providers efficiently, our ability to handle growth, our ability to attract or retain students, and our financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.
If we experience any interruption to our technology infrastructure, it could prevent students from accessing their courses, could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to attract and retain students and could require us to incur additional expenses to correct or mitigate the interruption.
Our computer networks may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer hackers, computer viruses and other security problems. A user who circumvents security measures
could misappropriate proprietary information, personal information about our students or cause interruptions or malfunctions in operations. As a result, we may be required to
expend significant resources to protect against the threat of these security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by any breaches.
Because the CAN-SPAM Act imposes certain obligations on the senders of commercial emails, it could adversely impact our ability to market Aspen University’s and
USU’s educational services, and otherwise increase the costs of our business.
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The Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003, or the CAN-SPAM Act, establishes requirements for commercial email and specifies
penalties for commercial email that violates the CAN-SPAM Act. In addition, the CAN-SPAM Act gives consumers the right to require third parties to stop sending them
commercial email.
The CAN-SPAM Act covers email sent for the primary purpose of advertising or promoting a commercial product, service, or Internet website. The Federal Trade Commission,
a federal consumer protection agency, is primarily responsible for enforcing the CAN-SPAM Act, and the Department of Justice, other federal agencies, state attorneys general,
and Internet service providers also have authority to enforce certain of its provisions.
The CAN-SPAM Act’s main provisions include:
•
•
•
•
•

Prohibiting false or misleading email header information;
Prohibiting the use of deceptive subject lines;
Ensuring that recipients may, for at least 30 days after an email is sent, opt out of receiving future commercial email messages from the sender;
Requiring that commercial email be identified as a solicitation or advertisement unless the recipient affirmatively permitted the message; and
Requiring that the sender include a valid postal address in the email message.

The CAN-SPAM Act also prohibits unlawful acquisition of email addresses, such as through directory harvesting and transmission of commercial emails by unauthorized
means, such as through relaying messages with the intent to deceive recipients as to the origin of such messages.
Violations of the CAN-SPAM Act’s provisions can result in criminal and civil penalties, including statutory penalties that can be based in part upon the number of emails sent,
with enhanced penalties for commercial email companies who harvest email addresses, use dictionary attack patterns to generate email addresses, and/or relay emails through a
network without permission.
The CAN-SPAM Act acknowledges that the Internet offers unique opportunities for the development and growth of frictionless commerce, and the CAN-SPAM Act was
passed, in part, to enhance the likelihood that wanted commercial email messages would be received.
The CAN-SPAM Act preempts, or blocks, most state restrictions specific to email, except for rules against falsity or deception in commercial email, fraud and computer crime.
The scope of these exceptions, however, is not settled, and some states have adopted email regulations that, if upheld, could impose liabilities and compliance burdens in
addition to those imposed by the CAN-SPAM Act.
Moreover, some foreign countries, including the countries of the European Union, have regulated the distribution of commercial email and the online collection and disclosure
of personal information. Foreign governments may attempt to apply their laws extraterritorially or through treaties or other arrangements with U.S. governmental entities.
Because we use email marketing, the need to comply with, and any failure by us to comply with the CAN-SPAM Act could adversely affect our marketing activities and
increase our costs.
If our data or our users’ content is hacked, including through privacy and data security breaches, our business could be damaged, and we could be subject to liability.
Our business is, and we expect it will continue to be, heavily reliant upon the Internet. Cyber security events have caused significant damage to large well-known companies. If
our systems are hacked and our students’ confidential information is misappropriated, we could be subject to liability.
We may fail to detect the existence of a breach of user content and be unable to prevent unauthorized access to user and company content. The techniques used to obtain
unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and are often not recognized until launched against a target. They may originate from
less regulated third world countries where lax local enforcement and poverty create opportunities for hacking. If our security measures are breached, or our students’ content is
otherwise accessed through unauthorized means, or if any such actions are believed to occur, Aspen University and USU may lose existing students and/or fail to enroll new
students or otherwise be materially harmed.
Our business could be harmed by any significant disruption of service on our websites.
Because of the importance of the Internet to our business, in addition to cybersecurity, we face the risk that our systems will fail to function in a robust manner. Our reputation
and ability to attract, retain, and serve our students are dependent upon the
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reliable performance of our websites, including our underlying technical infrastructure. Our technical infrastructure may not be adequately designed with sufficient reliability
and redundancy to avoid performance delays or outages that could be harmful to our business. If our websites are unavailable when students and professors attempt to access
them, or if they experience frequent slowdowns or disruptions, we may lose students and professors.
If we incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of class materials posted online during our class discussions, it may affect our future operating
results and financial condition.
In some instances, our faculty members or our students may post various articles or other third-party content on class discussion boards. We may incur liability for the
unauthorized duplication or distribution of this material posted online for class discussions. Third parties may raise claims against us for the unauthorized duplication of this
material. Any such claims could subject us to costly litigation and impose a significant strain on our financial resources and management personnel regardless of whether the
claims have merit. As a result, we may be required to alter the content of our courses or pay monetary damages.
Because the personal information that we or our vendors collect may be vulnerable to breach, theft or loss, any of these factors could adversely affect our reputation
and operations.
Possession and use of personal information in our operations subjects us to risks and costs that could harm our business. We use a third parties to collect and retain large
amounts of personal information regarding our students and their families, including social security numbers, tax return information, personal and family financial data and
credit card numbers. We also collect and maintain personal information on our employees in the ordinary course of our business. Some of this personal information is held and
managed by certain of our vendors. Errors in the storage, use or transmission of personal information could result in a breach of student or employee privacy. Possession and
use of personal information in our operations also subjects us to legislative and regulatory burdens that could require notification of data breaches, restrict our use of personal
information, and cause us to lose our certification to participate in the Title IV Programs. We cannot guarantee that there will not be a breach, loss or theft of personal
information that we store or our third parties store. A breach, theft or loss of personal information regarding our students and their families or our employees that is held by us
or our vendors could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and results of operations and result in liability under state and federal privacy statutes and legal or
administrative actions by state attorneys general, private litigants, and federal regulators and by such other international laws including the European Union’s General Data
Protection Regulation (the "E.U. GDPR") and, following the United Kingdom’s departure from the European Union on January 31, 2020, the United Kingdom’s General Data
Protection Regulation (the “U.K. GDPR”) and their respective enforcement mechanisms, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
If governments enact new laws to regulate Internet commerce, it may negatively affect our business.
The widespread use of the Internet has led and may in the future lead to the adoption of new laws and regulatory practices in the U.S. and to new interpretations of existing laws
and regulations. These new laws and interpretations may relate to issues such as online privacy, data protection and breach copyrights, trademarks and service marks, sales
taxes, fair business practices and the requirement that online education institutions qualify to do business as foreign corporations or be licensed in one or more jurisdictions
where they have no physical location or other presence. New laws, regulations or interpretations related to doing business over the Internet could increase our costs and
materially and adversely affect our enrollments, revenues and results of operations.
If we fail to comply with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, information security, advertising and consumer protection, government access
requests, or, if new laws in one or more of these areas are enacted, it could result in proceedings, actions, or penalties against us and could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
We rely on a variety of marketing techniques, including email, radio, telemarketing, display advertising, and social media marketing, targeted online advertisements, and postal
mailings, and we are or may become subject to various laws and regulations that govern such marketing and advertising practices. A variety of federal, state, and international
laws and regulations, including those enforced by various federal government agencies such as the Federal Trade Commission, Federal Communications Commission, and state
and local agencies, govern the collection, use, retention, sharing, and security of personal data, particularly in the context of online advertising, which we utilize to attract new
students.
The laws and regulations which may restrict, limit or otherwise affect our advertising efforts include the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, the Telemarketing Sales
Rule, the CAN-SPAM Act and various U.S. state laws regarding telemarketing. These laws generally impose restrictions on advertising practices, may be subject to varying
interpretations by courts and governmental authorities and often require subjective interpretation, which could render our compliance efforts more
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challenging. We cannot guarantee our efforts to comply with these laws, rules and regulations will be successful, or, if they are successful, that the cost of such compliance will
not be materially adverse to our business. If any laws, rules or regulations applicable to our advertising techniques significantly restrict our business, we may not be able to
implement adequate alternative communication and marketing strategies at favorable costs or at all. Further, any non-compliance with these laws, rules and regulations may
result in financial penalties or litigation, which would adversely affect our financial condition and reputation.
The use and storage of data, files, and information on our websites and those of our third-party service providers concerning, among others, student information is essential to
their enrollment in our schools. Laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, information security, marketing and advertising, and consumer protection are evolving
and subject to potentially differing interpretations. These requirements may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another or may
conflict with other regulations or our current practices. As a result, our practices may not have complied or may not comply in the future with all such laws, regulations,
requirements, and obligations. We have implemented various features, integrations, and capabilities as well as contractual obligations intended to enable us to comply with
applicable privacy and security requirements in our collection, use, and transmittal of data, but these features do not ensure our compliance and may not be effective against all
potential privacy concerns. In particular, as a United States company, we may be obliged to disclose data pursuant to government requests under United States law. Compliance
with such requests may be inconsistent with local laws in other countries where our students reside. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with our posted privacy
policies or with any privacy or consumer protection-related laws, regulations, industry self-regulatory principles, industry standards or codes of conduct, regulatory guidance,
orders to which we may be subject, or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection, whether federal, state, or international, could adversely affect our
reputation, brand, and business, and may result in claims, proceedings, or actions against us by governmental entities, students, users of our website, third party service
providers, or others, or may require us to change our operations and/or cease using certain types of data. Any such claims, proceedings, or actions could hurt our reputation,
brand, and business, force us to incur significant expenses in defense of such proceedings or actions, result in adverse publicity, distract our management, increase our costs of
doing business, result in a loss of students and/or third-party service providers, and result in the imposition of monetary penalties.
The legislative and regulatory bodies or self-regulatory organizations in various jurisdictions both inside and outside the United States may expand current laws or regulations,
enact new laws or regulations, or issue revised rules or guidance regarding privacy, data protection, consumer protection, information security, and online advertising.
California has enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”), which became operative on January 1, 2020, and its implementing regulations took effect in
August, 2020. The CCPA requires companies that process personal information on California residents to make new disclosures to consumers about such companies’ data
collection, use, and sharing practices and inform consumers of their personal information rights such as deletion rights, allows consumers to opt out of certain data sharing with
third parties, and provides a new cause of action for data breaches. Additionally, in November 2020, California enacted the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (the
“CPRA”), which amends and expands the scope of the CCPA, while introducing new privacy protections that extend beyond those included in the CCPA and its implementing
regulations. The CCPA, as amended and expanded by the CPRA, is one of the most prescriptive general privacy law in the United States and may lead to similar laws being
enacted in other U.S. states or at the federal level. For example, the State of Nevada also passed a law, which went into effect on October 1, 2019, that amends the state’s online
privacy law to allow consumers to submit requests to prevent websites and online service providers (“Operators”) from selling personally identifiable information that Operators
collect through a website or online service. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission and many state attorneys general are interpreting federal and state consumer protection
laws to impose standards for the online collection, use, dissemination, and security of data. Each of these privacy, security, and data protection laws and regulations, and any
other such changes or new laws or regulations, could impose significant limitations, require changes to our business model or practices, or restrict our use or storage of personal
information, which may increase our compliance expenses and make our business more costly or less efficient to conduct. In addition, any such changes could compromise our
ability to develop an adequate marketing strategy and pursue our growth strategy effectively, which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results
of operations.
In addition, federal and state governmental authorities continue to evaluate the privacy implications inherent in the use of third-party “cookies” and other methods of online
tracking for behavioral advertising and other purposes. The U.S. government has enacted legislation and regulations, and may enact further legislation or regulations in the
future, that could significantly restrict the ability of companies and individuals to utilize online behavioral tracking, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and
consent required before a company can employ cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data gathered with such tools. Additionally, some providers of consumer
devices and web browsers have implemented, or announced plans to implement, means to make it easier for Internet users to prevent the placement of cookies or to block other
tracking technologies, which could, if widely adopted, result in the use of third-party cookies and other methods of online tracking becoming significantly less effective. The
regulation of the use of these cookies and other current online tracking and advertising practices or a loss in our ability to make effective use of services that employ such
technologies could increase our
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costs of operations and limit our ability to acquire new students on cost-effective terms and consequently, materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
At least 35 states and the District of Columbia introduced or considered almost 200 consumer privacy bills in 2022. More and more states will continue to enact similar laws.
Proposed federal legislation, like the American Data Privacy and Protection Act, will likely continue to be debated and, at some point, enacted in some form.
Furthermore, judgments from foreign courts or regulatory actions of other foreign nations could impact our ability to transfer, process, and/or receive data relating to students
outside the United States, or alter our ability to use cookies to deliver advertising and other products to such users. Such judgments or actions could affect the manner in which
we provide services to our students or adversely affect our financial results if foreign students are not able to lawfully transfer data to us.
We strive to comply with all applicable laws, policies, legal obligations, and industry codes of conduct relating to privacy and data protection. However, U.S. federal, U.S. state,
and international laws and regulations regarding privacy and data protection, including the CCPA and CPRA are rapidly evolving and may be inconsistent and we could be
deemed out of compliance with such laws and their interpretations. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, such laws and regulations that are applicable to
our business operations may limit the use and adoption of our services and reduce overall demand for them. Furthermore, any changes in such laws and regulations or a change
or differing interpretation or application to our business of the existing laws and regulations, GDPR, could also hinder our operational flexibility, raise compliance costs and,
particularly if our compliance efforts are deemed to be insufficient, result in additional historical or future liabilities and regulatory scrutiny for us, resulting in adverse impacts
on our business and our results of operations.
Release of personally identifiable information or other confidential information could subject us to civil penalties or cause us to lose our eligibility to participate in
Title IV programs.
As educational institutions participating in federal and state student assistance programs and collecting financial receipts from students and their families, we collect and retain
certain personally identifiable information and other confidential information. Such information is subject to federal and state privacy and security rules, including the Family
Educational Rights to Privacy Act (“FERPA”), the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), and the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003
(“FACTA”). Release or failure to secure confidential information or other noncompliance with FERPA, HIPAA, FACTA or other similar laws could subject us to fines, loss of
our capacity to conduct Internet commerce, and loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, which could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
Jurisdictions, both nationally and internationally, are continuing to enact additional laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, information security,
marketing and advertising, and consumer protection, and compliance with one set of laws and regulations rarely suffice for compliance with another.
On March 2, 2021, the Governor of Virginia signed into law the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act (the “VCDPA”), which will go into effect on January 1, 2023. The
VCDPA, creates consumer rights, similar to the CCPA, but also imposes security and assessment requirements for businesses. That law applies to all persons that conduct
business in Virginia which (i) control or process personal data of at least 100,000 consumers, or, (ii) derive over 50% of gross revenue from the sale of personal data and control
or process personal data of at least 25,000 consumers. In addition, on July 7, 2021, Colorado enacted the Colorado Privacy Act (“CoCPA”), becoming the third comprehensive
consumer privacy law to be passed in the United States (after the CCPA and VCDPA), which will go into effect on July 1, 2023. This additional legislation addresses
consumers’ rights to privacy, companies’ responsibility to protect personal data, and authorizes the state to take enforcement action for violations. Although the CoCPA closely
resembles the VCDPA, both of which do not contain a private right of action and will instead be enforced by the respective states’ Attorney General and district attorneys, the
two differ in many ways and once they become enforceable in 2023, we must comply with each if our operations fall within the scope of these newly enacted comprehensive
mandates. Section 6(3) of a Connecticut statute signed May 10, 2022, states a data controller shall “establish, implement and maintain reasonable administrative, technical and
physical data security practices to protect the confidentiality, integrity and accessibility of personal data appropriate to the volume and nature of the personal data at issue.” The
effective date for that law is July 1, 2023. Utah’s Consumer Privacy Act provides consumers the right to know what personal data a business collects, how the business uses the
personal data, and whether the business sells the personal data. The effective date is December 31, 2023. Additionally, Maine recently enacted the Data Collection Protection
Act, creating the Maine Data Collection Protection Act, which prohibits data collectors from collecting and aggregating, selling, or using specific types of public documents or
information. Prior efforts undertaken to comply with other recent privacy-related laws have proven that
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these initiatives require time to carefully plan, assess gaps in current compliance mechanisms, and implement new policies, processes and remediation efforts.
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our business could be harmed.
In the ordinary course of our business, we develop intellectual property of many kinds that is or will be the subject of copyright, trademark, service mark, trade secret or other
protections. This intellectual property includes but is not limited to courseware materials, business know-how and internal processes and procedures developed to respond to the
requirements of operating and various education regulatory agencies. We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, domain names,
agreements and registrations to protect our intellectual property. We rely on service mark and trademark protection in the U.S. to protect our rights to the mark ASPEN
UNIVERSITY and the mark UNITED STATES UNIVERSITY as well as distinctive logos and other marks associated with our services. We rely on agreements under which
we obtain rights to use course content developed by faculty members and other third-party content experts. We cannot assure you that the measures that we take will be
adequate or that we have secured, or will be able to secure, appropriate protections for all of our proprietary rights in the U.S. or select foreign jurisdictions, or that third parties
will not infringe upon or violate our proprietary rights. Despite our efforts to protect these rights, unauthorized third parties may attempt to duplicate or copy the proprietary
aspects of our curricula, online resource material and other content, and offer competing programs to ours.
In particular, third parties may attempt to develop competing programs or duplicate or copy aspects of our curriculum, online resource material, quality management and other
proprietary content. Any such attempt, if successful, could adversely affect our business. Protecting these types of intellectual property rights can be difficult, particularly as it
relates to the development by our competitors of competing courses and programs.
We may encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property, and we may not prevail in these disputes. Third parties may raise a
claim against us alleging an infringement or violation of the intellectual property of that third-party.
If we are subject to intellectual property infringement claims, it could cause us to incur significant expenses and pay substantial damages.
Third parties may claim that we are infringing or violating their intellectual property rights. Any such claims could cause us to incur significant expenses and, if successfully
asserted against us, could require that we pay substantial damages and prevent us from using our intellectual property that may be fundamental to our business. Even if we were
to prevail, any litigation regarding the intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our
business operations.
If there is new tax treatment of companies engaged in Internet commerce, this may adversely affect the commercial use of our marketing services and our financial
results.
Due to the growing budgetary problems facing state and local governments, it is possible that governments might attempt to tax our activities. New or revised tax regulations
may subject us to additional sales, income and other taxes. In 2018 the United States Supreme Court ruled that states can tax the sale of goods sold to residents of their
respective state. In the wake of the Court’s decision, 45 states and the District of Columbia impose sales taxes on remote business. Although the effective date of these new state
taxes vary by state, all collection requirements are expected to be in effect by January 1, 2023. Moreover, the minimum thresholds for the taxes to apply varies by state and
ranges $100,000 and $500,000. In addition to monetary threshold requirements, some states also require transaction threshold requirements that range from 100 to 200
transactions. The decision also allows local governments to collect sales tax, per the United States Government Accountability Office; of the 45 states with sales tax 37 also have
local sales taxes.
While we are still evaluating the potential impact of these developments, including whether these states are intended to tax educational services, the new or revised tax
requirements are expected to increase the cost of doing business online which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition to the direct
added costs from any applicable taxes, we may need to establish systems and procedures to track the volume and monetary value of our course offerings and material sales on a
state-by-state basis, and, when necessary, collect and remit taxes on behalf of the states, and potentially consult with tax or other experts to monitor and oversee compliance
efforts with respect to certain state and local sales tax provisions, which can also be costly. These developments, including any potential failure by us to pay the required tax in a
state or locality in which we are deemed to do business, could have an adverse consequences on our operations and financial condition.
Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, fires, power outages, floods and other catastrophic events, any of which may adversely
affect our business and results of operations.
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Our business, including our brick and mortar campuses, may experience business interruptions resulting from natural disasters such as earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes,
floods, fires or significant power outages. In addition to our largest office facility and two locations in Phoenix, AZ, we presently have locations in San Diego, CA, Austin, TX,
Tampa, FL, Nashville, TN, and Atlanta, GA, which are susceptible to weather related problems. These events could cause us to close schools — temporarily or permanently —
and could affect student recruiting opportunities in those locations, causing enrollment and revenue to decline, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
If our goodwill and intangible assets on our consolidated balance sheet arising from the USU acquisition become impaired, it would require us to record a material
charge to earnings in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
As a result of our acquisition of USU, we recorded approximately $5 million of goodwill and $7.9 million of intangible assets which are currently shown as assets on our
consolidated balance sheet at April 30, 2022. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) require us to test our goodwill and intangible assets for impairment on an
annual basis, or more frequently if indicators for potential impairment exist. The testing required by GAAP involves estimates and judgments by management. Although we
believe our assumptions and estimates are reasonable and appropriate, any changes in key assumptions, including a failure to meet business plans or other unanticipated events
and circumstances, may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates. If in the future we determine that an impairment exists, we may be required to record a material charge
to earnings in our consolidated financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or intangible assets is determined.
Risks Related to the Regulation of Our Industry
If we fail to comply with the extensive regulatory requirements for our business, we could face penalties and significant restrictions on our operations, including loss
of access to Title IV Program funds.
We are subject to extensive regulation by (1) the federal government through the DOE under the HEA/HEOA, (2) state regulatory bodies and (3) accrediting agencies
recognized by the DOE, including the DEAC and WSCUC, institutional accrediting agencies recognized by the DOE. In addition, the U.S. Department of Defense and the U.S.
Department of Veterans Affairs regulate our participation in the military’s tuition assistance program and the VA’s veteran's education benefits program, respectively. The laws,
regulations, standards and policies of these agencies cover the vast majority of our operations, including our educational programs, facilities, instructional and administrative
staff, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, financial operations and financial condition. These regulatory requirements can also affect our ability to add new or
expand existing educational programs and to change our corporate structure and ownership.
Institutions of higher education that grant degrees, diplomas, or certificates must be authorized by an appropriate state education agency or agencies. In addition, in certain
states, as a condition of continued authorization to grant degrees, a school must be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education.
Accreditation is a non-governmental process through which an institution submits to qualitative review by an organization of peer institutions, based on the standards of the
accrediting agency and the stated aims and purposes of the institution. Accreditation is also required in order to participate in various federal programs, including tuition
assistance programs of the United States Armed Forces and the federal programs of student financial assistance administered pursuant to Title IV of the Higher Education Act.
The Higher Education Act and its implementing regulations require accrediting agencies recognized by the DOE to review and monitor many aspects of an institution’s
operations and to take appropriate action when the institution fails to comply with the accrediting agency’s standards.
Our operations are also subject to regulation due to our participation in Title IV Programs which are administered by the DOE and include loans made directly to students by the
DOE and several grant programs for students with economic need as determined in accordance with the HEOA and the DOE regulations. To participate in Title IV Programs, a
school must receive and maintain authorization by the appropriate state education agencies, be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of
Education and be certified as an eligible institution by the DOE. Our growth strategy is partly dependent on being able to offer financial assistance through Title IV Programs as
it may increase the number of potential students who may choose to enroll in our programs. Our highest long-term value program, Aspen University’s BSN Pre-Licensure
nursing program, which only offers a monthly payment program for the first year of each program, make these students dependent upon Title IV or other payment options in
order to continue their education.
The laws, regulations, standards, and policies of the DOE, state education agencies, and our accrediting agencies change frequently particularly when there is a change in the
U.S. President. Pending changes in, or new interpretations of, applicable
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laws, regulations, standards, or policies, or our noncompliance with any applicable laws, regulations, standards, or policies, could have a material adverse effect on our
accreditation, authorization to operate in various states, activities, receipt of funds under tuition assistance programs of the United States Armed Forces, our ability to participate
in Title IV Programs, receipt of veterans education benefits funds, or costs of doing business. Findings of noncompliance with these laws, regulations, standards and policies
also could result in our being required to pay monetary damages, or subjected to fines, penalties, injunctions, limitations on our operations, termination of our ability to grant
degrees, revocation of our accreditation, restrictions on or loss of our access to Title IV Program funds or other censure that could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
If we do not maintain authorization in Arizona, Florida, Texas, Tennessee, Georgia and California and future states where we plan to have campuses, our operations
would be curtailed, and we would not be able to grant degrees.
Aspen University is headquartered in Arizona and is authorized by the Arizona Board to grant degrees, diplomas or certificates. Aspen’s BSN Pre-Licensure hybrid program is
authorized by the Texas Board, Tennessee Commission, Georgia Commission and Florida Commission. If Aspen were to lose its authorization from the Arizona Board, Texas
Board, Tennessee Commission, Georgia Commission or Florida Commission, Aspen would be unable to provide educational services in Arizona, Texas, Tennessee, Georgia
and Florida and would lose its access to accreditation and eligibility to participate in the Title IV Programs. USU is headquartered in California and is authorized by the
California Bureau to grant degrees, diplomas or certificates. If USU were to lose its authorization from the California Bureau or Arizona Board, it would be unable to provide
educational services in California and would lose access to accreditation and its eligibility to participate in the Title IV Programs. See the risk factor relating to our operations in
Arizona at page 23.
Our failure to comply with regulations of various states could have a material adverse effect on our enrollments, revenues, and results of operations.
Various states impose regulatory requirements on education institutions operating within their boundaries. Many states assert jurisdiction over online education institutions that
have no physical location or other presence in the state but offer education services to students who reside in the state or advertise to or recruit prospective students in the state.
State regulatory requirements for online education are inconsistent among states and not well developed in many jurisdictions. As such, these requirements change frequently
and, in some instances, are not clear or are left to the discretion of state regulators.
State laws typically establish standards for instruction, qualifications of faculty, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, financial operations, and other operational
matters. To the extent that we have obtained, or obtain in the future, state authorizations or licensure, changes in state laws and regulations and the interpretation of those laws
and regulations by the applicable regulators may limit our ability to offer educational programs and award degrees. Some states may also prescribe financial regulations that are
different from those of the DOE. If we fail to comply with state licensing or authorization requirements, we may be subject to the loss of state licensure or authorization. If we
fail to comply with state requirements to obtain licensure or authorization, we may be the subject of injunctive actions or other penalties or fines. Loss of licensure or
authorization or the failure to obtain required licensures or authorizations could prohibit us from recruiting or enrolling students in particular states, reduce significantly our
enrollments and revenues and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
In addition, the DOE’s 2016 regulations for distance education ultimately took effect on May 26, 2019. On November 1, 2019, the Department issued the Final Regulations on
accreditation and the authorization of distance education, which took effect July 1, 2020. Like the 2016 regulations, the Final Regulations require us to (i) obtain authorization
to offer our programs from each state where authorization is required or through participation in a reciprocity agreement, and (ii) provide specific consumer disclosures
regarding our educational programs, including both general and direct disclosures to current and prospective students relating to professional licensure and whether the
curriculum for on-ground and online professional licensure or certification programs meet states’ educational requirements for licensure. If we fail to obtain required state
authorization to provide postsecondary distance education in a specific state, we could lose our ability to award Title IV aid to students within that state or be required to refund
Title IV funds related to jurisdictions in which we failed to have state authorization. We must be able to document state approval for distance education if requested by the
DOE. In addition, effective with the DOE’s new state authorization regulations in effect as of July 1, 2020, the consumer disclosures required pursuant to the distance education
rule are detailed and include disclosures regarding licensure and certification requirements, state authorization, student complaints, adverse actions by state and accreditation
agencies, and refund policies. These disclosure requirements will require a considerable amount of data gathering needed to support such disclosures and will require our
institutions to closely track where students enrolled in online programs are located during the course of their studies. These various disclosure requirements could subject us to
financial penalties from the DOE and heightened the risk of potential federal and private misrepresentation claims.
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Moreover, in the event we are found not to be in compliance with a state’s new or existing requirements for offering distance education within that state, the state could seek to
restrict one or more of our business activities within its boundaries, we may not be able to recruit students from that state, and we may have to cease providing service to
students in that state. In addition, a state may impose penalties on an institution for failure to comply with state requirements related to an institution’s activities in a state,
including the delivery of distance education to persons in that state. In addition, if Aspen University is unable to re-join or is found not to be in compliance with applicable
eligibility criteria, including requirements related to financial responsibility that require institutions to maintain a composite score of 1.0 or higher, Aspen University could
become ineligible to participate in interstate reciprocity programs such as SARA. Even if Aspen University again participates in SARA as discussed on Page 8, if Aspen
University fails to meet such eligibility criteria and can no longer participate in SARA or similar programs, Aspen University would need to comply with each state’s
requirements for offering distance education in that state, which could lead to disruptions in enrollments and operations and additional costs while Aspen University obtains any
necessary authorizations. Further, the required criteria could be altered in a manner rendering it more costly or difficult for us to comply, which would jeopardize our ability to
operate as we have historically or as planned.
If the DOE determines that borrowers of federal student loans who attended our institutions have a defense to repayment of their federal student loans, our
institution’s repayment liability to the DOE could have a material adverse effect on our enrollments, revenues and results of operations.
The DOE’s 2016 BDTR regulations, effective for federal Direct Loans disbursed between July 1, 2017, and June 30, 2020, as well as the new 2019 BDTR Rule, effective for
loans disbursed after July 1, 2020, as well as the anticipated 2022 version of the BDTR, provide borrowers of loans under the Direct Loan program a defense against repayment
under certain circumstances outlined in each rule. In the event the borrower’s defense against repayment is successful, DOE has the authority to discharge all or part of the
student’s obligation to repay the loan and may require the institution to repay to DOE the amount of the loan to which the defense applies.
Under the 2016 BDTR Rule, there are three grounds for a borrower defense to repayment claim, for loans disbursed between July 1, 2017 and June 30, 2020: (1) the student
borrower obtained a state or federal court judgment against the institution; (2) the institution failed to perform on a contract with the student; and/or (3) the institution committed
a “substantial misrepresentation” on which the borrower reasonably relied to his or her detriment. Claims based on a court judgment or claims to assert a defense against loan
payments that are still due can be made any time (with no statute of limitations), while other claims (such as to recoup loan funds already repaid to DOE) must be made within
six years. For loans disbursed after July 1, 2020, the basis for a BDTR claim will be limited to a misrepresentation claim, under the DOE’s 2020 definition, and generally, the
claim must be made within three years of the borrower’s last date of enrollment. As noted under “Regulations” on page 13, the 2022 version of the Rule is currently with
OIRA/OMB and is not public. However, based on information available to us regarding the 2021 negotiations we believe that the new BDTR rule will likely expand the bases
for borrower claims to include the original three bases from the 2016 BDTR Rule, as well as additional bases. Additionally, DOE indicated it wanted to apply the new BDTR
rules to all borrower defense claims to alleviate the challenge of trying to process claims under multiple versions of the Rule. The DOE also indicated it planned to update
definitions, reinstitute the group claim process, and remove all statutes of limitations on borrower claims, as long as borrowers still have an outstanding balance on a Direct
Loan.
Claim resolution process: Under the 2016 Rule, the DOE has also given itself authority to process claims on a group basis, and to take the initiative to create groups and include
borrowers who have not filed a claim. Borrowers who file successful claims may have their loans forgiven in whole or in part, with the DOE reserving the right to calculate the
amount of forgiveness in various ways. As noted above, the 2019 BDTR Rule removed the group claim option, and the discussion proposal provided during negotiated
rulemaking in late 2021 would add the group claim process back into the Rule.
For debts relieved for individual borrowers, the prior regulations and the pending proposal give the DOE the authority to initiate a proceeding to seek repayment from the
institution for any loan amounts forgiven.
If the DOE determines that borrowers of Direct Loan program loans who attended Aspen University or USU have a defense to repayment of their Direct Loan program loans
based on our acts or omissions, the repayment liability to the DOE could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In
addition, excessive BDTR claims could become a “financial trigger” under the Financial Responsibility regulations, based on the proposal discussed during negotiated
rulemaking. In such circumstances, the DOE could determine that we are not financially responsible, resulting in a requirement that we post an additional letter of credit,
possible negative impacts on the status of our Title IV program participation agreement, additional reporting, growth limitations, and a change to a more stringent funding
process, such as Heightened Cash Monitoring II or “reimbursement.”
The financial responsibility regulations include numerous operational or financial events that would potentially indicate that the institution will have difficulty meeting its
financial or administrative obligations. If one of the enumerated triggering events
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occur, the institution is required to report to DOE according to the reporting requirements included in the regulation. We fully expect the list of triggers will grow substantially in
the anticipated 2022 BDTR Rule.
For certain of the triggers, the DOE assesses the potential liability or fiscal impact reported and recalculates the institution’s composite score. If the institution’s composite
score drops below 1.0, the DOE may require the institution to provide additional surety to continue Title IV participation. The regulations (both current and expected) also
include “discretionary trigger” events or conditions that institutions must report, and which the DOE will review to determine whether they are reasonably likely to have a
materially adverse effect on the institution’s fiscal or operational condition.
If based on these events and the DOE’s assessment, it is determined that the institution is not financially responsible, DOE will require the institution to become provisionally
certified and post a letter of credit in an amount specified, generally at least 10% of the Title IV funds received in the most recent fiscal year. The institution and the DOE may
also agree to an offset of the institution's future Title IV funds for six to 12 months until the DOE is able to capture the amount of the surety required.
If Aspen University or USU were to experience an event that the DOE determines is an indication that either institution is not financially responsible, we could be forced to post
letter(s) of credit which could have material adverse effects on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The 2016 BDTR Rule had included a prohibition on mandatory pre-dispute arbitration clauses and class action waivers as means to resolve a borrower defense-related claim
(meaning related to the making of a Direct Loan or the educational services for which the Direct Loan was issued). Under the 2016 Rule, institutions were required to amend
their arbitration and class action waiver agreements to include mandatory DOE language, and to provide notice to students under previous (non-compliant) versions of these
agreements that the institution would not compel the borrower to arbitrate their claim or waive the right to join a class action for similar types of claims. Students who borrowed
through the Direct Loan program between July 1, 2017 and June 30, 2020 cannot be compelled to bring an action in arbitration or waive their right to be a member of a class
action lawsuit against Aspen University or USU, if the basis of the borrower’s claim is rooted in the making of the Direct Loan or the educational services it paid for. In
addition, under the 2016 Rule, institutions were required to report and provide DOE with arbitral and judicial records when a student files a borrower defense-related claim.
Under the 2019 BDTR Rule, which became effective on July 1, 2020, pre-dispute arbitration agreements and class action waivers are no longer prohibited. Institutions that opt
to use these types of agreements will be required to provide “plain language” disclosures that explain arbitration and class action, and make those disclosures publicly available
on the institution’s admission webpage.
During the 2021 negotiated rulemaking, the DOE indicated its intent to reinstate the 2016 prohibition on the use of pre-dispute arbitration and class actions waivers as
enrollment contract conditions. It is unclear whether this proposal was included in the packages that have been sent to OIRA/OMB, as it was negotiated separately instead of as
an element of the BDTR rules, as had been the case in prior rounds.
If we fail to maintain our institutional accreditations, we would lose our ability to participate in the tuition assistance programs of the U.S. Armed Forces and also to
participate in Title IV Programs.
Aspen University is accredited by the DEAC and USU is accredited by WSCUC. Both the DEAC and WSCUC are institutional accreditors and recognized by the U.S.
Secretary of Education for Title IV purposes. Accreditation by an accrediting agency that is recognized by the Secretary of Education is required for an institution to become
and remain eligible to participate in Title IV Programs as well as in the tuition assistance programs of the United States Armed Forces. The DEAC or WSCUC may impose
restrictions on our accreditation or may terminate our accreditation. To remain accredited, we must continuously meet certain criteria and standards relating to, among other
things, performance, governance, institutional integrity, educational quality, faculty qualification, administrative capability, resources and financial stability. Failure to meet any
of these criteria or standards could result in the loss of accreditation at the discretion of the accrediting agency. The loss of accreditation would, among other things, render our
students and us ineligible to participate in the tuition assistance programs of the U.S. Armed Forces or Title IV Programs and have a material adverse effect on our enrollments,
revenues and results of operations. In addition, although the loss of accreditation by one school would not necessarily result in the loss of accreditation by the other school, the
accreditor may consider the loss of accreditation by one school as a factor in considering the on-going qualification for accreditation of the other school.
Because we participate in Title IV Programs, our failure to comply with the complex regulations associated with Title IV Programs would have a significant adverse
effect on our operations and prospects for growth.
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Aspen University and USU participate in Title IV Programs. Compliance with the requirements of the Higher Education Act and Title IV Programs is highly complex and
imposes significant additional regulatory requirements on our operations, which require additional staff, contractual arrangements, systems and regulatory costs. We have a
limited demonstrated history of compliance with these additional regulatory requirements. If we fail to comply with any of these additional regulatory requirements, the DOE
could, among other things, impose monetary penalties, place limitations on our ability to access Title IV funds, and/or condition or terminate the eligibility of one or both of our
schools to receive Title IV Program funds, which would limit our potential for growth and materiality and adversely affect our enrollment, revenues and results of operations. In
addition, the failure to comply with the Title IV Program requirements by one institution could increase the DOE's scrutiny of the other institution and could impact the other
institution’s participation in the Title IV Programs.
We must regularly reestablish our eligibility and certification to participate in the Title IV Programs, and there are no assurances that the DOE will recertify us to
participate in the Title IV Programs.
An institution generally must seek re-certification from the DOE at least every six years and possibly more frequently depending on various factors. In certain circumstances,
the DOE provisionally certifies an institution to participate in Title IV Programs, such as when it is an initial participant in Title IV Programs or has undergone a change in
ownership and control.
On May 14, 2019, United States University was granted temporary provisional approval to participate in the Title IV Programs and had a program participation agreement
reapplication date of December 31, 2020, which it met. As part of the provisional approval, USU posted a letter of credit in the amount of $255,708 which was funded by AGI.
USU was notified that amount would be reduced to $9,872 and that the reduced amount would remain in effect for the duration of the provisional approval. On May 6, 2022, the
DOE fully certified USU and issued a new Program Participation Agreement, effective through December 31, 2025, thereby removing the provisional status of its participation.
USU is working with the DOE to address the outstanding LOC.
Under provisional certification, an institution must obtain prior DOE approval to add an educational program or make other significant changes and may be subject to closer
scrutiny by the DOE. In addition, if the DOE determines that a provisionally certified institution is unable to meet its responsibilities to comply with the Title IV requirements,
the DOE may revoke the institution’s certification to participate in the Title IV Programs without advance notice or opportunity to challenge the action.
If the DOE does not ultimately approve an institution's recertification to participate in Title IV Programs, students would no longer be able to receive Title IV Program funds. If
this scenario were to affect us, it would have a material adverse effect on our enrollments, revenues and results of operations. In addition, regulatory restraints related to the
addition of new programs or substantive change of existing programs or imposition of an additional letter of credit could impair our ability to attract and retain students and
could negatively affect our financial results.
Because the DOE may conduct compliance reviews of us, we may be subject to adverse actions and future litigation which could affect our ability to offer Title IV
student loans.
Because we operate in a highly regulated industry, we are subject to compliance reviews and claims of non-compliance and lawsuits by government agencies, regulatory
agencies, and third parties, including claims brought by third parties on behalf of the federal government. If the results of compliance reviews or other proceedings are
unfavorable to us, or if we are unable to defend successfully against lawsuits or claims, we may be required to pay monetary damages or be subject to fines, limitations, loss of
Title IV funding, injunctions or other penalties, including the requirement to make refunds. Even if we adequately address issues raised by any compliance review or
successfully defend a lawsuit or claim, we may have to divert significant financial and management resources from our ongoing business operations to address issues raised by
those reviews or to defend against those lawsuits or claims. Claims and lawsuits brought against us may damage our reputation, even if such claims and lawsuits are without
merit.
If the percentage of our revenues derived from Title IV Programs is too high, we could lose our ability to participate in Title IV Programs.
Under the Higher Education Act, an institution is subject to loss of eligibility to participate in the Title IV Programs if, on a cash accounting basis, it derives more than 90% of
its fiscal year revenue from Title IV Program funds, for two consecutive fiscal years. This rule is known as the 90/10 rule. Our online programs are well below this threshold
due to our monthly payment plans. However, our BSN Pre-Licensure hybrid campus/online nursing program tuition is too high to justify use of our monthly payment plans.
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An institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single fiscal year is placed on provisional certification for at least two fiscal years and may be subject to other conditions
specified by the U.S. Secretary of Education. We must monitor compliance with the 90/10 rule by both Aspen University and USU. Failure to comply with the 90/10 rule for one
fiscal year may result in restrictions on the amounts of Title IV funds that may be distributed to students; restrictions on expansion; requirements related to letters of credit or
any other restrictions imposed by the DOE. Failure to comply with the 90/10 rule for one year is also considered a triggering event under the BDTR Rules. Additionally, if we
fail to comply with the 90/10 rule for two consecutive years, we will be ineligible to participate in Title IV Programs and any disbursements of Title IV Program funds made
while ineligible must be repaid to the DOE.
The 90/10 Rule was recently changed as part of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARP”), but the effective date of this change is not yet established. Under a provision in
ARP, the HEA would be modified to change the formula from counting only Title IV program funds on the “90 side” to include instead all ‘‘federal funds that are disbursed or
delivered to or on behalf of a student to be used to attend such institution” or collectively “federal education assistance funds.” This is a substantial change, and the impact is not
entirely clear, in part because it is unclear whether other federal funds, such as Department of Defense Military Tuition Assistance program, Workforce Innovation and
Opportunity Act and Trade Adjustment Assistance, will be included in the new definition, despite not being discussed as an impetus for the change. In the final language of the
ARP, the new 90/10 provision will be subject to negotiated rulemaking after October 2021, with an earliest effective date in fiscal years starting on or after January 1, 2023.
The 90/10 Rule was one of the few items during the 2021/2022 Negotiated Rulemaking that reached consensus; however, the proposed rule is currently with OIRA/OMB and is
not yet public. The changes agreed to by the negotiators did not clearly address how federal funds through programs outside of those available to veterans and the military
would be counted, but it was clear that the intent is for GI Bill and any funds provided by the Department of Defense to be moved to the “90 side” of the equation.
Due to scrutiny of the sector, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress that would revise the requirements of the 90/10 rule to be stricter, including proposals that
would reduce the 90% maximum under the rule to 85%. Despite the recent change in ARP, it is possible that additional legislative proposals could further amend the 90/10 rule.
If our competitors are subject to further regulatory claims and adverse publicity, it may affect our industry and reduce our future enrollment.
We are one of a number of for-profit institutions serving the postsecondary education market. In recent years, regulatory investigations and civil litigation have been
commenced against several companies that own for-profit educational institutions. These investigations and lawsuits have alleged, among other things, deceptive trade practices
and non-compliance with the DOE regulations. These allegations have attracted adverse media coverage and have been the subject of federal and state legislative hearings.
Although the media, regulatory and legislative focus has been primarily on the allegations made against specific companies, broader allegations against the overall for-profit
school sector may negatively affect public perceptions of other for-profit educational institutions, including Aspen University and USU. In addition, in recent years, reports on
student lending practices of various lending institutions and schools, including for-profit schools, and investigations by a number of state attorneys general, Congress and
governmental agencies have led to adverse media coverage of postsecondary education. For example, large competitors such as ITT Technical Institute and Corinthian Colleges
sold or shut down their schools due to substantial regulatory investigations and the DOE actions. Adverse media coverage regarding other companies in the for-profit school
sector or regarding Aspen University or USU directly could damage our reputation, could result in lower enrollments, revenues and operating profit, and could have a negative
impact on our stock price. Such allegations could also result in increased scrutiny and regulation by the DOE, Congress, accrediting bodies, state legislatures or other
governmental authorities with respect to all for-profit institutions, including Aspen University and USU.
Due to new regulations or congressional action or reduction in funding for Title IV Programs, our future enrollment may be reduced and costs of compliance
increased.
The Higher Education Act comes up for reauthorization by Congress approximately every five to six years. When Congress does not act on complete reauthorization, there are
typically amendments and extensions of authorization. Additionally, Congress reviews and determines appropriations for Title IV Programs on an annual basis through the
budget and appropriations process. There is no assurance that Congress will not in the future enact changes that decrease Title IV Program funds available to students, including
students who attend our institutions. Any action by Congress that significantly reduces funding for Title IV Programs or the ability of our schools or students to participate in
these programs would require us to arrange for other sources of financial aid and would materially decrease our enrollment. Such a decrease in enrollment would
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have a material adverse effect on our revenues and results of operations. Congressional action may also require us to modify our practices in ways that could result in increased
administrative and regulatory costs and decreased profit margin.
Further, there has been growing regulatory action and investigations of for-profit companies that offer online education. We are not in a position to predict with certainty
whether any legislation will be passed by Congress or signed into law in the future. The reallocation of funding among Title IV Programs, material changes in the requirements
for participation in such programs, or the substitution of materially different Title IV Programs could reduce the ability of students to finance their education at our institutions
and adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.
If our efforts to comply with the DOE regulations are inconsistent with how the DOE interprets those provisions, either due to insufficient time to implement the necessary
changes, uncertainty about the meaning of the rules, or otherwise, we may be found to be in noncompliance with such provisions and the DOE could impose monetary
penalties, place limitations on our ability to access Title IV funds, and/or condition or terminate the eligibility of our schools to receive Title IV Program funds. We cannot
predict with certainty the effect the new and impending regulatory provisions will have on our business.
Because we are subject to sanctions if we fail to calculate correctly and return timely Title IV Program funds for students who stop participating before completing
their educational program, our future operating results may be adversely affected.
A school participating in Title IV Programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV Program funds that have been disbursed to students who withdraw or
reduce their enrollment status in their educational programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in a timely manner, generally within 45 days after the date
the school determines that the student has withdrawn. Under the DOE regulations, institutions that use the last day of attendance in an academically related activity must
determine the relevant date based on accurate institutional records (not a student’s certificate of attendance). This definition was further refined in the September 2, 2020, Final
Rule and for online classes, “academic attendance” means engaging in an academically-related activity, such as participating in an asynchronous class through an online
discussion, a study group, an interactive tutorial, or initiating contact with a faculty member to ask an academic question; simply logging into an online class does not constitute
“academic attendance” for purposes of the return of funds requirements or engagement in an academic course. The September 2, 2020 Final Rule also included an update to the
determination of a withdrawn student and the calculation of a refund under a term-based modular calendar. Under the DOE regulations, late return of Title IV Program funds for
5% or more of students sampled in connection with the institution’s annual compliance audit or a program review constitutes material non-compliance. If unearned funds are not
properly calculated and timely returned, we may have to repay Title IV funds, post a letter of credit in favor of the DOE or otherwise be sanctioned by the DOE, which could
increase our cost of regulatory compliance and adversely affect our results of operations. This may have an impact on our systems, our future operations and cash flows. There
is a risk that there may be a misinterpretation of these new rules resulting in late or incorrectly calculated refunds. After we acquired USU, we learned that its predecessor failed
to comply with the prior Rule. As a result, we were required to post a $71,634 letter of credit which has been reduced to $9,872.
If we fail to ensure that the delivery of our distance education programs supports regular and substantive interaction between students and instructors, our distance
education programs could be considered “correspondence courses” which could make those programs ineligible to participate in the Title IV Programs.
The DOE distinguishes between distance education and correspondence courses. Distance education involves the delivery of instruction to students who are separated from the
instructor, which supports regular and substantive interaction between the students and the instructor, and this is a key distinguishing feature of a distance education course.
Correspondence courses do not involve regular and substantive interaction between the students and the instructor. An institution is not eligible to participate in the Title IV
Programs if 50% or more of its students were enrolled in correspondence courses or more than 50% of its courses are correspondence during its latest completed award year,
making it important for the schools’ distance education to involve regular and substantive interaction. If Aspen and USU distance education courses do not include sufficient
documented regular and substantive interaction, they could be considered correspondence courses, and we would need to refund all Title IV aid received by the university back
to the start of the award year after the 50% threshold was reached.
New regulations focused on regular and substantive interaction, as well as other elements of distance education, became effective on July 1, 2021. Included in those regulations
were updated definitions, including an amendment to the definition of distance education, and examples of what the DOE will consider sufficiently regular, i.e. scheduled,
interactions with faculty, academic engagement, and assessment and monitoring of student success. The updates did not require us to make material changes to our
programs or delivery methodology.
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If we fail to demonstrate “financial responsibility,” Aspen University and USU may lose their eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs or be required to post a
letter of credit in order to maintain eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs.
To participate in Title IV Programs, an eligible institution must satisfy specific measures of financial responsibility prescribed by the DOE, or post a letter of credit in favor of
the DOE and possibly accept other conditions, such as additional reporting requirements or regulatory oversight, on its participation in Title IV Programs. Effective July 1,
2020, the DOE has updated the triggering events and factors it considers when evaluating whether an institution is financially responsible, which may render compliance more
difficult or costly in the future, and we expect that the current rulemaking process will yield additional factors that the DOE will consider in its assessment of financial
responsibility; however, as noted above, the financial responsibility regulatory package is not expected to be completed in time for a July 2023 effective date. The DOE may
also apply its measures of financial responsibility to the operating company and ownership entities of an eligible institution and, if such measures are not satisfied by the
operating company or ownership entities, require the institution to meet alternative standards for continued participation in the Title IV Programs. Any of these alternative
standards would increase our costs of regulatory compliance. If we were unable to meet these alternative standards, we would lose our eligibility to participate in Title IV
Programs. If we fail to demonstrate financial responsibility and thus lose our eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs, our students would lose access to Title IV Program
funds for use in our institutions, which would limit our potential for growth and adversely affect our enrollment, revenues and results of operations.
If we fail to demonstrate “administrative capability,” we may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs.
The DOE regulations specify extensive criteria an institution must satisfy to establish that it has the requisite “administrative capability” to participate in Title IV Programs. If
an institution fails to satisfy any of these criteria or comply with any other DOE regulations, the DOE may require the repayment of Title IV funds, transfer the institution from
the “advance” system of payment of Title IV funds to cash monitoring status or to the “reimbursement” system of payment, place the institution on provisional certification
status, or commence a proceeding to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate the participation of the institution in Title IV Programs.
Administrative capability was also a topic in the 2021/2022 rulemaking process. The issue paper discussed by negotiators included substantial updates to these provisions,
including additional requirements around financial aid counseling and disbursement of funds, compliance with other areas of the HEA and Title IV regulations such as GE,
BDTR, and 90/10, ensuring appropriate documentation of high school completion, ensuring sufficient clinical placements for students requiring such training, and offering
career services to students enrolled in GE programs. This package is not yet at OIRA/OMB, as far as we know, and any text developed for a proposed rule is not yet public. We
expect the DOE will try to submit this proposed rule to the appropriate White Offices soon, in an attempt to meet the Master Calendar timeline.
If we are found not to have satisfied the DOE’s “administrative capability” requirements, we could be limited in our access to, or lose, Title IV Program funding, which would
limit our potential for growth and adversely affect our enrollment, revenues and results of operations.
Because we rely on third parties to assist us in administering our participation in Title IV Programs, their failure to comply with applicable regulations could cause
one or both of our schools to lose their eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs.
We rely on third-party assistance to comply with the complex administration of participation in Title IV Programs for our schools. Third parties assist us with the administration
of our participation in Title IV Programs, and if one or both do not comply with applicable regulations, we may be liable for their actions and we could lose our eligibility to
participate in Title IV Programs. In addition, if the third-party servicers are no longer able to provide their services to us, we may not be able to replace one or both in a timely or
cost-efficient manner, or at all, and we could lose our ability to comply with the requirements of Title IV Programs, which would limit our potential for growth and adversely
affect our enrollment, revenues and results of operation.
If we pay impermissible commissions, bonuses or other incentive payments to individuals involved in recruiting, admissions or financial aid activities, we will be
subject to sanctions.
A school participating in Title IV Programs may not provide any commission, bonus or other incentive payment based, directly or indirectly, on success in enrolling students or
securing financial aid to any person involved in student recruiting or admission activities or in making decisions regarding the awarding of Title IV Program funds. If we pay a
bonus, commission, or other incentive payment in violation of applicable DOE rules, we could be subject to sanctions, which could have a material adverse
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effect on our business. The incentive payment rule and related uncertainty as to how it will be interpreted also may influence our approach, or limit our alternatives, with
respect to employment policies and practices and consequently may affect negatively our ability to recruit and retain employees, and as a result our business could be materially
and adversely affected.
In addition, the GAO has issued a report critical of the DOE’s enforcement of the incentive payment rule, and the DOE has undertaken to increase its enforcement efforts. If the
DOE determines that an institution violated the incentive payment rule, it may require the institution to modify its payment arrangements to the DOE’s satisfaction. The DOE
may also fine the institution or initiate action to limit, suspend, or terminate the institution’s participation in the Title IV Programs. The DOE may also seek to recover Title IV
funds disbursed in connection with the prohibited incentive payments. In addition, third parties may file “qui tam” or “whistleblower” suits on behalf of the DOE alleging
violation of the incentive payment provision. Such suits may prompt the DOE investigations. Particularly in light of the uncertainty surrounding the incentive payment rule, the
existence of, the costs of responding to, and the outcome of, qui tam or whistleblower suits or the DOE investigations could have a material adverse effect on our reputation
causing our enrollments to decline and could cause us to incur costs that are material to our business, among other things. As a result, our business could be materially and
adversely affected.
If their student loan default rates are too high, our schools may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs.
The DOE regulations provide that an institution’s participation in Title IV Programs ends when historical default rates reach a certain level in a single year or for a number of
years. Because of our limited experience enrolling students who are participating in these programs, we have limited historical default rate information. Relatively few students
are expected to enter the repayment phase in the near term, which could result in defaults by a few students having a relatively large impact on our default rate. If Aspen
University or USU loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs because of high student loan default rates, our students would no longer be eligible to use Title IV
Program funds in our institution, which would significantly reduce our enrollments and revenues and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition,
high default rates were included in the updated list of “financial triggers” as well as an element of administrative capability, discussed during negotiated rulemaking.
If either institutional accrediting agency loses recognition by the U.S. Secretary of Education or we fail to maintain institutional accreditation for Aspen University
and USU, we may lose our ability to participate in Title IV Programs.
Increased regulatory scrutiny of accrediting agencies and their accreditation of universities is likely to continue. While Aspen University and USU are each accredited by a
DOE-recognized accrediting body, if the DOE were to limit, suspend, or terminate either accreditor’s recognition that institution could lose its ability to participate in the Title
IV Programs. If we were unable to rely on accreditation in such circumstances, among other things, our students and our institution would be ineligible to participate in the Title
IV Programs, and such consequence would have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues and results of operations. In addition, increased scrutiny of accrediting
agencies by the Secretary of Education in connection with the DOE’s recognition process may result in increased scrutiny of institutions by accrediting agencies.
Furthermore, based on continued scrutiny of the for-profit education sector, it is possible that accrediting bodies will respond by adopting additional criteria, standards and
policies that are intended to monitor, regulate or limit the growth of for-profit institutions like Aspen University and USU. Actions by, or relating to, an accredited institution,
including any change in the legal status, form of control, or ownership/management of the institution, any significant changes in the institution’s financial position, or any
significant growth or decline in enrollment and/or programs, could open up an accredited institution to additional reviews by the applicable accreditor.
If we fail to comply with the DOE’s substantial misrepresentation rules, it could result in sanctions against our schools.
The DOE may take action against an institution in the event of substantial misrepresentation by the institution concerning the nature of its educational programs, its financial
charges or the employability of its graduates. In 2011, the DOE expanded the activities that constitute a substantial misrepresentation. Under the DOE regulations, an institution
engages in substantial misrepresentation when the institution itself, one of its representatives, or an organization or person with which the institution has an agreement to
provide educational programs, marketing, advertising, or admissions services, makes a substantial misrepresentation directly or indirectly to a student, prospective student or
any member of the public, or to an accrediting agency, a state agency, or to the Secretary of Education. The regulations define misrepresentation as any false, erroneous or
misleading statement, and they define a misleading statement as any statement that has the likelihood or tendency to deceive or confuse. The regulations define substantial
misrepresentation as any misrepresentation on which the person to whom it was made could reasonably be expected to rely, or has reasonably relied, to the person’s detriment.
If the DOE determines that an institution has engaged in substantial misrepresentation, the DOE may revoke an institution’s program participation agreement, impose
limitations on an institution’s participation in the Title IV Programs, deny participation applications made on behalf of
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the institution, or initiate a proceeding against the institution to fine the institution or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution’s participation in the Title IV Programs. We
expect that there could be an increase in our industry of administrative actions and litigation claiming substantial misrepresentation, which at a minimum would increase legal
costs associated with defending such actions, and as a result our business could be materially and adversely affected.
If we fail to comply with the DOE’s credit hour requirements, it could result in sanctions against our schools.
The DOE has defined “credit hour" for Title IV purposes. However, the definition of a credit hour is different for degree and non-degree programs that do not transfer to a
degree. The credit hour is used for Title IV purposes to define an eligible program and an academic year and to determine enrollment status and the amount of Title IV aid that
an institution may disburse for students in a particular program. The regulations define credit hour for a degree program as an institutionally established equivalency that
reasonably approximates certain specified time in class and out of class and an equivalent amount of work for other academic activities, which may be reviewed by the
institution's accreditor. For non-degree programs that do not transfer to a degree program, the DOE regulations provide a specific formula for the calculation of a credit hour
based on the number of clock hours in a course. The DOE has indicated that if it finds an institution to be out of compliance with the credit hour definition for Title IV purposes,
it may require the institution to repay the amount of Title IV awarded under the incorrect assignment of credit hours and, if it finds significant overstatement of credit hours, it
may fine the institution or limit, suspend, or terminate its participation in Title IV Programs, the result of which could be that our business is materially and adversely affected.
The Final Rule issued on September 2, 2020, effective as of July 1, 2021, included a new formula to calculate the credit hours eligible for Title IV funding for non-degree
programs that do not transfer to a degree. Aspen University and USU do not have programs eligible for Title IV funding that do not lead to a degree and this rule change has no
impact.
The U.S. Congress continues to examine the for-profit postsecondary education sector which could result in legislation or additional DOE rulemaking that may limit
or condition Title IV Program participation of proprietary schools in a manner that may materially and adversely affect our business.
In recent years, the U.S. Congress has increased its focus on for-profit education institutions, including with respect to their participation in the Title IV Programs, and has held
hearings regarding such matters. In addition, the GAO released a series of reports following undercover investigations critical of for-profit institutions. We cannot predict the
extent to which, or whether, these hearings and reports will result in legislation, further rulemaking affecting our participation in Title IV Programs, or more vigorous
enforcement of Title IV requirements. Moreover, with the HEA pending reauthorization a new administration, political considerations could impact Title IV funding as well as
the treatment of for-profit education in future legislation. As noted above, the Biden administration has formulated a very aggressive schedule of rulemaking in 2021 and 2022,
with the intent to rewrite the numerous regulations.
To the extent that any laws or regulations are adopted that limit or condition Title IV Program participation of proprietary schools or the amount of federal student financial aid
for which proprietary school students are eligible, our business could be materially and adversely affected.
Failure to comply with the federal campus safety and security reporting requirements as implemented by the DOE would result in sanctions, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operation.
We must comply with certain campus safety and security reporting requirements as well as other requirements in the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and
Campus Crime Statistics Act of 1990 (the “Clery Act”), as amended by the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013. The Clery Act requires an institution to
report to the DOE and disclose in its annual safety and security report, for the three most recent calendar years, statistics concerning the number of certain crimes that occurred
within the institution’s so-called “Clery geography.” As we expand to new campus locations, our efforts to comply with the Clery Act will become more costly and the risk of
noncompliance will increase. Failure to comply with the Clery Act requirements or regulations promulgated by the DOE could result in fines or suspension or termination of our
eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, could lead to litigation, or could harm our reputation, each of which could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business
and results of operations. Although not related to educational regulations, we must comply with state and local social distancing and pandemic related regulations and orders.
These requirements may increase our expenses.
General Risks
Due to factors beyond our control, our stock price may be volatile.
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Any of the following factors could affect the market price of our common stock:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our failure to solve our liquidity risks;
Our failure to resolve our Arizona regulatory issues;
A decline in our growth rate including new student enrollments and class starts;
Our failure to generate increasing material revenues;
Our failure to meet our forecasts relating to our future operating performance;
Our failure to meet financial analysts’ performance expectations;
Changes in earnings estimates and recommendations by financial analysts;
Our public disclosure of the terms of any financing which we consummate in the future;
Disclosure of the results of our monthly payment plan and collections;
A decline in the economy which impacts our ability to collect our accounts receivable;
Announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, new services, acquisitions, commercial relationships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
The loss of Title IV funding or other regulatory actions;
The sale of large numbers of shares of common stock by our officers, directors or other shareholders;
Short selling activities;
Any future non-compliance with Nasdaq rules or actions taken by the company in response; or
Changes in market valuations of similar companies.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted. A securities class action suit
against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s time and attention, which would otherwise be used to benefit our business.
Because we may issue preferred stock without the approval of our shareholders and have other anti-takeover defenses, it may be more difficult for a third-party to
acquire us and could depress our stock price.
Our Board of Directors (the “Board”) may issue, without a vote of our shareholders, one or more additional series of preferred stock that have more than one vote per share.
This could permit our Board to issue preferred stock to investors who support us and our management and give effective control of our business to our management.
Additionally, issuance of preferred stock could block an acquisition resulting in both a drop in our stock price and a decline in interest of our common stock. This could make it
more difficult for shareholders to sell their common stock. This could also cause the market price of our common stock shares to drop significantly, even if our business is
performing well.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of April 30, 2022, we lease approximately 191,328 square feet of office and classroom space in Phoenix, San Diego, New York City, Denver, Austin, Tampa, Nashville,
Atlanta and the New Brunswick Province in Canada. Our lease expense for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2022 was $3,868,333.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
From time-to-time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business. As of the date of this report, except as
discussed below, we are not aware of any other pending or threatened lawsuits that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the results of our operations and
there are no proceedings in which any of our directors, officers or affiliates, or any registered or beneficial shareholder, is an adverse party or has a material interest adverse to
our interest.
On April 6, 2022, Aspen was served with a class action claim in Arizona Superior Court, alleging violations of the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act and Unjust Enrichment, based
on the class representative’s claims that Aspen misstated the quality of its pre-licensure nursing program. This complaint was likely in response to the AZ BON actions against
Aspen relating to the program, as outlined above. At this time, the only action taken by Aspen was to file for change of venue. The size of the potential class is not yet known.
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On February 11, 2013, HEMG, and its Chairman, Mr. Patrick Spada, sued the Company, certain senior management members and our directors in state court in New York
seeking damages arising principally from (i) allegedly false and misleading statements in the filings with the SEC and the DOE where the Company disclosed that HEMG and
Mr. Spada borrowed $2.2 million without board authority, (ii) the alleged breach of an April 2012 agreement whereby the Company had agreed, subject to numerous conditions
and time limitations, to purchase certain shares of the Company from HEMG, and (iii) alleged diminution to the value of HEMG’s shares of the Company due to Mr. Spada’s
disagreement with certain business transactions the Company engaged in, all with Board approval.
On December 10, 2013, the Company filed a series of counterclaims against HEMG and Mr. Spada in the same state court of New York. By order dated August 4, 2014, the
New York court denied HEMG and Spada’s motion to dismiss the fraud counterclaim the Company asserted against them.
In November 2014, the Company and Aspen University sued HEMG seeking to recover sums due under two 2008 Agreements where Aspen University sold course materials to
HEMG in exchange for long-term future payments. On September 29, 2015, the Company and Aspen University obtained a default judgment in the amount of $772,793. This
default judgment precipitated the bankruptcy petition discussed in the next paragraph.
On July 21, 2021, the bankruptcy trustee paid the Company $498,120 based on assets available in the trust, which is included
in "other income (expense), net" in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As a result, the Company wrote
off the net receivable of $45,329 against the payment received as settlement in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 and recorded a gain. No further assets are available for
distribution. At some point, the New York state court litigation may resume.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.
Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “ASPU”.
The last reported sale price of our common stock as reported by Nasdaq on July 22, 2022 was $1.23. As of that date, we had 104 record holders. A substantially greater number
of holders of our common stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, whose shares are held of record by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.
Dividend Policy
We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not plan to pay such dividends in the foreseeable future. Our Board will determine our future dividend policy on
the basis of many factors, including results of operations, capital requirements, and general business conditions.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.
ITEM 6. [Reserved]
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contain forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs. Our
actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed
in the Risk Factors contained herein.
Key Terms
In connection with the management of our businesses, we identify, measure and assess a variety of operating metrics. The principal metrics we use in managing our businesses
are set forth below:
Operating Metrics
• Lifetime Value ("LTV") - is the weighted average total amount of tuition and fees paid by every new student that enrolls in the Company’s universities, after giving
effect to attrition.
• Bookings - defined by multiplying LTV by new student enrollments for each operating unit.
• Average Revenue per Enrollment ("ARPU") - defined by dividing total bookings by total enrollments for each operating unit.
Operating costs and expenses
• Cost of revenue - consists of instructional costs and services and marketing and promotional costs.
◦ Instructional costs - consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the Company's educational programs. This expense category
includes compensation costs associated with online faculty, technology license costs and costs associated with other support groups that provide services
directly to the students and are included in cost of revenue.
◦ Marketing and promotional costs - include costs associated with producing marketing materials and advertising, and outside sales costs. Such costs are
generally affected by the cost of advertising media, the efficiency of the Company's marketing and recruiting efforts, and expenditures on advertising initiatives
for
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new and existing academic programs. We engage non-direct response advertising activities, which are expensed as incurred, or the first time the advertising
takes place, depending on the type of advertising activity and are included in cost of revenue.
• General and administrative expense - consists primarily of compensation expense (including stock-based compensation expense) and other employee-related costs for
personnel engaged in executive and academic management and operations, finance, legal, tax, information technology and human resources, fees for professional
services, financial aid processing costs, non-capitalizable courseware and software costs, corporate taxes and facilities costs.
Non-GAAP financial measures:
• Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("EBITDA") - is a non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP – Financial Measures" for a
reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA for the fiscal years 2022 and 2021.
• Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA") - is a non-GAAP financial measure. See "Non-GAAP –
Financial Measures" for a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for the fiscal years 2022 and 2021.
Company Overview
Aspen Group, Inc. is an education technology holding company. It operates two universities, Aspen University Inc. ("Aspen University" or "AU") and United States University
Inc. ("United States University" or "USU").
All references to the “Company”, “AGI”, “Aspen Group”, “we”, “our” and “us” refer to Aspen Group, Inc., unless the context otherwise indicates.
AGI leverages its education technology infrastructure and expertise to allow its two universities, Aspen University and United States University, to deliver on the vision of
making college affordable again. Because we believe higher education should be a catalyst to our students’ long-term economic success, we exert financial prudence by
offering affordable tuition that is one of the greatest values in higher education. AGI’s primary focus relative to future growth is to target the high growth nursing profession. As
of April 30, 2022, 11,522 of 13,334 or 86% of all active students across both universities are degree-seeking nursing students. Of the students seeking nursing degrees, 9,562
are RNs studying to earn an advanced degree, including 6,672 at Aspen University and 2,890 at USU. In contrast, the remaining 1,960 nursing students are enrolled in Aspen
University’s BSN Pre-Licensure program in the Phoenix, Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta metros.
Aspen University has been offering a monthly payment plan that is available to all students across every online degree program offered, since March 2014. The monthly
payment plan is designed so that students will make one fixed payment per month, and that monthly payment is applied towards the total cost of attendance (tuition and fees,
excluding textbooks). The monthly payment plan offers online undergraduate students the opportunity to pay their tuition and fees at $250/month, online master students
$325/month, and online doctoral students $375/month, interest free, thereby giving students a monthly payment option versus taking out a federal financial aid loan.
USU has been offering monthly payment plans since the summer of 2017. Today, USU monthly payment plans are available for the online RN to BSN program ($250/month),
online MBA/MAEd/MSN programs ($325/month), online hybrid Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Studies, Teacher Credentialing tracks approved by the California Commission on
Teacher Credentialing ($350/month), and the online hybrid Master of Science in Nursing-Family Nurse Practitioner (“FNP”) program ($375/month).
Since 1993, Aspen University has been nationally accredited by the DEAC, a national accrediting agency recognized by the DOE and CHEA. On February 25, 2019, the DEAC
informed Aspen University that it had renewed its accreditation for five years to January 2024.
Since 2009, USU has been regionally accredited by WSCUC.
Both universities are qualified to participate under the Higher Education Act and the Federal student financial assistance programs (Title IV, HEA programs).
AGI Student Population Overview

48

Table of Contents

AGI's active degree-seeking student body at AU and USU, declined 4% year-over-year to 13,334 from 13,886. AU's total active student body decreased by 8% year-over-year to
10,225 from 11,117. On a year-over-year basis, USU's total active student body grew by 12% to 3,109 from 2,769. The chart below shows five quarters of active student body
results.
Students seeking nursing degrees were 11,522, or 86% of total active students at both universities. Of the students seeking nursing degrees, 9,562 are RNs studying to earn an
advanced degree, including 6,672 at Aspen University and 2,890 at USU. In contrast, the remaining 1,960 nursing students are enrolled in Aspen University’s BSN PreLicensure program in the Phoenix, Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta metros. The BSN Pre-Licensure program student body decreased from 2,382 to 1,960 year-over-year
or 422 students as a result of the enrollment stoppage in the Phoenix metro.
The chart below shows the breakdown by university nursing students versus total students.

AGI New Student Enrollments
New student enrollments at AU decreased year-over-year by 37% and at USU by 11% year-over-year. New student enrollments were primarily impacted by the enrollment
stoppage at our Phoenix pre-licensure campuses, and the reduction in marketing spend in Q4 Fiscal 2022 by $1 million over the prior quarter (the spend decrease was directed to
AU’s online nursing degrees based on the Aspen 2.0 spend reallocation initiated one year ago).
New student enrollments for the past five quarters are shown below:
New Student Enrollments by Quarter
Q4'21

Aspen University
USU
Total

1,593
589
2,182

Q1'22

1,601
675
2,276

Q2'22

1,750
630
2,380

Q3'22

1,301
481
1,782

Q4 2022

1,010
525
1,535

Bookings Analysis and ARPU
On a year-over-year basis, Fiscal 2022 Bookings decreased 16%, to $120.6 million from $143.4 million in the prior year. As previously discussed, the proactive Phoenix prelicensure enrollment reduction, planned post licensure marketing reductions and the recent COVID surge caused Bookings to decrease year-over-year.
On a year-over-year basis, Q4 Fiscal 2022 ARPU decreased 2% from the prior year period due primarily to a decrease in bookings at Aspen University in the Phoenix metro of
the pre-licensure program.
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FY '21 Revenue
Bookings1

FY '21 Enrollments

Aspen University
USU
Total
ARPU 1

FY '22 Revenue
Bookings1

FY '22 Enrollments

% Change Total
Bookings & ARPU

6,975 $
2,346
9,321 $

101,560,950
41,805,720
143,366,670

5,662 $
2,311 $
7,973 $

79,418,100
41,182,020
120,600,120

(16) %

$

15,381

$

15,126

2 %

_____________________

“Bookings” are defined by multiplying Lifetime Value (LTV) by new student enrollments for each operating unit. “Average Revenue Per Enrollment” (ARPU) is defined by dividing total Bookings by total
new student enrollments for each operating unit.
1

During the Fiscal 2022, the Company continued to focus its growth capital almost exclusively on its two licensure degree programs which have higher lifetime values. Set forth
below is the description of these two key licensure degree programs.
Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) Pre-Licensure Program
Aspen’s BSN Pre-licensure program provides students with opportunities to become a BSN-educated nurse and learn the essential skills needed to practice as a professional
registered nurse (RN). Skills lab, clinical simulation, seminars and community-based clinical experiences anchor the curriculum. Upon completion of their studies, students are
eligible to take the National Council Licensure Examination (NCLEX) in the state or territory in which they choose to practice (the NCLEX is the national registered nurse
examination used by all states for potential registered nursing licensure). Students provide their state board of nursing applicable forms to the School of Nursing and Health
Sciences, which completes them on behalf of the individual student, and take the exam in the state in which they choose to practice. Upon passing the NCLEX, students then
work with their state Board of Nursing to finalize their professional licensure.
We designed this program for students who do not currently hold a state registered nurse license and have little to no prior nursing experience. For students with no prior college
credits, the total cost of attendance is $52,175 ($41,445 Tuition, $10,730 Fees), not including textbooks.
Phoenix, AZ Locations
Aspen University began offering the BSN Pre-Licensure program in July 2018 at its initial campus in Phoenix, Arizona.As a result of overwhelming demand in the Phoenix
metropolitan area, in January 2019 Aspen University began offering both day (July, November, March) and evening/weekend (January, May, September) terms, equaling six
term starts per year. In September 2019, Aspen University opened a second campus in the Phoenix metropolitan area in partnership with HonorHealth.
Aspen University voluntarily suspended new student enrollments and the formation of new cohorts immediately (starting with February 2022 cohort) after receiving guidance
from the Arizona State Board of Nursing at its January 28, 2022 meeting. It is now in a probationary period under the Consent Agreement with the Arizona State Board of
Nursing wherein certain conditions must be met before new cohorts can again begin to be formed, including maintaining a minimum 80% NCLEX first-time pass rate each
quarter for four consecutive quarters, as more particularly described in Item 1 – Business on page 1 under “Arizona State Board of Nursing Probation.” We will not form any
additional nursing cohorts in the Phoenix metropolitan area without completing the probationary period and receiving prior approval from the Arizona State Board of Nursing.
Aspen University is not currently enrolling students in the BSN Pre-licensure program in Arizona.
Our Pre-Licensure locations that opened outside of Arizona were launched with curricular improvements, a NCLEX test prep product and NCLEX coaches in place and these
new cohorts have been required to have higher incoming GPA requirements and have been subject to stiffer requirements relative to HESI A2 entrance exam scores, among
other requirements outlined in the competitive evaluation process for the core nursing program. As a result, these cohorts are expected to deliver first-time NCLEX pass rates
that comply with each state’s requirements. Although three of these locations are in smaller Tier-two metros, each metro is experiencing high population growth rates that are
expected to increase the long-term demand for nursing degrees.
Atlanta, GA
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On January 20, 2022, the Company announced that Aspen University received the final required state and board of registered nursing regulatory approvals for their new BSN
Pre-Licensure location in Atlanta, Georgia. The Atlanta site was occupied by the University of Phoenix, located at 859 Mt. Vernon Highway NE, Suite 100, which is situated
just off Interstate 285 in the Sandy Springs suburb in the inner ring of Atlanta. Aspen University began enrolling first-year Pre-Professional Nursing (“PPN”) students in Atlanta
in February 2022, and expects to enroll Nursing Core students (Years 2-3) in Fall 2022.
Austin, TX
Aspen University’s BSN Pre-Licensure program in Austin is based in the Frontera Crossing office building located at 101 W. Louis Henna Boulevard in the suburb of Round
Rock. The building is situated at the junction of Interstate 35 and State Highway 45, one of the most heavily trafficked freeway exchanges in the metropolitan area with
visibility to approximately 143,362 cars per day. Aspen University's initial PPN enrollments began on the September 29, 2020 start date and the first core cohort began in
February 2021.
Tampa, FL
Aspen University’s BSN Pre-Licensure program in Tampa is located at 12802 Tampa Oaks Boulevard. The building is visible from the intersection of Interstate 75 and East
Fletcher Avenue, near the University of South Florida, providing visibility to approximately 126,500 cars per day. Aspen University's initial PPN enrollments began on the
December 8, 2020 start date and the first core cohort began in June 2021.
Nashville, TN
Aspen University’s BSN Pre-licensure program in Nashville is located at 1809 Dabbs Ave. The campus is within easy access of Intersection of Interstate 40 and the 155, near
the Sonesta Nashville Airport. On April 27, 2021, Aspen University began to enroll first-year PPN students in Nashville, Tennessee. The first core cohort began in June 2021.
USU Master of Science in Nursing-Family Nurse Practitioner (MSN-FNP)
USU offers a number of nursing degree programs and other degree programs in health sciences, business & technology and education. Its primary enrollment program is its
MSN-FNP which is designed for BSN-prepared registered nurses who are seeking a Nurse Practitioner license. The MSN-FNP is an online-hybrid 48-credit degree program
with 100% of the curriculum online, including the curricular component to complete 540 clinical and 32 lab hours.
While MSN-FNP lab hours have been done at USU’s San Diego facility through the end of calendar year 2020, the rapid growth of the MSN-FNP program has caused AGI to
open two additional immersion locations in 2021. Specifically, the Company built-out additional suites on the ground floors at our main facility in Phoenix (by the airport) and
our location in Tampa, FL. Consequently, students now have the option to attend their weekend immersions at three different metro locations: San Diego, Phoenix and Tampa.
Accounts Receivable - Monthly Payment Plan ("MPP")
The Company offers several payment options to its students including a monthly payment plan (MPP), installment plans and financial aid. Our growth in accounts receivable
over the last several years has predominantly been a result of students taking advantage of our groundbreaking monthly payment plan which we introduced in 2014 at Aspen
University and subsequently in Fiscal Year 2018 at USU. At April 30, 2022, Gross MPP accounts receivable was 83% of total gross accounts receivable. Of the Gross MPP
accounts receivable, approximately 50% was generated at each AU and USU.
The Monthly Payment Plan is a private education loan with a 0% fixed rate of interest (0% APR) and no down payment. Each month the student will make one payment of
$250, $325, $350 or $375 (depending on the program) until the program is paid for. The attractive aspect of being able to pay for a degree over a fixed period of time has fueled
the growth of this plan. The MPP is designed so students can build the cost of their degree into their monthly budget.
Long-Term Accounts Receivable
When a student signs up for the monthly payment plan, there is a contractual amount that the Company can expect to earn over the life of the student’s program. This full
contractual amount cannot be recorded as an account receivable upon enrollment. As a student takes a class, revenue is earned over that eight-week class. Some students
accelerate their program, taking two classes
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every eight-week period, and that increases the student’s accounts receivable balance. If any portion of that balance will be paid in a period greater than 12 months, that portion
is reflected as long-term accounts receivable.
As a result of the growing acceptance of our monthly payment plans, our long-term accounts receivable balance has grown from $10,249,833 at April 30, 2021 to $11,406,525
at April 30, 2022. These are MPP students who make monthly payments over 36, 39 and 72 months. Generally, students in the USU MSN-FNP program make payments over
the 72 month period, and as a result, a portion of the impact of USU's 72-month payment plan becomes long-term accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable is considered short-term to the extent the remaining payments are 12 months or less. Payments due in greater than 12 months are considered long-term.
Here is a graphic of both short-term and long-term receivables, as well as contractual value:
A
B
C
The portion of remaining payments owed for classes
The portion of remaining payments owed for classes
Expected future classes
to be taken over
taken under a monthly payment plan due in 12 months or taken under a monthly payment plan due in greater than
balance of program.
less
12 months
Short-Term
Accounts Receivable

Long-term
Accounts Receivable
The Sum of A, B and C will equal the total cost of the program.

Not recorded in
financial statements

Results of Operations
Set forth below is the discussion of the results of operations of the Company for the three months ended April 30, 2022 (“Q4 Fiscal 2022”) compared to the three months ended
April 30, 2021 (“Q4 Fiscal 2021”), and for the year ended April 30, 2022 (“Fiscal 2022”) compared to the year ended April 30, 2021 (“Fiscal 2021”).
Revenue
The following table presents selected consolidated statement of operations as a percentage of revenue (differences due to rounding):

52

Table of Contents

Three Months Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below)
Instructional costs and services
Marketing and promotional costs
Total cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below)
General and administrative
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other (expense) income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

Years Ended April 30,
2022

2021

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

27 %
18 %

24 %
22 %

25 %
21 %

23 %
21 %

44 %
58 %
2%
5%
109 %

46 %
59 %
3%
5%
112 %

46 %
59 %
2%
4%
112 %

43 %
62 %
3%
4%
112 %

(9)%

(12)%

(12)%

(12)%

(2)%
—%
(2)%

—%
—%
—%

(1)%
1%
—%

(3)%
—%
(3)%

(11)%

(12)%

(12)%

(15)%

—%

—%

1%

—%

(11)%

(12)%

(12)%

(15)%

The following table presents our revenue, both per-subsidiary and total:
Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

2022

AU
USU

$

Revenue

$

12,803,513
6,574,849
19,378,362

$
$

(504,300)
831,586
327,286

2021

(4)%
14%

$

2%

$

13,307,813
5,743,263
19,051,076

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

2022

$
$

51,839,354
24,855,012
76,694,366

$
$

3,897,015
4,984,831
8,881,846

2021

8%
25%

$

13%

$

47,942,339
19,870,181
67,812,520

Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021
AU revenue decreased 4% in Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021 due primarily to the Q4 Fiscal 2022 enrollment stoppage at our Phoenix pre-licensure campuses and
the material reduction in marketing spend in the AU Nursing + Other unit based on the Aspen 2.0 business plan instituted in Fiscal 2022. The active student body at AU
decreased from 11,117 at April 20,2021 to 10,225 at April 30, 2022.
AU entered into a Consent Agreement related to its BSN pre-licensure program in Arizona, in which the AZ BON revoked its approval of AU’s core component of its prelicensure program in Arizona but simultaneously imposed a conditional stay on the revocation. In June 2022, the AZ BON granted approval of Aspen University’s request for
provisional approval as long as the program is in compliance with the consent agreement through March 31, 2025. However, Aspen University is not currently enrolling
students in the BSN Pre-licensure program in Arizona. Approximately 12% of AU’s enrollments are students in its BSN Pre-Licensure nursing programs at two campus
locations in Phoenix. The AU Arizona programs accounted for 19.5% of AGI's consolidated revenue in Fiscal Year 2022 and is projected to decline to approximately 10% of
our revenue in Fiscal Year
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2023. Our revenue is expected to be lower while the probationary period under the Consent Agreement with the Arizona Board of Nursing is ongoing or if the revocation stay is
lifted which would result in our inability to continue BSN pre-licensure program operations in Arizona.
USU revenue increased 14% in Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021 due primarily to USU's MSN-FNP program, the USU degree program with the highest
concentration of students and the highest LTV. The active student body at USU increased from 2,769 at April 20,2021 to 3,109 at April 30, 2022.
Except for the impact of the enrollment stoppage at our Phoenix pre-licensure campuses, the Company expects the majority of its revenue growth in future periods to be derived
from Aspen's BSN Pre-Licensure program and USU's MSN-FNP program as we continue prioritizing our highest LTV degree programs to achieve our long-term growth plans.
Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021
AU and USU revenue increased 8% and 25% in Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021. AU revenue increased year-over-year due primarily to student body increases in the BSN
Pre-Licensure program now located in five metros and the AU doctoral online degree program; and the marketing spend reduction in Q4 2022 of $1 million. USU revenue
increased due primarily to student body increases described above in the three-month revenue discussion.
Cost of Revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)

2022

Cost of Revenue (exclusive of
depreciation and amortization shown
separately below)

$

8,601,093

Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$(120,386)

2021

$

(1)%

8,721,479

2022

$

35,259,281

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$5,805,548

20%

2021

$

29,453,733

Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021
Instructional Costs and Services
Consolidated instructional costs and services for Q4 Fiscal 2022 increased to $5,203,463 or 27% of revenue from $4,577,075 or 24% of revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2021, an increase
of $626,388 or 14%. The increase is due to staffing increases in the growing USU FNP program and hiring of new faculty and operations personnel in the newly opened prelicensure campuses in Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta.
AU instructional costs and services were 27% and 24% of AU revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2022 and Q4 Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, instructional costs and
services increased due primarily to an increase in faculty compensation costs related to the faculty hiring in the BSN Pre-Licensure campus locations and increases in student
technology license costs.
USU instructional costs and services were 27% and 25% of USU revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2022 and Q4 Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, instructional costs
and services have increased due to higher USU immersion costs incurred due to the growth in the MSN-FNP program, which resulted in increased immersions at additional
locations with associated faculty and supplies costs.
Marketing and Promotional
Consolidated marketing and promotional costs for Q4 Fiscal 2022 were $3,397,630 or 18% of revenue compared to $4,144,404 or 22% of revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2021, a
decrease of $746,774 or 18% of revenue. The decrease of marketing as a percentage of revenue is a result of a planned marketing spend decrease in Q4 Fiscal 2022 to ensure
sufficient collateral for a surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education.
AU marketing and promotional costs represented 18% and 21% of AU revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2022 and Q4 Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, marketing and
promotional costs decreased due primarily to the planned decrease in marketing spend in Q4 Fiscal 2022.
USU marketing and promotional costs were 11% and 18% of USU revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2022 and Q4 Fiscal 2021, respectively, due to the planned decrease in marketing spend
in Q4 Fiscal 2022.
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Corporate marketing costs were $358,976 for Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to $310,415 for Q4 Fiscal 2021, an increase of $48,561 or 16%.
Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021
Instructional Costs and Services
Consolidated instructional costs and services for Fiscal 2022 increased to $19,463,085 or 25% of revenue from $15,275,131 or 23% of revenue for Fiscal 2021, an increase of
$4,187,954 or 27%. The increases are due primarily to the factors described above in the three-month costs of revenue discussion.
AU instructional costs and services were 25% and 22% of AU revenue for Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, instructional costs and services
increased primarily due to the factors described above in the three month discussion.
USU instructional costs and services were 26% and 25% of USU revenue for Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively.
Marketing and Promotional
Consolidated marketing and promotional costs for Fiscal 2022 were $15,796,196 or 21% of revenue compared to $14,178,602 or 21% of revenue for Fiscal 2021, an increase of
$1,617,594 or 11%. The increase of marketing costs is a result of a planned advertising spending increase during Fiscal Year 2022, targeted primarily to our highest LTV
programs. Specifically, the majority of the advertising spending increase was directed toward the growing USU MSN-FNP program and the four new pre-licensure metro
locations in Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta. Partially off-setting this increase, in Q4 Fiscal 2022, the Company decreased marketing spend to ensure sufficient collateral
for a surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education.
AU marketing and promotional costs represented 20% of AU revenue for both Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, marketing and
promotional costs remained flat.
USU marketing and promotional costs were 16% and 18% of USU revenue for Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively.
Corporate marketing and promotional costs were $1,353,657 in Fiscal 2022 compared to $1,068,292 in Fiscal 2021, an increase of $285,365 or 27%.
Costs and Expenses
General and Administrative

2022

General and administrative $

11,175,725

Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$(8,956)

—%

2021

$

11,184,681

2022

$

45,535,001

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$3,626,971

9%

2021

$

41,908,030

Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021
Consolidated general and administrative expense for Q4 Fiscal 2022 was $11,175,725 or 58% of revenue compared to $11,184,681 or 59% of revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2021, a
decrease of $8,956 or less than 1%. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expense remained flat due to increased general and administrative spend at AU's
BSN Pre-Licensure and USU MSN-FNP programs, which is comprised of additional headcount, and the related increase in compensation and benefits expense, and increased
facilities costs, offset by flat general and administrative spend in corporate.
AU general and administrative expense was 36% of AU revenue for both Q4 Fiscal 2022 and Q4 Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, general and
administrative expense remained flat.
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USU general and administrative costs were 36% and 34% of USU revenue for Q4 Fiscal 2022 and Q4 Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, general and
administrative expense increased due primarily to additional headcount, and the related increase in compensation and benefits, and increased facilities costs associated with the
growing USU MSN-FNP program.
Corporate general and administrative costs were $4.2 million in Q4 Fiscal 2022 and $4.4 million in Q4 Fiscal 2021, a decrease of $0.2 million, or 5%. The decrease was
primarily due to planned Corporate cost control.
Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021
Consolidated general and administrative expense for Fiscal 2022 was $45,535,001 or 59% of revenue compared to $41,908,030 or 62% of revenue for Fiscal 2021, an increase
of $3,626,971 or 9%. The increase in general and administrative expense is related to the factors described below.
AU general and administrative expense was 36% and 34% of AU revenue for Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative
expense increased due primarily to additional headcount, and the related increase in compensation and benefits, and increased facilities costs associated with our new prelicensure locations.
USU general and administrative expense was 40% of USU revenue for both Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative
expense remained flat.
Corporate general and administrative expense was $17.2 million and $17.5 million in Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2021, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to planned
Corporate cost control.
Bad Debt Expense
Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

2022

Bad debt expense

$

450,000

$(116,540)

(21)%

2021

$

566,540

2022

$

1,500,000

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$(768,540)

2021

(34)%

$

2,268,540

For both Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021, bad debt expense decreased as a percentage of total revenue. Based on our
review of additional student accounts associated with increased revenue and existing accounts receivable and historical write-off trends, the Company evaluated its reserve
methodology and adjusted reserves for AU and USU accordingly. At AU and USU, approximately $1.0 million and $0.3 million of student accounts receivable were written off
against the accounts receivable allowance during Fiscal 2022.
Depreciation and Amortization

2022

Depreciation and
amortization

$

890,228

Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$16,117

2%

2021

$

874,111

$

2022

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

3,370,407

$944,042

2021

39%

$

2,426,365

For both Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021, the increase in depreciation is primarily due to investments in new campuses,
including capital expenditures of leasehold improvements and computer equipment, and an increase in amortization of internally developed capitalized software placed into
service to support the Company's services and the opening of new campuses, partially offset by a decrease related to fully depreciated assets.
Other Expense, net

Other expense, net

$

2022

Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

(351,074)

$(314,377)

857%

2021

$

(36,697) $
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2022

(188,058)

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$1,984,123

91%

2021

$

(2,172,181)
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Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021
Other expense, net in Q4 Fiscal 2022 includes: $210,000 of interest expense related to the $5 million Revolving Credit Facility borrowings on August 31, 2021, interest expense
of $108,000 related to the $10 million Convertible Notes issued on March 14, 2022, amortization expense of $17,000 related to the 2% annual commitment fee on the undrawn
portion of the $20 million Revolving Credit Facility, and $20,000 of amortization expense in connection with the fair value of the warrants issued to the Leon and Toby
Cooperman Family Foundation as an extension fee in connection with the $5 million revolving line of credit.
Other expense, net for Fiscal Q4 2021 primarily includes the 2% quarterly commitment fees on the undrawn $5 million Revolving Credit Facility which matured on November
4, 2021.
Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021
Other expense, net in Fiscal 2022 primarily includes: $498,120 of a litigation settlement amount received on July 21, 2021 offset by the write-off of a related net receivable of
$45,329 with the adverse party in this litigation; partially offset by interest expense of approximately $411,000 related to the period of time after August 31, 2021 that the $5
million Revolving Credit Facility was fully drawn, amortization expense of $58,000 related to the 2% annual commitment fee incurred during the period of time prior to August
31, 2021 that the $5 million Revolving Credit Facility was undrawn, interest expense of $108,000 related to the $10 million Convertible Notes issued on March 14, 2022,
amortization expense of $17,000 related to the 2% annual commitment fee for the undrawn $20 million Revolving Credit Facility, $69,000 of amortization expense in
connection with the fair value of the warrants issued to the Leon and Toby Cooperman Family Foundation as an extension fee in connection with the $5 million revolving line of
credit; and a $36,000 loss on disposal of fixed assets.
Other expense, net for Fiscal Year 2021 includes: interest expense of (i) a non-cash charge of $1.4 million of accelerated amortization expense related to the conversion of the
$10 million Convertible Notes which occurred on September 14, 2020; (ii) $0.5 million for the $10 million Convertible Notes issued on January 22, 2020 as well as the
commitment fee on the $5 million Revolving Credit Facility; (iii) an adjustment of $0.3 million related to the previously reported earned revenue fee calculation deemed
immaterial to our Fiscal Year 2019 revenue; (iv) a non-cash modification and accelerated amortization charges of $0.2 million related to the exercise of the 2018 and 2019
Cooperman Warrants on June 5, 2020; partially offset by $0.3 million of other income.
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

2022

Income tax expense
(benefit)

$

38,880

Three Months Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$51,326

(412)%

2021

$

(12,446) $

2022

427,400

Years Ended April 30,
$ Change
% Change

$394,756

1,209%

2021

$

32,644

Income tax expense in Q4 Fiscal 2022 includes a reserve of approximately $40,000 for the estimated Fiscal Year 2022 Canada foreign income tax liability which covers the
2022 tax year for which a permanent establishment is in place in Canada. The Company will file an annual Canadian T2 Corporation Income Tax return to report the ongoing
activity of the permanent establishment for 2022.
Income tax expense in Fiscal 2022 includes a reserve of $300,000 for the Canada foreign income tax liability which covers the 2013 through 2021 tax years during which a
permanent establishment was in place in Canada. Additionally, the Company recorded a reserve of $100,000 for the estimated Fiscal Year 2022 Canada foreign income tax
liability. The Company is prepared to file Canadian T2 Corporation Income Tax Returns and related information returns under the Voluntary Disclosure Program with the
Canada Revenue Agency ("CRA") to cover the 2013 through 2021 tax years. The Company will also file an annual Canadian T2 Corporation Income Tax return to report the
ongoing activity of the permanent establishment for 2022 and future taxation years.
Non-GAAP – Financial Measures
This discussion and analysis includes both financial measures in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or GAAP, as well as non-GAAP financial
measures. Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company’s performance, financial position or cash flows that either excludes or includes
amounts that are not normally included or excluded in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Non-GAAP financial
measures should be viewed as supplemental to, and should not be considered as alternatives to net income (loss),
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operating income (loss), and cash flow from operating activities, liquidity or any other financial measures. They may not be indicative of the historical operating results of AGI
nor are they intended to be predictive of potential future results. Investors should not consider non-GAAP financial measures in isolation or as substitutes for performance
measures calculated in accordance with GAAP.
Our management uses and relies on EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin and Adjusted Gross Profit, which are non-GAAP financial measures. We believe
that management, analysts and shareholders benefit from referring to the following non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate and assess our core operating results from periodto-period after removing the impact of items that affect comparability. Our management recognizes that the non-GAAP financial measures have inherent limitations because of
the excluded items described below.
We have included a reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. We believe that
providing the non-GAAP financial measures, together with the reconciliation to GAAP, helps investors make comparisons between AGI and other companies. In making any
comparisons to other companies, investors need to be aware that companies use different non-GAAP measures to evaluate their financial performance. Investors should pay
close attention to the specific definition being used and to the reconciliation between such measure and the corresponding GAAP measure provided by each company under
applicable SEC rules.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
AGI defines Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA excluding: (1) bad debt expense; (2) stock-based compensation; and (3) non-recurring charges or gains. The following table
presents a reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and of net loss margin to the Adjusted EBITDA margin:
Three Months Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Net loss
Interest expense, net
Taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Other stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Severance
Non-recurring charges - Other

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Net loss Margin
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(2,128,638) $
364,884
38,880
890,228
(834,646)
450,000
569,098
—
—
339,025
523,477 $
(11)%
3%

(2,319,986) $
13,369
(12,446)
874,111
(1,444,952)
566,540
382,936
555,321
303,870
275,438
639,153 $
(12)%
3%

For the Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

(9,585,781) $
715,722
427,400
3,370,407
(5,072,252)
1,500,000
2,534,665
—
19,665
(6,031)
(1,023,953) $

(10,448,973)
2,031,545
32,644
2,426,365
(5,958,419)
2,268,540
2,203,822
1,754,263
347,870
650,875
1,266,951

(12)%
(1)%

(15)%
2%

In Q4 Fiscal 2022, excluding the impact on EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for new campuses, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA would have been greater. Non-recurring
charges - Other of $339,025 includes non-recurring professional fees and consulting costs.
In Fiscal 2022, excluding the impact on EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for new campuses, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA would have been positive. Our entire Fiscal Year
2022 annual EBITDA loss is attributable to our investments in growing our pre-licensure business. On a same store sales basis, excluding the four new pre-licensure campuses,
our EBITDA would be break-even for Fiscal Year 2022. Fiscal 2022 non-recurring charges - other includes non-recurring income of $345,056, which consists of a $498,120
litigation settlement amount received on July 21, 2021 offset by the write-off of a related net receivable of $45,329 with the party in this litigation, which are included in "other
(expense) income, net," offset by non-recurring professional fees and consulting costs.
In Fiscal 2021, stock-based compensation expense included $1.2 million related to the accelerated amortization expense for the price vesting of Executive RSUs in Q2 Fiscal
2021 and non-recurring charges of $375,437 in Q1 Fiscal 2021. EBITDA in Q2 Fiscal 2021 included $1.4 million related to the accelerated amortization expense of the original
issue discount for the automatic
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conversion of $10 million Convertible Notes on September 14, 2020 (included in "Interest expense, net"). An additional non-recurring item in Q1 Fiscal 2021 of $123,947
(included in "Interest expense, net"), which arose from the acceleration of amortization arising from the exercise of warrants issued to a lender.
Q4 Fiscal 2022 compared to Q4 Fiscal 2021

Consolidated

Net income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Other stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Severance
Non-recurring charges - Other

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Net loss Margin
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(2,128,638) $
364,884
38,880
890,228
(834,646)
450,000
569,098
—
—
339,025
523,477 $
(11)%
3%

Consolidated

Net income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Other stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Severance
Non-recurring charges - Other

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Net loss Margin
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

Three Months Ended April 30, 2022
AGI Corporate
AU

(4,991,258) $
364,906
20,600
61,115
(4,544,637)
—
500,077
—
—
339,025
(3,705,535) $
NM
NM

(4,736,579) $
13,486
(14,250)
15,691
(4,721,652)
—
275,938
555,321
303,870
239,438
(3,347,085) $
NM
NM

1,327,911
(22)
41,200
102,830
1,471,919
225,000
17,814
—
—
—
1,714,733

12 %
20 %

20 %
26 %

Three Months Ended April 30, 2021
AGI Corporate
AU

(2,319,986) $
13,369
(12,446)
874,111
(1,444,952)
566,540
382,936
555,321
303,870
275,438
639,153 $
(12)%
3%

USU

1,534,709 $
—
(22,920)
726,283
2,238,072
225,000
51,207
—
—
—
2,514,279 $

1,388,800
—
2,064
786,135
2,176,999
340,000
75,605
—
—
36,000
2,628,604
10 %
20 %

USU

$

$

1,027,793
(117)
(260)
72,285
1,099,701
226,540
31,393
—
—
—
1,357,634
18 %
24 %

Adjusted EBITDA margin remained flat year-over-year. Marketing spend in the fourth quarter of 2022 was down sequentially by approximately $1.0 million to ensure adequate
available funds to collateralize the surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education. This was offset by staffing increases in the growing
USU MSN-FNP program and hiring of new faculty and operations personnel and new facility costs associated with the newly opened pre-licensure campuses in Austin, Tampa,
Nashville and Atlanta. (Atlanta is scheduled to open in Fall 2022).
Fiscal 2022 compared to Fiscal 2021
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Consolidated

Net income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Other stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Severance
Non-recurring charges - Other

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Net loss Margin
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(9,585,781) $
715,722
427,400
3,370,407
(5,072,252)
1,500,000
2,534,665
—
19,665
(6,031)
(1,023,953) $

(12)%
(1)%
Consolidated

Net income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Taxes
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Other stock-based compensation
Non-recurring charges - Severance
Non-recurring charges - Other

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Net loss Margin
Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(10,448,973) $
2,031,545
32,644
2,426,365
(5,958,419)
2,268,540
2,203,822
1,754,263
347,870
650,875
1,266,951 $
(15)%
2%

Year Ended April 30, 2022
AGI Corporate
AU

(19,529,107) $
718,099
23,963
177,835
(18,609,210)
—
2,232,489
—
—
446,660
(15,930,061) $

USU

6,140,416 $
(1,739)
360,947
2,809,255
9,308,879
950,000
200,980
—
—
(452,691)
10,007,168 $

NM
NM

12 %
19 %

15 %
20 %

Year Ended April 30, 2021
AGI Corporate
AU

(20,666,448) $
2,031,745
—
57,713
(18,576,990)
—
1,845,683
1,754,263
347,870
614,875
(14,014,299) $
NM
NM

3,802,910
(638)
42,490
383,317
4,228,079
550,000
101,196
—
19,665
—
4,898,940

USU

7,281,693
—
32,644
2,210,166
9,524,503
1,862,000
210,771
—
—
36,000
11,633,274

$

$

15 %
24 %

2,935,782
(200)
—
158,486
3,094,068
406,540
147,368
—
—
—
3,647,976
15 %
18 %

Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased to a loss of 1% in Fiscal 2022 from 2% in Fiscal 2021 due primarily to an increase in new faculty and operations personnel and new
facility costs associated with the newly opened pre-licensure campuses in Austin, Tampa, Nashville and Atlanta. Additionally, there were higher USU immersion costs incurred
due to the growth of the MSN-FNP program, which resulted in increased immersions at additional locations.
Additionally, enrollments and class starts were impacted by 1) the increased workloads nurses have been experiencing, which severely limited their availability to take classes
or required them to delay their enrollment in new degree programs, 2) the reprioritization of marketing funds with Aspen 2.0 impacted enrollments in our Aspen Nursing +
Other unit and 3) the suspension of enrollments in Phoenix metro BSN Pre-Licensure program related to the Consent Agreement with the Arizona Board of Nursing. The
decrease in enrollments and class starts contributed to the decrease in Adjusted EBITDA margin.
Adjusted Gross Profit
GAAP Gross Profit is revenue less cost of revenue less amortization expense. The Company defines Adjusted Gross Profit as GAAP Gross Profit adjusted to exclude
amortization expense. The following table presents a reconciliation of GAAP Gross Profit to Adjusted Gross Profit:
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Three months ended April 30,
2022
2021

Revenue
Cost of Revenue
Adjusted Gross Profit
Less amortization expense included in cost of revenue:
Intangible asset amortization
Call center software/website amortization
Total amortization expense included in cost of revenue
GAAP Gross Profit

$

$

GAAP Gross Profit as a percentage of revenue
Adjusted Gross Profit as a percentage of revenue

19,378,362
8,601,093
10,777,269
20,148
458,579
478,727
10,298,542
53 %
56 %

$

$

For the Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

19,051,076
8,721,479
10,329,597

$

9,737
374,770
384,507
9,945,090
52 %
54 %

$

76,694,366
35,259,281
41,435,085

$

80,310
1,713,748
1,794,058
39,641,027

$
$

67,812,520
29,453,733
38,358,787

$

42,455
1,392,422
1,434,877
36,923,910

52 %
54 %

54 %
57 %

GAAP Gross profit and gross margin for the Q4 Fiscal 2022 were $10,298,542 and 53%, respectively, compared to $9,945,090 and 52%, respectively, for Q4 Fiscal 2021. The
improvement in gross margin was primarily due to the reduction in marketing spend, partially offset by increased instructional costs. If marketing spend had not been reduced
by $1 million sequentially, gross margin would have been 48% and in-line with the Q4 Fiscal 2021.
For Fiscal Year 2022, gross profit increased by 7% to $39,641,027 or 52% gross margin compared to $36,923,910 or 54% gross margin in the prior year. If marketing spend had
not been reduced by $1 million in the Q4 Fiscal 2022, gross margin would have been 50%.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
A summary of the Company's cash flows is as follows:
Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Net cash (used in) provided by
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net decrease in cash

$

$

(11,278,225) $
(4,327,379)
14,855,672
(749,932) $

985,578
(8,977,303)
3,751,039
(4,240,686)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities for the year ended April 30, 2022 increased from $985,578 in Fiscal Year 2021 to $11,278,225 in Fiscal Year 2022.
Approximately $1 million of the cash used in operations in Fiscal Year 2022 is attributed to the Adjusted EBITDA loss, and the remaining use of operating cash is primarily
attributed to increased working capital to support growth in our monthly payment plans.
The increase in cash from changes in working capital primarily consists of an increase in accounts receivable and other current assets, partially offset by a decrease in deferred
revenue due primarily to timing of billings for class starts. The increase in accounts receivable is primarily attributed to the growth in revenues from increased enrollments and
students paying through the monthly payment plan as well as timing of billings for class starts. The increases in other current assets was primarily related to a $548,000 fee for
the surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education in April 2022, which will be amortized over one year, and the anticipated Delaware
Franchise tax refund of $147,000 for Fiscal Year 2021.
The decrease in non-cash adjustments primarily consists of lower stock-based compensation expense related to $1.2 million related to the accelerated amortization expense for
the price vesting of Executive RSUs in Q2 Fiscal 2021 and non-recurring accelerated stock-based compensation expense of approximately $0.6 million related to the
accelerated vesting of RSUs, prior year amortization of debt discounts related to the former $10 million Convertible Notes, which were automatically converted on
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September 14, 2020, and lower tenant improvements allowances from the landlords which only includes the Atlanta campus in Fiscal Year 2022.
The Company expects working capital and long-term student accounts receivable to trend higher over time as more students utilize our monthly payment plan. Additionally,
there may be working capital volatility from quarter to quarter, regarding the timing of financial aid payments and student course starts that impact deferred revenue and
accounts receivable balances. Offsetting the trend toward higher working capital and long-term student accounts receivable will be a trend toward improved adjusted EBITDA
as we continue to grow our high LTV programs.
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the Fiscal Year 2022 decreased from Fiscal Year 2021 due principally to lower capital expenditures in the current year associated with
the opening of pre-licensure locations.
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities for the Fiscal Year ended 2022 increased from the Fiscal Year 2021 due primarily to the proceeds of $5,000,000 from borrowings
under the Credit Facility on August 31, 2021, the issuance of $10,000,000 of Convertible Notes on March 14, 2022, and proceeds from stock options exercised of $191,034,
partially offset by payments of deferred financing costs of $335,362.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the Fiscal Year ended 2021 was composed of $2,669,247 for the exercise of stock options as well as proceeds from warrants
exercised of $1,081,792 received from the cash exercise of warrants associated with the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our cash balances are kept liquid to support our growing infrastructure needs. The majority of our cash is concentrated in large financial institutions.
Financing Arrangements
Convertible Note and Revolving Credit Facility
On March 14, 2022, the Company closed an offering of a $10 million convertible note and a $20 million Revolving Credit Facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The
Company received the proceeds from the $10 million convertible note at the closing. Subsequent to the closing of the $10 million convertible note, $5 million was restricted as
collateral for a surety bond, which was required by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education. The remaining $5 million is available for general corporate
purposes, including funding the Company’s expansion of its BSN Pre-Licensure nursing degree program.
The $20 million revolving credit facility has not been drawn upon and was pledged as additional collateral for the surety bond required by the Arizona State Board for Private
Postsecondary Education.
Credit Facility
On August 31, 2021, the Company extended its $5 million Credit Facility by one year to November 4, 2022. The Credit Facility is evidenced by a revolving promissory note.
Borrowings under the Credit Facility Agreement bear interest at 12% per annum. In conjunction with the extension of the Credit Facility, the Company drew down $5 million of
funds at 12% interest per annum due November 4, 2022. Pursuant to this agreement, on August 31, 2021 the Company issued to the Foundation warrants to purchase 50,000
shares of the Company’s common stock exercisable for five years from the date of issuance at the exercise price of $5.85 per share. Additionally on March 14, 2022, the
Company extended the $5 million Credit Facility by one additional year to November 4, 2023, at an increased interest rate of 14% per annum. The Company uses these funds
for general business purposes, including the roll out of the new campuses.
At April 30, 2022 and 2021, there were $5 million and no outstanding borrowings, respectively, under the Credit Facility.
Sufficiency of Working Capital
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As of July 22, 2022, the Company has $4.2 million of unrestricted cash on hand. In order to meet our short-term working capital requirements and to achieve our operational
goals during the next 12 months, we expect to either raise sufficient capital or reduce our expenditures. We expect that with these reductions, we have sufficient cash to meet
our working capital for the next 12 months.
Capital and other expenditures
The Company anticipates that it will need to make capital and other expenditures in connection with the development and expansion of its campus operations and the
implementation of new online programs.
On July 6, 2022, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock the Company is authorized to issue from
40,000,000 to 60,000,000 authorized shares. The stockholders of the Company had previously approved the amendment at a special meeting held on July 6, 2022.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
In response to financial reporting release FR-60, Cautionary Advice Regarding Disclosure About Critical Accounting Policies, from the SEC, we have selected our more
subjective accounting estimation processes for purposes of explaining the methodology used in calculating the estimate, in addition to the inherent uncertainties pertaining to the
estimate and the possible effects on our financial condition. There were no material changes to our principal accounting estimates during the period covered by this report.
Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue
The Company follows ASC 606. ASC 606 is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This ASC also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer purchase orders, including significant judgments.
Revenue consists primarily of tuition and course fees derived from courses taught by the Company online and in-person as well as from related educational resources and
services that the Company provides to its students. Under ASC 606, tuition and course fee revenue is recognized pro-rata over the applicable period of instruction and are not
considered separate performance obligations. Non-tuition related revenue and fees are recognized as services are provided or when the goods are received by the student.
Students may receive discounts, scholarships, or refunds, which gives rise to variable consideration. Discounts and scholarships are applied to individual student accounts when
such amounts are awarded. Therefore, the tuition is reduced directly by these discounts or scholarships from the amount of the standard tuition rate charged.
The Company's disaggregated revenue disclosures are presented in Note 13. Revenue.
Deferred revenue, a contract liability, represents the amount of tuition, fees, and other student payments received in excess of the portion recognized as revenue and it is
included in current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Other revenue may be recognized as sales occur or services are performed.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable
All students are required to select both a primary and secondary payment option with respect to amounts due to AGI for tuition, fees and other expenses. The monthly payment
plan represents the majority of the payments that are made by AGI's total active students, making it the most common payment type. In instances where a student selects
financial aid as the primary payment option, the student often selects personal cash as the secondary option. If a student who has selected financial aid as the student's primary
payment option withdraws prior to the end of a course but after the date that AGI’s institutional refund period has expired, the student will have incurred the obligation to pay
the full cost of the course. If the withdrawal occurs before the date at which the student has earned 100% of the student's financial aid, AGI may have to return all or a portion of
the Title IV funds to the DOE and the student will owe AGI all amounts incurred that are in excess of the amount of financial aid that the student earned, and that AGI is entitled
to retain. In this case, AGI must collect the receivable using the student’s second payment option.
For accounts receivable from students and payors other than students, AGI records an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability, failure
or refusal of its students or other payors to make required payments, which includes the recovery of financial aid funds advanced to a student for amounts in excess of the
student’s cost of tuition and
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related fees. AGI estimates the amounts to adjust the allowance based upon the risk presented by the age of the receivables, student status, payment type, program and estimate
of new revenue. AGI writes off accounts receivable balances at the time the balances are deemed uncollectible. AGI continues to reflect accounts receivable with an offsetting
allowance as long as management believes there is a reasonable possibility of collection.
Goodwill and Intangibles
The Company assesses goodwill on its one reporting unit and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually as of April 30, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit or the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset below its carrying value.
Goodwill currently represents the excess of purchase price over the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the 2017 acquisition of USU. Goodwill has
an indefinite life and is not amortized.
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic
350), to simplify how an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures a goodwill impairment loss
by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company early adopted this standard effective April 30, 2018. We have selected an April 30 annual goodwill impairment test date.
When evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill, management first assess a range of qualitative factors, including but not limited to, macroeconomic conditions, industry
conditions, the competitive environment, changes in the market for the Company’s products and services, regulatory and political developments, entity specific factors such as
strategy and changes in key personnel, and the overall financial performance for each of the Company’s reporting units. If, after completing this assessment, it is determined that
it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, we then proceed to the quantitative impairment testing.
We compare the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, with its fair value, as determined. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then
the amount of impairment to be recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.
When required, we arrive at our estimates of fair value using a discounted cash flow methodology which includes estimates of future cash flows to be generated by a component
where the goodwill is recorded, as well as determining a discount rate to measure the present value of those anticipated cash flows. Estimating future cash flows requires
significant judgment and includes making assumptions about projected growth rates, industry-specific factors, working capital requirements, weighted average cost of capital,
and current and anticipated operating conditions. The use of different assumptions or estimates for future cash flows could produce different results.
Intangible assets represent both indefinite-lived and definite-lived assets. Acquired accreditation and regulatory approvals, and trade name and trademarks are deemed to have
indefinite useful lives and accordingly are not amortized but are tested annually for impairment. Student relationships and curriculums are deemed to have definite lives and are
amortized accordingly.
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the requisite service period, which is included in general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations. For employee stock option based awards, the Company calculates the fair value of the award on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of stock option based awards at the grant date under this model requires judgment, including
estimating volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock option based awards represent the
Company's best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. Stock option based awards are expensed as stockbased compensation over the vesting term, which is included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
For non-employee stock option based awards, the Company follows ASU 2018-7, which substantially aligns share based compensation for employees and non-employees.
Restricted stock units ("RSUs") are awards in the form of shares denominated in the equivalent number of shares of AGI common stock. RSU awards may be subject to servicebased vesting, where a specific period of continued employment must
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pass before an award vests and/or other vesting restrictions based on the nature and recipient of the award. For RSU awards, the expense is typically measured at the grant date
as the fair value of AGI common stock and expensed as stock-based compensation over the vesting term, which is included in general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statement of operations.
Related Party Transactions
The Company did not have any related party transactions in fiscal year 2022.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of April 30, 2022.
New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included herein for discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements regarding our continuing
focus on the nursing profession, our future operations with respect to our Arizona locations, resolution of the Consent Agreement with the Arizona Board of Nursing, future
NCLEX and pass rates in Arizona and at our other campus locations, expected growth in demand for nurses and nursing degrees, the expected changes in our expenditures in
fiscal year 2023, including the length of our current reduction in marketing expenses, completion of any financing, the anticipated changes in enrollments and bookings, our
beliefs with respect to our student acquisition costs and faculty cost model, the future job opportunities for licensed practical nurses and registered nurses, future competitive
trends in our industry, including increased competition as the result of the COVID-19 pandemic and other factors, our future ability to provide lower costs per enrollment, our
estimates concerning LTV and ARPU, our expectations regarding future trends in the six-year MPP accounts receivable and collections, the future impact of our enhanced
recovery and collections process, the expected continued revenue growth in the BSN Pre-Licensure and USU businesses and spending focus on our highest LTV degree
programs to achieve our long-term growth plans, allowance for doubtful accounts and cash flow from operations, the impact of bookings, future expansion of our operating
margins, the expected revenue trends and sources of future revenue growth, our anticipated working capital trends, and our future liquidity. All statements other than statements
of historical facts contained in this report, including statements regarding our future financial position, liquidity, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for
future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “should,” “plan,” “could,” “target,” “potential,”
“is likely,” “will,” “expect” and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements
largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business
strategy and financial needs.
The results anticipated by any or all of these forward-looking statements might not occur. Important factors, uncertainties and risks that may cause actual results to differ
materially from these forward-looking statements are discussed in the Risk Factors section of this Report and include, without limitation, our ability to successfully implement
the fiscal year 2023 business plan and the accuracy of the assumptions used in estimating the results of such implementation, continued high demand for nurses for our new
programs and in general, student attrition, national and local economic factors including the labor market shortages, future NCLEX scores of our students in Arizona and in
other locations will not be sufficient to meet regulatory requirements, the failure to obtain approval from the National Council for State Authorization Reciprocity Agreements,
competition from nursing schools in local markets, the competitive impact from the trend of major non-profit universities using online education and consolidation among our
competitors, the continued effectiveness of our marketing and cost reduction efforts, the effectiveness of our collection efforts and process improvements, our ability to obtain
and maintain the necessary regulatory approvals to operate our existing campuses , national and local economic factors including the substantial impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, the war in Ukraine and inflation and Federal Reserve interest rate increases in response on the economy, unfavorable regulatory changes, and our failure to continue
obtaining enrollments at low acquisition costs and keeping teaching and administrative costs down. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as the result of new information, future events or otherwise. For more information regarding some of the ongoing risks and uncertainties of our business,
see the Risk Factors and our other filings with the SEC.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
The consolidated financial statements and the other information required by this Item can be found beginning on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer, required by Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on their evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the period covered by this report to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer
and Principal Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report. In making this
assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsor Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework as issued in 2013. In evaluating our information technology controls, management also used components of the framework contained in the Control Objectives for
Information and Related Technology, which was developed by the Information Systems Audit and Control Association’s IT Governance Institute, as a complement to the
COSO internal control framework. Based on these evaluations, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on these
criteria.
Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120
days of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.
Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to all officers, directors and employees, which is available on our website (http://ir.aspen.edu/governance-docs)
under "Governance Documents." We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our
Code of Ethics and by posting such information on our website at the address and location specified above.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120
days of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120
days of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120
days of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120
days of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) Documents filed as part of the report.
(1)

Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page F-1 hereof. The financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to
Consolidated Financial Statements are filed herewith in response to this Item.

(2)

Financial Statements Schedules. All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is contained in the consolidated financial
statements or notes included in this report.

(3)

Exhibits. See the Exhibit Index.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit #

3.1
3.1(a)
3.2
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.2(a)
10.2(b)
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23

Exhibit Description

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation - authorized shares
Bylaws, as amended
Description of securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act of 1934
Aspen Group, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended*
Aspen Group, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended*
Amendment No. 3 to the Aspen Group, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan*
Amendment No. 4 to the Aspen Group, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan*
Employment Agreement effective July 21, 2021, by the Company and Michael
Mathews*
Employment Agreement dated November 24, 2014 - Gerard Wendolowski*
Employment Agreement dated June 11, 2017 – Cheri St. Arnauld*
Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2019 – Anne McNamara*
Employment Agreement dated December 1, 2020 - Robert Alessi*
Employment Agreement, effective August 16, 2021, by the Company and
Matthew LaVay*
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement*
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement – price based vesting*
Form of Stock Option Agreement*
Amended and Restated Revolving Promissory Note and Security Agreement,
dated March 6, 2019
Form of Investors/Registration Rights Agreement dated January 22, 2020
Confidential Severance Agreement, dated February 25, 2021, by and between
the Company and Frank J. Cotroneo
Warrant dated July 21, 2021
Form of Revolving Promissory Note and Security Agreement+
Form of Convertible Promissory Note and Security Agreement+
Form of Intercreditor Agreement
Form of Investors/Registration Rights Agreement dated March 14, 2022
Form of Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Revolving Promissory
Note and Security Agreement
Form of Letter Agreement +
Consent Agreement dated March 31, 2022
First Amendment to Intercreditor Agreement dated April 22, 2022

68

Form

Date

Number

10-K
8-K
10-Q
10-K
S-8
10-Q
DEF 14A
10-Q
8-K

7/9/2019
7/12/2022
3/15/2018
7/9/2019
9/21/2020
3/16/2021
11/5/2021
3/15/2022
7/23/2021

3.1
3.1
3.2
4.1
10.1
10.1
Annex A
10.7
10.1

10-K
10-K
10-K
10-Q
8-K

7/28/2015
7/25/2017
7/7/2020
3/16/2021
8/16/2021

10.19
10.5
10.6
10.2
10.1

10-K
10-K
10-K
10-Q

7/7/2020
7/7/2020
7/7/2020
3/11/2019

10.9
10.10
10.11
10.5

8-K
10-K

1/23/2020
7/13/2021

10.3
10.13

10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
10-Q
10-Q

9/14/2021
3/15/2022
3/15/2022
3/15/2022
3/15/2022
3/15/2022

10.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5

10-Q

3/15/2022

10.6

8-K
8-K

4/1/2022
4/27/2022

99.1
10.1

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

Table of Contents

21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Principal Executive Officer (302)
Certification of Principal Financial Officer (302)
Certification of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officer (906)
Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document
does not appear in the Interactive Data File because
its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document)
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101)

10-K

7/13/2021

21.1
Filed
Filed
Filed
Furnished**
Filed

Filed
Filed
Filed
Filed
Filed

——————
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** This exhibit is being furnished rather than filed and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing, in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
+ Certain schedules, appendices and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission staff upon request.
Copies of this report (including the financial statements) and any of the exhibits referred to above will be furnished at no cost to our shareholders who make a written request to
Aspen Group, Inc., at the address on the cover page of this report, Attention: Corporate Secretary.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY.
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Aspen Group, Inc.
Date: July 29, 2022

By:

/s/ Michael Mathews
Michael Mathews
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Michael Mathews
Michael Mathews

Principal Executive Officer and Director

July 29, 2022

/s/ Matthew LaVay
Matthew LaVay

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

July 29, 2022

/s/ Robert Alessi
Robert Alessi

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

July 29, 2022

/s/ Andrew Kaplan
Andrew Kaplan

Director

July 29, 2022

/s/ Michael Koehneman
Michael Koehneman

Director

July 29, 2022

/s/ Sanford Rich
Sanford Rich

Director

July 29, 2022

/s/ Doug Kass
Doug Kass

Director

July 29, 2022

/s/ Dr. Joan Prince
Dr. Joan Prince

Director

July 29, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of:
Aspen Group, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aspen Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of April 30, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated
statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended April 30, 2022, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Company as of April 30, 2022 and 2021, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended April 30,
2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which
they relate.
Valuation of Accounts Receivable
As described in footnote 2 “Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable” and in footnote 3, to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s
consolidated accounts receivable balances, both current and long-term contractual accounts receivable net of the related allowance for doubtful receivables of $3,460,288, was
$35,765,766 at April 30, 2022. Accounts receivable balances are evaluated by management for collectability periodically and at year end. The determination of the valuation of
these balances requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions related to the intent and ability of the debtor to pay the amounts due to the Company.
We identified the valuation of accounts receivable as a critical audit matter. Auditing management’s judgments regarding the intent and ability of the debtor to pay the amounts
due to the Company involved a high degree of subjectivity.
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included (a) reviewed management’s process for developing an estimate of the allowance to be
recorded, (b) performed accuracy and completeness tests related to system generated data utilized to develop managements estimates, (c) tested management’s significant
assumptions (d) reviewed and verified the historical and subsequent collection history and the age of these receivables through the date of our procedures and (e) performed
attribute testing on select data utilized by management in developing an estimate of the allowance to be recorded.
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Goodwill and Intangibles Impairment Assessment
As described in footnote 2 “Goodwill and Intangibles” and in footnote 5, to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated Goodwill balance was
$5,011,432 and Intangible Assets, net was $7,900,000 at April 30, 2022. Goodwill is tested for impairment by management at least annually at the reporting unit level and
intangible assets with indefinite-lives are also tested for impairment at least annually. The determination of fair value of a reporting unit or fair value of indefinite-lived
intangible assets requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions related to forecasts of future revenues, operating margins, discount rates and contributory
asset charges. As disclosed by management, changes in these assumptions could have a significant impact on either the fair value of the reporting unit, the goodwill impairment
charge, or both and on the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible assets.
We identified the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment assessment as a critical audit matter. Auditing management’s judgments regarding forecasts of future
revenues and operating margins, the discount rate to be applied and the contributory asset charge involved a high degree of subjectivity.
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included (a) evaluated the reasonableness of management’s forecasts by comparing them to historical
information, year to date current information and other supporting information, (b) assessed the reasonableness of the discount rate by evaluating each component, (c) evaluated
if the valuation methods used by management were appropriate and (d) recomputed the valuation amounts and the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment
computations.
Analysis of Going Concern Risk
The Company has an accumulated deficit at April 30, 2022 and net loss and net cash used in operating activities for the year ended April 30, 2022. These are considered adverse
conditions or events that lead management to consider whether there is substantial doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time.
However, management believes that their planned cost cutting measures and current substantial positive working capital alleviate the substantial doubt related to going concern
and the need for a going concern risk disclosure.
We identified the going concern risk analysis as a critical audit matter. Auditing management’s going concern analysis including their process to develop the analysis and the
projections of future cash flows, operating trends, and assessments of internal and external matters that may affect the Company’s future operations and cash flows involved a
high degree of subjectivity. Additionally, auditing management’s plans to address the going concern risk involved highly subjective auditor judgment.
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included (a) Assessed the reasonableness of management’s process for developing their assessment of
whether a going concern risk exists, (b) Assessed the reasonableness of assumptions management used in their cash flow projections including comparison to prior year results,
and consideration of positive and negative evidence impacting management’s forecasts (c) Tested cash balances as of April 30, 2022 and reviewed management’s cash balances
just prior to the issuance date of the consolidated financial statements, (d) Identified management’s plans for dealing with the adverse conditions and events discussed above and
assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions of such plans, (e) Assessed whether it is probable that management’s plans, when implemented, will mitigate the adverse effects
of the conditions and events discussed above, (f) Concluded whether substantial doubt exists as to whether the Company can continue as a going concern for a period of one
year after the consolidated financial statements are issued.

/s/Salberg & Company, P.A.
SALBERG & COMPANY, P.A.
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012
Boca Raton, Florida
July 29, 2022

2295 NW Corporate Blvd., Suite 240 • Boca Raton, FL 33431-7328
Phone: (561) 995-8270 • Toll Free: (866) CPA-8500 • Fax: (561) 995-1920
www.salbergco.com • info@salbergco.com
Member National Association of Certified Valuation Analysts • Registered with the PCAOB
Member CPAConnect with Affiliated Offices Worldwide • Member AICPA Center for Audit Quality
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
April 30,
2022

2021

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,460,288 and $3,289,816, respectively
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment:
Computer equipment and hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Instructional equipment
Software
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Courseware, net
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $0, and $625,963, respectively
Long-term contractual accounts receivable
Deferred financing costs
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Deposits and other assets
$

Total assets

6,482,750
6,433,397
24,359,241
1,358,635
748,568
39,382,591

$

12,472,082
1,193,997
16,724,744
1,077,831
68,529
31,537,183

1,516,475
2,193,261
7,179,896
715,652
10,285,096
2,100
21,892,480
(8,395,001)
13,497,479
5,011,432
7,900,000
274,047
—
11,406,525
369,902
12,645,950
578,125
91,066,051 $

956,463
1,705,101
5,729,324
421,039
8,488,635
247,767
17,548,329
(4,892,987)
12,655,342
5,011,432
7,908,360
187,296
45,329
10,249,833
18,056
12,714,863
479,212
80,806,906
(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
April 30,
2022

2021

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Due to students
Operating lease obligations, current portion
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt, net
Operating lease obligations, less current portion
Total liabilities

1,893,287
2,821,432
5,889,911
4,063,811
2,036,570
130,262
16,835,273

$

1,466,488
2,040,896
6,825,014
2,747,484
2,029,821
307,921
15,417,624

14,875,735
16,809,319
48,520,327

—
16,298,808
31,716,432

—

—

Commitments and contingencies - See Note 10
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized,
0 issued and 0 outstanding at April 30, 2022 and April 30, 2021
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized at April 30, 2022 and40,000,000 shares authorized at April 30,
2021,
25,357,764 issued and 25,202,278 outstanding at April 30, 2022
25,066,297 issued and 24,910,811 outstanding at April 30, 2021
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock (155,486 and 155,486 shares, respectively)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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25,358
112,081,564
(1,817,414)
(67,743,784)
42,545,724
91,066,051 $

25,067
109,040,824
(1,817,414)
(58,158,003)
49,090,474
80,806,906
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue

Years Ended April 30,
2022

2021

$

67,812,520

76,694,366

$

Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)
General and administrative
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

35,259,281
45,535,001
1,500,000
3,370,407
85,664,689

29,453,733
41,908,030
2,268,540
2,426,365
76,056,668

Operating loss

(8,970,323)

(8,244,148)

(718,786)
530,728
(188,058)

(2,051,381)
(120,800)
(2,172,181)

(9,158,381)

(10,416,329)

427,400

32,644

Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

(9,585,781) $

(10,448,973)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

$

(0.38) $

(0.44)

25,016,437

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2022 AND 2021
Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance as of April 30, 2020
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued for stock options exercised for cash
Common stock issued for cashless exercise of stock options
Common stock issued for conversion of Convertible Notes
Common stock issued for vested restricted stock units
Common stock issued for warrants exercised for cash
Common stock issued for services
Modification charge for warrants exercised
Amortization of warrant-based cost issued for services
Cancellation of treasury stock
Net loss
Balance as of April 30, 2021
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued for stock options exercised for cash
Common stock issued for cashless exercise of stock options
Common stock issued for vested restricted stock units
Common stock issued for services
Warrants issued as a fee for line of credit agreement
Amortization of warrant-based cost issued for services
Net loss
Balance as of April 30, 2022

21,770,520 $
—
1,389,463
34,773
1,398,602
295,557
192,049
2,000
—
—
(16,667)
—
25,066,297 $
—
58,419
30,156
85,576
117,316
—
—
—
25,357,764 $

21,771 $
—
1,389
35
1,399
296
192
2
—
—
(17)
—
25,067 $
—
58
30
86
117
—
—
—
25,358 $

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

89,505,216 $
3,958,085
4,485,272
(35)
9,998,601
(296)
1,081,600
19,898
25,966
36,500
(69,983)
—
109,040,824 $
2,534,665
190,976
(30)
(86)
(117)
255,500
59,832
—
112,081,564 $

Treasury
Stock

(70,000) $
—
(1,817,414)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
70,000
—
(1,817,414) $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,817,414) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Deficit

(47,709,030) $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(10,448,973)
(58,158,003) $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(9,585,781)
(67,743,784) $

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

41,747,957
3,958,085
2,669,247
—
10,000,000
—
1,081,792
19,900
25,966
36,500
—
(10,448,973)
49,090,474
2,534,665
191,034
—
—
—
255,500
59,832
(9,585,781)
42,545,724
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of warrant-based cost
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of debt discounts
Loss on asset disposition
Non-cash lease benefit
Tenant improvement allowances received from landlords
Modification charge for warrants exercised
Common stock issued for services
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other receivables
Other current assets
Accounts receivable, secured
Deposits and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Due to students
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$

(9,585,781) $

(10,448,973)

1,500,000
3,370,407
2,534,665
59,832
103,454
11,297
36,443
(230,416)
816,591
—
—

2,268,540
2,426,365
3,958,085
36,500
164,362
1,550,854
—
(27,796)
4,685,826
25,966
19,900

(9,203,042)
(280,804)
—
(680,039)
45,329
(98,913)
426,799
780,536
858,010
(1,564,934)
(177,659)
(11,278,225)

(8,215,190)
(136,160)
23,097
104,561
—
(164,341)
(39,371)
1,140,253
375,640
3,112,020
125,440
985,578

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of finite life intangible assets
Purchases of courseware and accreditation
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

—
(167,061)
(4,160,318)
(4,327,379)

(8,500)
(120,408)
(8,848,395)
(8,977,303)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from drawdown on Credit Facility
Proceeds from 2022 Convertible Notes
Payments of deferred financing costs
Proceeds from warrants exercised
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Net cash provided by financing activities

5,000,000
10,000,000
(335,362)
—
191,034
14,855,672

—
—
—
1,081,792
2,669,247
3,751,039
(Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year

$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year

$

(749,932) $
13,666,079
12,916,147 $

Supplemental disclosure cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

$

470,895

$

310,958

$

27,400

$

57,208

$

137,500

$

—

Warrants issued for Intercreditor Agreement Amendment

$

118,000

$

—

Common stock issued for conversion of Convertible Notes

$

—

$

10,000,000

Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Warrants issued as part of the 2018 Credit facility amendment

(4,240,686)
17,906,765
13,666,079

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheet that sum to the same such amounts
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows:
April 30,
2022

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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6,482,750
6,433,397
12,916,147

2021

$
$

12,472,082
1,193,997
13,666,079
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2022 and 2021

Note 1. Nature of Operations
Overview
Aspen Group, Inc. ("AGI") is an education technology holding company. AGI hastwo subsidiaries, Aspen University Inc. ("Aspen University" or "AU") organized in 1987, and
United States University Inc. ("United States University" or "USU").
All references to the “Company”, “AGI”, “Aspen Group”, “we”, “our” and “us” refer to Aspen Group, Inc., unless the context otherwise indicates.
AGI leverages its education technology infrastructure and expertise to allow its two universities, Aspen University and United States University, to deliver on the vision of
making college affordable again. Because we believe higher education should be a catalyst to our students’ long-term economic success, we exert financial prudence by
offering affordable tuition that is one of the greatest values in higher education. AGI’s primary focus relative to future growth is to target the high growth nursing profession.
Since 1993, Aspen University has been nationally accredited by the Distance Education Accrediting Council (“DEAC”), an institutional accrediting agency recognized by the
United States Department of Education (the “DOE”), through January 2024.
Since 2009, USU has been institutionally accredited by WASC Senior College and University Commission (“WSCUC”).
Both universities are qualified to participate under the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended ("HEA") and the Federal student financial assistance programs (Title IV, HEA
programs). USU has a provisional certification resulting from the ownership change of control in connection with the acquisition by AGI on December 1, 2017.
Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AGI and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
Accounting Estimates
Management of the Company is required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions during the preparation of its consolidated financial statements in accordance
with GAAP. These estimates, judgments and assumptions impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant estimates in the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the allowance for doubtful accounts, the valuation of lease liabilities and the carrying value
of the related right-of-use assets ("ROU assets"), depreciable lives of property and equipment, amortization periods and valuation of courseware, intangibles and software
development costs, valuation of goodwill, valuation of loss contingencies, valuation of stock-based compensation and the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash
For the purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.
Restricted cash as of April 30, 2022, of $6,433,397 consists of $5 million, which is collateral for an approximately $18.3 million surety bond required by the Arizona State
Board for Postsecondary Education, $1,173,525, which is collateral for
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ASPEN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2022 and 2021

letters of credit for the Aspen University and USU facility operating leases, $9,872 which is collateral for a letter of credit for USU required to be posted based on the level of
Title IV funding in connection with USU's most recent Compliance Audit, and a $250,000 compensating balance under a secured credit line.
Restricted cash as of April 30, 2021, of $1,193,997 consisted of $934,125 which is collateral for letters of credit for the Aspen University and USU facility operating leases,
$9,872, which is collateral for a letter of credit for USU required to be posted based on the level of Title IV funding in connection with USU's most recent Compliance Audit,
and a $250,000 compensating balance under a secured credit line.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company maintains its cash in bank and financial institution deposits that at times may exceed federally insured limits of $250,000 per financial institution. The Company
has not experienced any losses in such accounts from inception through April 30, 2022. As of April 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company maintained deposits exceeding federally
insured limits by $7,749,715 and $13,005,537, respectively, held in two separate institutions.
Goodwill and Intangibles
The Company assesses goodwill on its one reporting unit and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually as of April 30, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit or the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset below its carrying value.
Goodwill currently represents the excess of purchase price over the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the 2017 acquisition of USU. Goodwill has
an indefinite life and is not amortized.
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic
350), to simplify how an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures a goodwill impairment loss
by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company early adopted this standard effective April 30, 2018. We have selected an April 30 annual goodwill impairment test date.
When evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill, management first assess a range of qualitative factors, including but not limited to, macroeconomic conditions, industry
conditions, the competitive environment, changes in the market for the Company’s products and services, regulatory and political developments, entity specific factors such as
strategy and changes in key personnel, and the overall financial performance for each of the Company’s reporting units. If, after completing this assessment, it is determined that
it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, we then proceed to the quantitative impairment testing.
We compare the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, with its fair value, as determined. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then
the amount of impairment to be recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.
When required, we arrive at our estimates of fair value using a discounted cash flow methodology which includes estimates of future cash flows to be generated by a component
where the goodwill is recorded, as well as determining a discount rate to measure the present value of those anticipated cash flows. Estimating future cash flows requires
significant judgment and includes making assumptions about projected growth rates, industry-specific factors, working capital requirements, weighted average cost of capital,
and current and anticipated operating conditions. The use of different assumptions or estimates for future cash flows could produce different results.
Intangible assets represent both indefinite-lived and definite-lived assets. Acquired accreditation and regulatory approvals, and trade name and trademarks are deemed to have
indefinite useful lives and accordingly are not amortized but are tested annually for impairment. Student relationships and curriculums are deemed to have definite lives and are
amortized accordingly.
Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2022 and 2021

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The Company classifies assets and liabilities recorded at fair value under the fair value hierarchy based upon the
observability of inputs used in valuation techniques. Observable inputs (highest level) reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs (lowest
level) reflect internally developed market assumptions. The fair value measurements are classified under the following hierarchy:
Level 1—Observable inputs that reflect quoted market prices (unadjusted) for identical assets and liabilities in active markets;
Level 2—Observable inputs, other than quoted market prices, that are either directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace for identical or similar assets and
liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term
of the assets and liabilities; and
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to the fair value of assets or liabilities.
The estimated fair value of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are carried at
historical cost basis, which approximates their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.
The Company’s non-financial assets, such as goodwill, intangible assets, ROU assets, and property and equipment, are adjusted to fair value only when an impairment is
recognized. Such fair value measurements are based predominantly on Level 3 inputs.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable
All students are required to select both a primary and secondary payment option with respect to amounts due to AGI for tuition, fees and other expenses. The monthly payment
plan represents the majority of the payments that are made by AGI's total active students, making it the most common payment type. In instances where a student selects
financial aid as the primary payment option, the student often selects personal cash as the secondary option. If a student who has selected financial aid as the student's primary
payment option withdraws prior to the end of a course but after the date that AGI’s institutional refund period has expired, the student will have incurred the obligation to pay
the full cost of the course. If the withdrawal occurs before the date at which the student has earned 100% of the student's financial aid, AGI may have to return all or a portion of
the Title IV funds to the DOE and the student will owe AGI all amounts incurred that are in excess of the amount of financial aid that the student earned, and that AGI is entitled
to retain. In this case, AGI must collect the receivable using the student’s second payment option.
For accounts receivable from students and payors other than students, AGI records an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability, failure
or refusal of its students or other payors to make required payments, which includes the recovery of financial aid funds advanced to a student for amounts in excess of the
student’s cost of tuition and related fees. AGI estimates the amounts to adjust the allowance based upon the risk presented by the age of the receivables, student status, payment
type, program and estimate of new revenue. AGI writes off accounts receivable balances at the time the balances are deemed uncollectible. AGI continues to reflect accounts
receivable with an offsetting allowance as long as management believes there is a reasonable possibility of collection.
When a student signs up for the monthly payment plan, there is a contractual amount that the Company can expect to earn over the life of the student’s program. This
contractual amount cannot be recorded as an accounts receivable until revenue is earned because the student does have the option to stop attending. As a student takes a class,
revenue is earned over the class term. Some students accelerate their program, taking two or more classes every eight-week period, which increases the student’s accounts
receivable balance. If any portion of that balance will be paid in a period greater than 12 months, that portion is reflected as long-term contractual accounts receivable. At
April 30, 2022 and 2021, those balances are $11,406,525 and $10,249,833, respectively. The Company has determined that the long-term contractual accounts receivable do
not constitute a significant financing component as the list price, cash selling price and promised consideration are equal. Further, the interest free financing portion of the
monthly payment plans are not considered significant to the contract.
Property and Equipment
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Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred. Depreciation
and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the lease term, if
shorter.
Category

Useful Life

Computer equipment and hardware
Software
Instructional equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold Improvements

3 years
5 years
5 years
7 years
The lesser of 8 years or lease term

Costs incurred to develop internal-use software during the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Internal-use software development costs are capitalized during the
application development stage, which is after: (i) the preliminary project stage is completed; and (ii) management authorizes and commits to funding the project and it is
probable the project will be completed and used to perform the function intended. Capitalization ceases at the point the software project is substantially complete and ready for
its intended use, and after all substantial testing is completed. Upgrades and enhancements are capitalized if it is probable that those expenditures will result in additional
functionality. Amortization is provided for on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of five years of the internal-use software development costs and related upgrades
and enhancements. When existing software is replaced with new software, the unamortized costs of the old software are expensed when the new software is ready for its
intended use.
The Company has construction in progress which includes property and equipment amounts for new campuses. These assets are not depreciated until they are completed and
reclassified to the appropriate category within property and equipment.
Upon the retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed and a gain or loss is recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred.
Courseware and Accreditation
The Company records the costs of courseware and accreditation in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 350 “Intangibles - Goodwill and
Other”.
Generally, costs of courseware creation and enhancement are capitalized. Accreditation renewal or extension costs related to intangible assets are capitalized as incurred.
Courseware is stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided for on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of five years.
Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets, which consist of ROU assets, property and equipment, and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash
flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying value is deemed not to be recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded equal to the
amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets is computed either on a straight-line basis or
based on the pattern in which the economic benefits of the asset will be realized.
Due to Students
The Company receives Title IV funds from the Department of Education to cover tuition and living expenses. After deducting tuition and fees, the Company sends payment for
the remaining balances to the students.
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Leases
The Company accounts for leases in accordance with FASB issued ASU No. 2016-2,Leases (Topic 842). The Company enters into various lease agreements in conducting its
business. At the inception of each lease, the Company evaluates the lease agreement to determine whether the lease is an operating or financing lease. Leases may contain initial
periods of free rent and/or periodic escalations. When such items are included in a lease agreement, the Company records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the initial
term of a lease. The difference between the rent payment and the straight-line rent expense is recorded as additional amortization. The Company expenses any additional
payments under its operating leases for taxes, insurance or other operating expenses as incurred.
Lease incentives received are deducted from the ROU assets and classified as leasehold improvements. The asset reduction due to incentives is classified within cash flows from
operations. The corresponding leasehold improvement is amortized over the life of the lease term and classified within cash flows from investing activities.
Disclosures related to the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases are included in Note 12. Leases.
Treasury Stock
Purchases and sales of treasury stock are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, shares acquired are recorded at the acquisition price directly to the treasury
stock account. Upon sale, the treasury stock account is reduced by the original acquisition price of the shares and any difference is recorded in equity. This method does not
allow the company to recognize a gain or loss to income from the purchase and sale of treasury stock.
Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue
The Company follows ASC 606. ASC 606 is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This ASC also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer purchase orders, including significant judgments.
Revenue consists primarily of tuition and course fees derived from courses taught by the Company online and in-person as well as from related educational resources and
services that the Company provides to its students. Under ASC 606, tuition and course fee revenue is recognized pro-rata over the applicable period of instruction and are not
considered separate performance obligations. Non-tuition related revenue and fees are recognized as services are provided or when the goods are received by the student.
Students may receive discounts, scholarships, or refunds, which gives rise to variable consideration. Discounts and scholarships are applied to individual student accounts when
such amounts are awarded. Therefore, the tuition is reduced directly by these discounts or scholarships from the amount of the standard tuition rate charged.
The Company's disaggregated revenue disclosures are presented in Note 13. Revenue.
Deferred revenue, a contract liability, represents the amount of tuition, fees, and other student payments received in excess of the portion recognized as revenue and it is
included in current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Other revenue may be recognized as sales occur or services are performed.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists of two categories of cost, instructional costs and services, and marketing and promotional costs.
Instructional Costs and Services
Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the Company's educational programs. This expense category includes
compensation costs associated with online and in-person faculty, technology license costs and costs associated with other support groups that provide services directly to the
students and are included in cost of revenue. Total instructional costs and services were $19,463,085 and $15,275,131 for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively,
and are included in cost of revenue.
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Marketing and Promotional Costs
Marketing and promotional costs include costs associated with producing marketing materials and advertising. Such costs are generally affected by the cost of advertising
media, the efficiency of the Company's marketing and recruiting efforts, and expenditures on advertising initiatives for new and existing academic programs. The Company's
marketing generally consists of non-direct response advertising activities and are expensed as incurred, or the first time the advertising takes place, depending on the type of
advertising activity. Total marketing and promotional costs were $15,796,196 and $14,178,602 for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and are included in
cost of revenue.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses include compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance, human resources, information technology, academic
operations, compliance and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, financial aid processing costs, noncapitalizable courseware and software costs, travel and entertainment expenses and facility costs.
Legal Expenses
All legal costs for litigation are charged to expense as incurred.
Income Taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method to compute the differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the related financial statement amounts. Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that, more likely than not, will be realized. The Company has deferred tax assets and
liabilities that reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are subject to periodic recoverability assessments. Realization of the deferred tax assets, net of deferred tax liabilities, is principally
dependent upon achievement of projected future taxable income.
The Company records a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company accounts for
uncertainty in income taxes using a two-step approach for evaluating tax positions. Step one, recognition, occurs when the Company concludes that a tax position, based solely
on its technical merits, is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination. Step two, measurement, is only addressed if the position is more likely than not to be
sustained. Under step two, the tax benefit is measured as the largest amount of benefit, determined on a cumulative probability basis, which is more likely than not to be realized
upon ultimate settlement. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the requisite service period, which is included in general and
administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations. For employee stock option based awards, the Company calculates the fair value of the award on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of stock option based awards at the grant date under this model requires judgment, including
estimating volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock option based awards represent the
Company's best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. Stock option based awards are expensed as stockbased compensation over the vesting term, which is included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
For non-employee stock option based awards, the Company follows ASU 2018-7, which substantially aligns share based compensation for employees and non-employees.
Restricted stock units ("RSUs") are awards in the form of shares denominated in the equivalent number of shares of AGI common stock. RSU awards may be subject to servicebased vesting, where a specific period of continued employment must pass before an award vests and/or other vesting restrictions based on the nature and recipient of the
award. For RSU awards, the
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expense is typically measured at the grant date as the fair value of AGI common stock and expensed as stock-based compensation over the vesting term, which is included in
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
Net Loss Per Share
Net loss per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each period. Options, warrants, RSUs and unvested restricted stock
are not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share because the effects would have been anti-dilutive. These common stock equivalents and any others such as
convertible debt are only included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share of common stock when their effect is dilutive.
All shares mentioned above were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share because the effects would have been anti-dilutive. The options, warrants, RSUs,
unvested restricted stock (see Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity) and Convertible Notes (convertible into 10 million shares of common stock as of April 30, 2022) are considered
to be common stock equivalents and are only included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share of common stock when their effect is dilutive. Additionally, $10 million of
Convertible Notes automatically converted into 1,398,602 shares of common stock in the second quarter of fiscal year 2021. See Note 11. Stockholders' Equity.
Segment Information
The Company operates in one reportable segment as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that serves the curriculum and educational delivery needs
of its online and campus students regardless of geography. The Company's chief operating decision makers, its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Academic Officer, manage the Company's operations as a whole.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recent Accounting Pronouncement Adopted
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06,Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s
Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), to simplify accounting for certain financial instruments. ASU No. 2020-06 eliminates the current models that require separation of beneficial
conversion and cash conversion features from convertible instruments and simplifies the derivative scope exception guidance pertaining to equity classification of contracts in
an entity’s own equity. The new standard also introduces additional disclosures for convertible debt and freestanding instruments that are indexed to and settled in an entity’s
own equity. ASU No. 2020-06 amends the diluted earnings per share guidance, including the requirement to use the if-converted method for all convertible instruments. ASU
No. 2020-06 is effective January 1, 2022 and should be applied on a full or modified retrospective basis, with early adoption permitted beginning on January 1, 2021. The
Company adopted ASU No. 2020-06 effective January 1, 2021. The adoption of ASU No. 2020-06 did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13,Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which
significantly changes how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets, including accounts receivable. ASU No. 2016-13 will replace today’s “incurred loss”
approach with an “expected loss” model, under which companies will recognize allowances based on expected rather than incurred losses. On November 15, 2019, the FASB
delayed the effective date of Topic 326 for certain small public companies and other private companies until fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 for SEC filers that
are eligible to be smaller reporting companies under the SEC’s definition, as well as private companies and not-for-profit entities. The Company is currently evaluating the new
guidance and has not yet determined whether the adoption of the new standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements or the method of adoption.
In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-02,Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures. The guidance
was issued as improvements to ASU No. 2016-13 described above. The vintage disclosure changes require an entity to disclose current-period gross write-offs by year of
origination for financing receivables. The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. The amendments should be applied prospectively. Early adoption of the amendments
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is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The amendments will impact our disclosures but will not otherwise impact the consolidated financial statements. The
Company is currently evaluating the new guidance.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
The Company has concluded that based on industry practices, the preferred presentation for cash received in advance for unearned tuition and stipends should be reclassified
from "restricted cash" to "cash and cash equivalents." The cash balance of $3,958,793 for funds held for students for unbilled educational services that were received from Title
IV and non-Title IV programs at April 30, 2021, which was previously included in "restricted cash" in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, was reclassified to "cash
and cash equivalents" to align with the current year presentation. There is no impact to total current assets included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at April 30,
2021. The restricted cash balance at April 30, 2021, now includes collateral for letters of credit and a compensating balance arrangement under a secured credit line of
$1,193,997.
Note 3. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consisted of the following at April 30, 2022 and 2021:
April 30,
2022

Total accounts receivable, gross
Long-term contractual accounts receivable
Accounts receivable, gross
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

Accounts receivable, net

$

39,226,054 $
(11,406,525)
27,819,529
(3,460,288)
24,359,241 $

2021

30,264,393
(10,249,833)
20,014,560
(3,289,816)
16,724,744

Bad debt expense for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, was $1,500,000 and $2,268,540, respectively.
Note 4. Property and Equipment
As property and equipment reach the end of their useful lives, the fully expired assets are written off against the associated accumulated depreciation and amortization.
When assets are disposed of before reaching the end of their useful lives, both the recorded cost of the fixed asset and the corresponding amount of accumulated depreciation is
reversed. Any remaining difference between the two is recognized as either other income or expense.
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
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April 30,

Computer equipment and hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Instructional equipment
Software
Construction in progress

$

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
$

Property and equipment, net

2022

2021

1,516,475 $
2,193,261
7,179,896
715,652
10,285,096
2,100
21,892,480
(8,395,001)
13,497,479 $

956,463
1,705,101
5,729,324
421,039
8,488,635
247,767
17,548,329
(4,892,987)
12,655,342

Software consisted of the following:
April 30,

Software
Accumulated amortization
Software, net

$
$

2022

2021

10,285,096 $
(5,170,943)
5,114,153 $

8,488,635
(3,444,325)
5,044,310

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment and software is summarized below:
Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Depreciation and amortization expense:
Property and equipment, excluding software
Software amortization expense

$
$

1,555,119
1,726,618

$
$

975,900
1,405,756

The following is a schedule of estimated future amortization expense of software at April 30, 2022 (by fiscal year):
Future Expense

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027

$

Total

$

1,763,621
1,473,045
1,070,781
610,861
195,845
5,114,153

Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In connection with the acquisition of the USU business on December 1, 2017, the amount paid over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets was 5$,011,432, which
is in included in "Goodwill" in the consolidated balance sheet.
The goodwill resulting from the acquisition may become deductible for tax purposes in the future. The goodwill resulting from the acquisition is principally attributable to the
future earnings potential associated with enrollment growth and other intangibles that do not qualify for separate recognition such as the assembled workforce.
We assigned an indefinite useful life to the acquired accreditation and regulatory approvals and the trade name and trademarks, of $7.9 million, as we believe they have the
ability to generate cash flows indefinitely. In addition, there are no legal, regulatory, contractual, economic or other factors to limit the intangibles’ useful life and the Company
intends to renew the intangibles, as applicable, and renewal can be accomplished at little cost. We determined all other acquired intangibles are
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finite-lived, of $2.2 million, and they became fully amortized during fiscal 2020. There wasno amortization expense for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021.

Note 6. Courseware and Accreditation
As courseware and accreditation reach the end of their useful life, they are written off against the accumulated amortization. There is no expense impact for such write-offs for
the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021.
Courseware and accreditation consisted of the following:
April 30,
2022

Courseware
Accreditation

$

Accumulated amortization
Courseware and accreditation, net

$

2021

575,283 $
59,350
634,633
(360,586)
274,047 $

408,222
59,350
467,572
(280,276)
187,296

Amortization expense of courseware and accreditation is as follows:
Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Courseware and accreditation amortization expense

$

80,310

$

44,709

Amortization expense is included in "Depreciation and amortization" in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
The following is a schedule of estimated future amortization expense of courseware and accreditation at April 30, 2022 (by fiscal year):
Future Expense

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
Total

$

$

83,690
70,142
59,054
52,579
8,582
274,047

Note 7. Secured Note and Accounts Receivable
On March 30, 2008 and December 1, 2008, Aspen University sold courseware pursuant to marketing agreements to Higher Education Management Group, Inc. (“HEMG”),
which was then a related party and principal stockholder of the Company. As discussed in Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies, the Company and Aspen University sued
HEMG seeking to recover sums due under the agreements. Ultimately, the Company and Aspen University obtained a favorable default judgment, and as a result received a
distribution from the bankruptcy trustee court of $498,120, which was included in "other (expense) income, net" in the consolidated statements of operations during the year
ended April 30, 2022. Due to the bankruptcy of HEMG, the Company also wrote off a net receivable of $45,329 in the same period.
Note 8. Accrued Expenses
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April 30,
2022

Accrued compensation
Accrued foreign taxes
Accrued marketing
Accrued professional fees
Accrued interest
Other accrued expenses

$

Accrued expenses

$

2021

1,353,757
400,000
387,588
371,703
49,315
259,069
2,821,432

$

$

1,244,261
—
437,642
70,151
23,014
265,828
2,040,896

Note 9. Long-term Debt, Net
April 30,
2022

Credit Facility due March 14, 2023 (the "2022 Revolving Credit Facility")
Credit Facility due November 4, 2023 (the "2018 Credit Facility"); interest payable monthly in arrears

$

12% Convertible Notes due March 14, 2027 (the "2022 Convertible Notes"); interest payable monthly in arrears
Total long-term debt
Less: Unamortized deferred financing costs
$

Total long-term debt, net

2021

—
5,000,000
10,000,000
15,000,000
124,265
14,875,735

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

2022 Convertible Notes
On March 14, 2022, the Company issued $10 million in principal convertible notes (the "2022 Convertible Notes") totwo unaffiliated lenders in exchange for $5 million notes
to each of the two unaffiliated lenders. The proceeds are used for general corporate purposes, including funding the Company’s expansion of its BSN Pre-Licensure nursing
degree program. The key terms of the Convertible Notes are as follows:
•
•

•
•
•

At any time after issuance date, the lenders had the right to convert the principal into our shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $1.00 per
share;
The Convertible Notes automatically convert at $1.00 per share into shares of the Company’s common stock if the average closing price of our common stock is at least
$2.00 over a 30 consecutive trading day period. This mandatory conversion is subject to each lender’s 9.9% beneficial ownership limitation and is also subject to the
Nasdaq combined 19.99% requirement which generally provides that a listed issuer may not issue 20% or more of its outstanding common stock or voting power in a
non-public offering at below a minimum price unless the Company’s stockholders first approve such issuance;
The Convertible Notes are due March 14, 2027 or approximatelyfive years from the closing;
The interest rate of the Convertible Notes is12% per annum (payable monthly in arrears); and
The Convertible Notes are secured by a first priority lien in all current and future accounts receivable of the Company’s subsidiaries, certain of the deposit accounts of
the Company and its subsidiaries and a pledge of the common stock of the Company held by its Chief Executive Officer (the “2022 Collateral”).

At closing of the 2022 Convertible Notes, the Company agreed to pay each lender's legal fees arising from this transaction of $135,562, which has been recorded as a deferred
financing cost debt discount and is being amortized in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
2022 Revolving Credit Facility
On March 14, 2022, the Company entered into Revolving Promissory Note and Security Agreements (the "2022 Revolver Agreements") with the same two unaffiliated lenders
(the "Lenders") of the 2022 Convertible Notes for a one-year, $20 million
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secured revolving line of credit that requires monthly interest payments on sums borrowed at the rate of12% per annum (the "2022 Revolving Credit Facility"). At April 30,
2022, there were no outstanding borrowings under the 2022 Revolving Credit Facility. The Company paid a1% commitment fee of $200,000 at closing, which was recorded as
a deferred financing cost, non-current asset, and is being amortized over the term of the loan of one-year, and if the revolving credit facility has not been replaced in six months
of the closing date, it must pay another 1% commitment fee.
Pursuant to the 2022 Convertible Notes and the 2022 Revolving Credit Facility (the "Notes"), all future indebtedness incurred by the Company, other than indebtedness
expressly permitted by the Notes, will be subordinated to the Notes and the Prior Credit Facility, as defined below, with an exception for acquisitions of software and equipment
under purchase money agreements and capital leases.
The Company’s obligations under the 2022 Revolver Agreements are secured by a first priority lien in the same 2022 Collateral as described above under "2022 Convertible
Notes."
On March 14, 2022, in connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company also entered into an intercreditor agreement (the “Intercreditor Agreement”) among the
Company, the Lenders and the lender under a prior credit facility dated November 5, 2018 (as amended, the “2018 Credit Facility”). The Intercreditor Agreement provides
among other things that the Company's obligations under, and the security interests in the Collateral granted pursuant to, the Note and the 2018 Credit Facility shall rank pari
passu to one another.
In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company also entered into an Investors/Registration Rights Agreement with the Lenders (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”) whereby, upon request of either Lender on or after August 15, 2022 the Company must file and obtain and maintain the effectiveness of a registration statement
registering the shares of common stock issued or issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes.
On March 14, 2022, the Company entered into an amendment with the lender pursuant to the 2018 Credit Facility to extend the maturity date of the 2018 Credit Facility byone
year to November 4, 2023.
On March 14, 2022, the Company entered into a letter agreement with the Lenders (the “Letter Agreement”). Pursuant to the Letter Agreement, the Company and its
subsidiaries made certain representations and warranties to the Lenders. The Letter Agreement also contained certain conditions precedent to the closing of the transactions.
On April 22, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with an insurance company which issued an approximately $18.3 million surety bond which was required by the
Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education. In order to cause the insurance company to deliver the surety bond, the Company entered into a First Amendment to
the Intercreditor Agreement with the two lenders of the March 14, 2022 financing arrangements to amend the Intercreditor Agreement entered into by the same parties on March
14, 2022 (the “Amendment”). The Amendment provides that the Company and each of the lenders, at all times prior to the delivery of the Termination Certificate (as defined
below), but for funding as directed by the surety bond as described more fully below, (i) the Company shall not be permitted to make any draw request or borrow any funds
under the 2022 Revolver Agreements and (ii) the lenders shall not be required to fund any loan or advance any funds under the 2022 Revolver Agreements. Upon that certain
surety bond ceasing to be outstanding, the Company shall deliver to the lenders a certificate (such certificate, the “Termination Certificate”), certifying that the surety bond is no
longer outstanding and that there are no further obligations in respect of the surety bond owing by the Company to the insurance company. Prior to issuance of the Termination
Certificate and during the time the surety bond is in effect, the insurance company may cause the Company to draw on funds for the express purposes of resolving claims filed
under the surety bond. In addition to the draw restriction on the 2022 Revolver Agreements, the insurance company required the Company to restrict $5 million of cash. As
consideration for the lenders agreeing to enter into the Amendment, the Company agreed to issue each lender 100,000 five-year warrants exercisable at $1.00 per share. The fair
value of the warrants is $118,000 and is being amortized over the 60-month term. The fair value of the warrants are treated as deferred financing costs, a non-current asset, in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets at April 30, 2022. Total unamortized costs at April 30, 2022 were $118,000. See Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity for additional
information related to these warrants.
2020 Convertible Notes
On January 22, 2020, the Company issued $5 million in principal amount convertible notes (the “2020 Convertible Notes”) to each oftwo lenders in exchange for the two
$5 million notes issued under senior secured term loans entered into in March 2019 as discussed below (the “Term Loans”). The Company recorded a beneficial conversion
feature on these Convertible Notes of
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$1,692,309. On September 14, 2020, after the closing price of our common stock was at least $10.725 over a 20 consecutive trading day period the Convertible Notes
automatically converted into 1,398,602 shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $7.15 per share. (See Note 11. Stockholders' Equity) The accelerated
amortization charge related to unamortized debt discounts as a result of the debt extinguishment in the second quarter of fiscal year 2021 was approximately $1.4 million, which
was included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company did not recognize any gains or losses as a result of this conversion.
2018 Credit Facility
On November 5, 2018, the Company entered into the 2018 Credit Facility Agreement with the Leon and Toby Cooperman Family Foundation (the “Foundation”). The Credit
Facility Agreement provides for a $5,000,000 revolving credit facility (the "2018 Credit Facility") evidenced by a revolving promissory note (the “Revolving Note”).
Borrowings under the 2018 Credit Facility Agreement bear interest at 12% per annum. Interest payments are due monthly through the term of the 2018 Credit Facility.
On August 31, 2021, the Company extended the 2018 Credit Facility Agreement with the Foundation byone year from November 4, 2021 to November 4, 2022. In conjunction
with the extension of the 2018 Credit Facility, the Company drew down funds of $5,000,000. At April 30, 2022 and 2021, there were $5,000,000 and no outstanding
borrowings, respectively, under the 2018 Credit Facility.
Additionally, on August 31, 2021, the Company issued to the Foundation warrants, as an extension fee, to purchase50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock exercisable
for five years from the date of issuance at the exercise price of $5.85 per share. The fair value of the warrants is $137,500 and is being amortized to interest expense through the
maturity date of November 4, 2023, as extended on March 14, 2022. On March 14, 2022, the Company extended its existing $5 million Credit Facility by one year to
November 4, 2023 at an increased interest rate from 12% to 14% per annum. The fair value of the warrants are treated as deferred financing costs, a non-current asset, in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets at April 30, 2022 to be amortized over the term of the 2018 Credit Facility. Total unamortized costs at April 30, 2022 were $68,569.
See Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity for additional information related to these warrants.
The 2018 Credit Facility Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and events of default. Pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Revolving Note, all
future or contemporaneous indebtedness incurred by the Company, other than indebtedness expressly permitted by the 2018 Credit Facility Agreement and the Revolving Note,
will be subordinated to the Facility. On March 6, 2019, the Company amended and restated the Credit Facility Agreement (the “Amended and Restated Facility Agreement”)
and the Revolving Note. The Amended and Restated Facility Agreement provides among other things that the Company’s obligations thereunder are secured by a first priority
lien in certain deposit accounts of the Company, all current and future accounts receivable of Aspen University and USU, certain of the deposit accounts of Aspen University
and USU and all of the outstanding capital stock of Aspen University and USU.
Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies
Employment Agreements
From time to time, the Company enters into employment agreements with certain of its employees. These agreements typically include bonuses, some of which may or may not
be performance-based in nature.
Legal Matters
From time to time, the Company may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of business. As of the date of this Report,
except as discussed below, we are not aware of any other pending or threatened lawsuits that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the results of our
operations, and there are no proceedings in which any of our directors, officers or affiliates, or any registered or beneficial shareholder, is an adverse party or has a material
interest adverse to our interest.
On April 6, 2022, Aspen was served with a class action claim in Arizona Superior Court, alleging violations of the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act and Unjust Enrichment, based
on the class representative’s claims that Aspen misstated the quality of its pre-licensure nursing program. This complaint was likely in response to the Arizona Board of Nursing
actions against Aspen
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relating to the program, as outlined below. At this time, the only action taken by Aspen was to file for change of venue which was granted. The size of the potential class is not
yet known.
On February 11, 2013, HEMG, and its Chairman, Mr. Patrick Spada, sued the Company, certain senior management members and our directors in state court in New York
seeking damages arising principally from (i) allegedly false and misleading statements in the filings with the SEC and the DOE where the Company disclosed that HEMG and
Mr. Spada borrowed $2.2 million without board authority, (ii) the alleged breach of an April 2012 agreement whereby the Company had agreed, subject to numerous conditions
and time limitations, to purchase certain shares of the Company from HEMG, and (iii) alleged diminution to the value of HEMG’s shares of the Company due to Mr. Spada’s
disagreement with certain business transactions the Company engaged in, all with Board approval.
On December 10, 2013, the Company filed a series of counterclaims against HEMG and Mr. Spada in the same state court of New York. By order dated August 4, 2014, the
New York court denied HEMG and Spada’s motion to dismiss the fraud counterclaim the Company asserted against them.
In November 2014, the Company and Aspen University sued HEMG seeking to recover sums due under two 2008 Agreements where Aspen University sold course materials to
HEMG in exchange for long-term future payments. On September 29, 2015, the Company and Aspen University obtained a default judgment in the amount of $772,793. This
default judgment precipitated the bankruptcy petition discussed in the next paragraph.
On July 21, 2021, the bankruptcy trustee paid the Company $498,120 based on assets available in the trust, which is included
in "other income (expense), net" in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As a result, the Company wrote
off the net receivable of $45,329 against the payment received as settlement in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 and recognized a gain, which is described in Note 7. Secured
Note and Accounts Receivable. No further assets are available for distribution. At some point, the New York state court litigation may resume.
Regulatory Matters
The Company’s subsidiaries, Aspen University and United States University, are subject to extensive regulation by Federal and State governmental agencies and accrediting
bodies. In particular, the Higher Education Act (the “HEA”) and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the DOE subject the subsidiaries to significant regulatory scrutiny
on the basis of numerous standards that schools must satisfy to participate in the various types of federal student financial assistance programs authorized under Title IV of the
HEA.
On August 22, 2017, the DOE informed Aspen University of its determination that the institution has qualified to participate under the HEA and the Federal student financial
assistance programs (Title IV, HEA programs) and set a subsequent program participation agreement reapplication date of March 31, 2021. On April 16, 2021, the DOE
granted provisional certification for a two-year timeframe, and set a subsequent program participation reapplication date of September 30, 2023.
On May 14, 2019, USU was granted temporary provisional certification to participate in the Title IV Programs due to its acquisition by the Company. The provisional
certification allowed the school to continue to receive Title IV funding as it did prior to the change of ownership. The provisional certification expired on December 31, 2020.
The institution submitted its recertification application timely in October 2020, and received full certification on May 6, 2022, and a new PPA was issued with an effective
period until December 31, 2025.
The HEA requires accrediting agencies to review many aspects of an institution's operations in order to ensure that the education offered is of sufficiently high quality to achieve
satisfactory outcomes and that the institution is complying with accrediting standards. Failure to demonstrate compliance with accrediting standards may result in the imposition
of probation, the requirements to provide periodic reports, the loss of accreditation or other penalties if deficiencies are not remediated.
Because our subsidiaries operate in a highly regulated industry, each may be subject from time to time to audits, investigations, claims of noncompliance or lawsuits by
governmental agencies or third parties, which allege statutory violations, regulatory infractions or common law causes of action.
The Company is also subject to regulation by self-regulatory bodies such as accreditors and by state regulators in certain states including states where the Company has a
physical presence. Aspen University’s first-time pass rates for our BSN pre-licensure
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students taking the NCLEX-RN test in Arizona fell from 80% in 2020 to 58% in 2021, which is below the minimum 80% standard set by the Arizona Board of Nursing. As a
result of the decline in NCLEX pass rates and other issues, and in alignment with a recommendation from the Arizona State Board of Nursing, the university voluntarily
suspended BSN pre-licensure enrollments and the formation of new cohorts at its two Phoenix pre-licensure locations, effective February 2022. In March 2022, Aspen
University entered into a Consent Agreement for Probation and a Civil Penalty (the “Consent Agreement”) with the Arizona State Board of Nursing in which Aspen University’s
Provisional Approval was revoked, with the revocation stayed pending Aspen University’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the Consent Agreement. The
probationary period is 36 months from the date of the Consent Agreement. In June 2022, the AZ BON granted approval of Aspen University’s request for provisional approval
as long as the program is in compliance with the consent agreement through March 31, 2025. The stay is broken into two phases, the first lasting through the end of Calendar
Year 2022. During Phase I, Aspen University is not permitted to enroll any new students into the core component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona, and must
achieve the AZ BON-required 80% NCLEX pass rate for the Calendar Year 2022 annual reporting cycle. If this benchmark is not achieved, the AZ BON may lift the stay and
initiate the revocation. If Phase I is completed successfully, Phase II will commence with Aspen on Probation (regular or “stayed revocation” probation, depending on the
outcome of Phase I). Aspen is permitted to begin enrollments into the core component of its pre-licensure nursing program in Arizona once four consecutive quarters of 80%
NCLEX first-time pass rates occur. However, once achieved, if the NCLEX pass rate falls below 80% for any quarter, the AZ BON may limit enrollments, and repeated
failures may result in a required cessation of enrollments and teach-out of the program. The terms of the Consent Agreement also include requirements that we provide the AZ
BON with monthly reports, provide that our faculty and administrators undergo additional training, retain an approved consultant to prepare and submit evaluations to the AZ
BON, and hire a minimum of 35% full-time qualified faculty by September 30, 2022. To date, Aspen has provided the required reports to the AZ BON timely, contracted for
and held the required faculty and administrator trainings, and hired and begun working with the AZ BON-approved consultant whose report to the AZ BON is due August 30,
2022. Aspen continues to work towards the 35% full-time faculty requirement (currently at 31%) and has hired a recruiting firm to assist in that endeavor. Aspen University is
not currently enrolling students in the BSN Pre-licensure program in Arizona.
Aspen University has also entered into a Stipulated Agreement with the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education which required the University to post a surety
bond for $18.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022. The Stipulated Agreement required the cessation of enrollment in both the pre-professional nursing and core
components of the program in Arizona, the submission of student records monthly, the removal of Arizona start date information from websites and catalogs, and monthly
reporting to the Board staff. The collateral for this surety bond of $5 million is included in "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheets.
Aspen University’s NC-SARA annual approval through the Colorado SARA State Portal Entity has to be renewed by January 30 each year. Aspen applied on January 18, 2022,
and received its 2022 approval effective February 8, 2022. On February 23, 2022, Aspen received a Notification of Provisional SARA Status from the Colorado SARA State
Portal Entity. On March 4, 2022, the DOE provided the final approval for Aspen’s move from Colorado to Arizona. On March 29, 2022, Aspen received a Notification of Loss
of Eligibility for SARA through Colorado which permitted continued SARA coverage for students enrolled for courses between February 1 and August 2. On April 10, 2022,
Aspen submitted an official appeal of the eligibility loss to the Colorado SARA State Portal Entity. We sought a return to the prior provisional status while the appeal was
pending or until the completion of the existing SARA term to February 2023 or until there was approval by the Arizona SARA Council. On April 12, 2022, Aspen was restored
to Provisional Status by the Colorado SARA State Portal Entity according to the terms of the February 23, 2022, letter. On May 17, 2022, Aspen was informed that our appeal
was denied and on June 10, 2022, we received a letter from the Colorado SARA State Portal Entry indicating that students currently enrolled in academic terms in progress as of
May 17, 2022, are covered under SARA for 16 weeks, until September 6, 2022. In the meantime, Aspen University submitted an application to the Arizona State Portal Entry
and was notified that it will be on the Arizona SARA Council agenda on September 8, 2022 to obtain approval to become an institutional participant again in NC-SARA from
its new primary location in Arizona. Since February 2022, the start of the regulatory concerns over SARA approval, Aspen has been seeking individual state authorizations for
its students, The institution is currently authorized in 30 states, and is in the development process with 20 states and the District of Columbia. Approximately 73% of our current
student body reside in the currently authorized states.
Title IV Funding
Aspen University and United States University derive a portion of their revenue from financial aid received by its students under programs authorized by Title IV of the HEA,
which is administered by the US Department of Education. When students seek funding from the federal government, they receive loans and grants to fund their education
under the following Title IV
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Programs: (1) the Federal Direct Loan program, or Direct Loan; (2) the Federal Pell Grant program, or Pell; (3) Federal Work Study and (4) Federal Supplemental Opportunity
Grants. For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2021, 44.72% of Aspen University’s and 33.81% for United States University's cash-basis revenue for eligible tuition and fees were
derived from Title IV Programs.
Return of Title IV Funds
An institution participating in Title IV Programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV Program funds that have been disbursed to students who withdraw
from their educational programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in a timely manner, no later than 45 days of the date the school determines that the
student has withdrawn. Under the DOE regulations, failure to make timely returns of Title IV Program funds for 5% or more of students sampled on the institution's annual
compliance audit in either of its two most recently completed fiscal years can result in the institution having to post a letter of credit in an amount equal to 25% of its required
Title IV returns during its most recently completed fiscal year. If unearned funds are not properly calculated and returned in a timely manner, an institution is also subject to
monetary liabilities or an action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its participation in Title IV Programs.
Subsequent to a compliance audit in 2015, Educacion Significativa, LLC (“ESL”), the predecessor to USU, recognized that it had not fully complied with all requirements for
calculating and making timely returns of Title IV funds (R2T4). In 2016, ESL had a material finding related to the same issue and was required to maintain a letter of credit in
the amount of $71,634 as a result of this finding. The letter of credit was provided to the DOE by AGI since it assumed this obligation in its purchase of USU. This letter of
credit expired in early 2021 and the cash was returned to the Company.
On September 28, 2020, the DOE notified USU that the funds held for a letter of credit in the amount of $255,708, based on the audited same day balance sheet requirements
that apply in a change of control, which was funded by the University’s sole shareholder, AGI, were released. In August 2020, the DOE informed USU that it is required to post
a new letter of credit in the amount of $379,345, based on the current level of Title IV funding. This irrevocable letter of credit was to expire on August 25, 2021. In December
2020, the DOE reduced USU's existing letter of credit by $369,473. In connection with USU's most recent Compliance Audit, USU maintains a letter of credit of $9,872 at
April 30, 2022. As noted above, with the recent full certification of USU, we are working with the DOE to release the remaining LOC.
Approval to Confer Degrees
Aspen University is a Delaware corporation and is approved to operate in the State of Delaware. Aspen University is authorized by the Arizona State Board for Private
Postsecondary Education in the State of Arizona to operate as a degree granting institution for all degrees. Aspen University is authorized to operate as a degree granting
institution for bachelor degrees by the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board in the State of Texas. Aspen University has been granted Optional Expedited Authorization
as a postsecondary educational institution in Tennessee for its Bachelor of Science in Nursing (Pre-Licensure) degree program. Aspen University has received a License for its
Bachelor of Science in Nursing (Pre-Licensure) degree program to operate in the state of Florida by the Commission for Independent Education of the Florida Department of
Education. Aspen University has received a Certificate of Authorization for its Bachelor of Science in Nursing (Pre-Licensure) degree program to operate in the state of Georgia
by the Georgia Nonpublic Postsecondary Education Commission.
USU is also a Delaware corporation and received initial approval from the Delaware DOE to confer degrees through June 2023. USU is authorized by the California Bureau of
Private Postsecondary Education to operate as a degree-granting institution for all degrees.

Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity
AGI maintains two stock-based incentive plans: the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) and 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) that provide for the grant of
shares in the form of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted shares, stock appreciation rights and RSUs to employees, consultants, officers and directors.
The 2012 Plan expired March 15, 2022 and remains in effect for outstanding grants only, and is no longer available for new grants. On March 8, 2022 we transferred the 129,009
unused shares under the 2012 Plan to the 2018 Plan.
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As of April 30, 2022 there were 812,763 shares remaining available for future issuance under the 2018 Plan. As of April 30, 2021 there were549,739 shares remaining available
for future issuance under the 2012 and the 2018 Plans.
On December 22, 2021, the Company held its Annual Meeting of Shareholders at which the shareholders voted to amend the 2018 Plan to increase the number of shares of
common stock available for issuance under the 2018 Plan from 1,600,000 to 2,350,000 shares.
On July 6, 2022, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock the Company is authorized
to issue from 40,000,000 to 60,000,000 authorized shares. The stockholders of the Company had previously approved the amendment at a special meeting of the Company's
stockholders held on July 6, 2022.
Preferred Stock
The Company is authorized to issue 1,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock with designations, rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by our
Board of Directors. As of April 30, 2022 and April 30, 2021, we had no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.
Common Stock
At April 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company was authorized to issue 60,000,000 and 40,000,000 shares of common stock, respectively.
On August 31, 2020, the Company entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Canaccord Genuity LLC (“Canaccord”), pursuant to which the
Company may issue and sell from time to time, through Canaccord, up to $12,309,750 of shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Shares”). The Shares were offered and
sold pursuant to a prospectus supplement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 31, 2020. The purpose of this Agreement was, among other things, to
allow the Company to sell common stock that has been surrendered from executive officers and directors related to vesting of RSUs and exercise of stock options as well as to
receive the funds the Company would otherwise have received if the stock options exercised under the net share program were exercised for cash. During the fiscal year 2021,
the Company sold 449,632 shares under the Agreement. On February 8, 2021, the Company provided written notice to Canaccord Genuity of its election to terminate the Equity
Distribution Agreement. This action terminates the Company’s at-the-market offering facility effective February 18, 2021.
Under the Agreement, the Company paid Canaccord 3% of the gross proceeds from the sales of the Shares sold under the Agreement. The Company also reimbursed Canaccord
for certain specified expenses, including the fees and disbursements of its legal counsel, in the amount of $50,000. Total expenses for the offering, excluding compensation and
reimbursement payable to Canaccord under the terms of the Agreement, were approximately $50,000, which is included in general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statement of operations.
During the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company issued58,419 and 1,389,463 shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options for cash and received
proceeds $191,034 of $2,669,247, respectively. As of April 30, 2022 and April 30, 2021,0 and 155,486 shares of common stock related to options exercised by the executive
officers were surrendered to cover the option exercise price but have yet to be sold by the company, respectively. (See Treasury stock discussion below).
During the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company issued85,576 and 295,557shares of common stock upon the vesting of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”),
respectively.
During the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company issued30,156 and 34,773 shares of common stock upon the cashless exercise of 200,000 and 52,778 stock
options, respectively.
During the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company issued0 and 192,049 shares of common stock upon the exercise of warrants for cash and received proceeds of
$0 and $1,081,792, respectively.
On January 3, 2022, the Compensation Committee approved a 117,316 common stock grant to the members of the Board of Directors for services in the 2021 calendar year.
The grant had a grant date fair value of $279,212 based on a closing stock price of $2.38 per share. The grant was under the Company’s 2018 Plan and was fully vested and
amortized as of January 31, 2022.
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These shares were issued in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022. The amortization expense is included within stock-based compensation in general and administrative expense
in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
During the year ended April 30, 2021, the Company issued2,000 shares of common stock to a former director for services provided. The shares were valued using a grant date
share price of $9.95 and the Company recognized $19,900 of expense.
On September 14, 2020, after the closing price of our common stock was at least $10.725 over a 20 consecutive trading day period, the $10 million 2020 Convertible Notes
(see Note 9. Long-term Debt, Net) automatically converted into 1,398,602 shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $7.15 per share.
Restricted Stock
As of April 30, 2022, and 2021 there were 0 and 8,224 unvested shares of restricted common stock outstanding. During the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021 there were no
new restricted stock grants, forfeitures, or expirations. There is no unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock as of April 30, 2022.
Restricted Stock Units
A summary of the Company’s RSU activity which were granted under the 2021 and 2018 Equity Incentive Plans during the year ended April 30, 2022 is presented below:
Restricted Stock Units

Number of Shares

Unvested balance outstanding, April 30, 2021
Granted
Forfeits
Vested
Expired

Weighted Average Grant Date Fair
Value

549,972 $
520,142
(54,610)
(85,576)
—
929,928 $

Unvested balance outstanding, April 30, 2022

6.58
5.58
8.49
4.27
—
6.12

Fiscal 2022 activity
Of the 520,142 RSUs granted during the year ended April 30, 2022,410,000 RSUs correspond to executive compensation grants summarized below.
On August 16 2021, the Compensation Committee approved a 125,000 RSU grant to the Company’s newly hired Chief Financial Officer as part of his employment agreement.
The grant has a grant date fair value of $725,000 based on a closing stock price of $5.80 per share. On August 12, 2021, the Compensation Committee approved individual
grants of 80,000 RSUs to the Company’s Chief Operating Officer and Chief Academic Officer. The grants have a total grant date fair value of $1.0 million based on a closing
stock price of $6.48 per share.
The three executive grants discussed above are under the Company’s 2018 Plan and are set to vest annually over a period ofthree years and are subject to continued employment
as an officer of the Company on each applicable vesting date. The amortization expense related to these grants for year ended April 30, 2022 was $440,450 and is included in
"general and administrative expense" in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
On July 21, 2021, as part of a new employment agreement, the Compensation Committee approved a125,000 RSU grant to the Company's Chief Executive Officer under the
Company's 2018 Plan. The grant has a grant date fair value of $873,750 based on a closing stock price of $6.99 per share. As stipulated in the grant, vesting is subject to
continued employment with the Company and will occur in full on the date the Company files with the SEC a quarterly or annual report on Forms 10-Q or 10-K, as applicable,
which reflects the Company's reported net income on a GAAP basis. At April 30, 2022, the Company is amortizing the expense over three years through July 2024 (the filing
date of the Form 10-K for Fiscal Year 2024). The Company will continue to assess the performance condition at each reporting period. If the RSUs do not vest within three
years from the July 21, 2021 effective date, they will be forfeited. The amortization expense related to this grant for the year ended April 30, 2022 was 242,708,
$
which is
included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
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The remaining 110,142 RSUs granted during the year ended April 30, 2022 were granted to employees and have a grant date fair value that ranges from $2.09 to $6.50 per
share, or a total of $266,988, vesting annually over three years and subject to continued employment on each applicable vesting date.
Of the 929,928 unvested RSUs outstanding at April 30, 2022,195,000 remain from the February 4, 2020 executive grant. These RSUs vest four years from the grant date, if
each applicable executive is still employed by the Company on the vesting date and subject to accelerated vesting for all RSUs if the closing price of the Company’s common
stock is at least $12 for 20 consecutive trading days. On the grant date, the closing price of the Company's common stock on The Nasdaq Global Market was $9.49 per share.
The amortization expense related to this grant for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, was approximately $0.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively, which is included in
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
At April 30, 2022, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs is $3,947,815 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
approximately 1.49 years.
Fiscal 2021 activity
Of the 275,521 RSU grants in fiscal 2021, 15,791 RSUs correspond to RSUs granted to the Board of Directors while the remainder of the RSU grants were to employees. The
RSUs granted to the Board of Directors occurred during the three months ending January 31, 2021 and immediately vested with a fair value of $11.13 per share, resulting in a
total expense of $175,754. The grant date fair value of the remaining employee awards range from $5.92 to $12.78 per share, or a total of $2.5 million, with an annual vest over
three years.
As of April 30, 2021, 549,972 RSUs are unvested. Total unrecognized compensation expense related to these unvested RSUs is approximately $3.6 million which will be
amortized over the remaining vesting periods. Included in this amount is approximately $1.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to 195,000 unvested
RSUs from the executive RSU grant discussed below.
As of April 30, 2021, there was approximately $3.6 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested RSU grants. That cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1.72 years.
Warrants
The Company estimates the fair value of warrants utilizing the Black-Scholes pricing model, which is dependent upon several variables such as the expected term, expected
volatility of the Company’s stock price over the expected term, expected risk-free interest rate over the expected term and expected dividend yield rate over the expected term.
The Company believes this valuation methodology is appropriate for estimating the fair value of warrants issued to directors which are subject to ASC Topic 718 requirements.
These amounts are estimates and thus may not be reflective of actual future results, nor amounts ultimately realized by recipients of these grants. The Company recognizes
expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of each warrant issued.
A summary of the Company’s warrant activity during the year ended April 30, 2022 is presented below:
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Warrants

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of Shares

Balance Outstanding, April 30, 2021
Granted
Exercised
Surrendered
Expired

$

Balance Outstanding, April 30, 2022

374,174
275,000
—
—
—
649,174

Exercisable, April 30, 2022

624,174

Exercise
Price

OUTSTANDING WARRANTS
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$1.00
$4.89
$5.85
$6.00
$6.87
$6.99

$
$
$
$
$
$

1.00
4.89
5.85
6.00
6.87
6.99

200,000
50,000
50,000
100,000
224,174
25,000
649,174

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$

6.37
2.43
—
—
—
4.70

1.9
4.80
—
—
—
1.96 $

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

4.61

2.48 $

—

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding
Number of
Warrants

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

EXERCISABLE WARRANTS
Weighted
Average
Remaining Life
In Years

$1.00
$4.89
$5.85
$6.00
$6.87
$0.00

4.99
1.95
4.34
1.85
0.24
—

Exercisable
Number of
Warrants

200,000
50,000
50,000
100,000
224,174
—
624,174

Fiscal 2022 activity
On April 22, 2022, as consideration for amending the Intercreditor Agreement, the Company issued warrants to the each of the same two unaffiliated lenders of the 2022
Convertible Notes, to each purchase 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock exercisable forfive years from the date of issuance at the exercise price of $1.00 per
share. See Note 9. Long-term Debt, Net. As consideration for the lenders agreeing to enter into the Amendment, the Company agreed to issue each lender 100,000 five-year
warrants exercisable at $1.00 per share. The fair value of the warrants is $118,000 and is being amortized over the 60-month term. The fair value of the warrants are treated as
deferred financing costs, a non-current asset, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at April 30, 2022. Total unamortized costs at April 30, 2022 were $118,000.
On August 31, 2021, the Compensation Committee approved the issuance of warrants to the Leon and Toby Cooperman Family Foundation as an extension fee in connection
with the extension of the 2018 Credit Facility Agreement. The warrants allow for the purchase of 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and have an exercise price of
$5.85. The warrants have an exercise period of five years from the August 31, 2021 issuance date and will terminate automatically and immediately upon the expiration of the
exercise period. The fair value of the warrants is $137,500 and is being amortized over the 14-month line of credit period. The Company has recognized $68,932 of amortization
expense in connection with the fair value of the warrants for year ended April 30, 2022, respectively, which is included in "interest expense" in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations.
On July 21, 2021, the Executive Committee approved the issuance of warrants to a former member of the Board of Directors for the purchase of25,000 shares of the Company's
common stock with an exercise price of $6.99 per share. The warrants have an exercise period of five years from the July 21, 2021 issuance date and vest annually over a three
year period subject to continued service on the Company's Advisory Board on each applicable vesting date. The warrants will terminate automatically and immediately upon the
expiration of the exercise period. The fair value of the warrants is $84,000 and is being amortized over the three year vesting period. The Company has recognized $21,000 of
amortization expense in connection with the fair
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value of the warrants for the year ended April 30, 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations.
Fiscal 2021 activity
On June 5, 2020, the Company, as an inducement to exercise, reduced by 5% the exercise price of the common stock purchase warrants issued to The Leon and Toby
Cooperman Family Foundation (the “Foundation”), of which Mr. Leon Cooperman, a stockholder of the Company, is the trustee. The warrants were issued on November 5,
2018 (the “2018 Cooperman Warrants”) and on March 5, 2019 (the “2019 Cooperman Warrants”). The 2018 Cooperman Warrants exercise price was reduced from $5.85 to
$5.56 per share. The 2019 Cooperman Warrants exercise price was reduced from $6.00 to $5.70 per share. On June 8, 2020, the Foundation immediately exercised the 2018 and
2019 Cooperman Warrants for 192,049 shares on common stock paying the Company $1,081,792 and the Company issued 192,049 shares of common stock to the Foundation.
The warrant modification and acceleration charge related to this transaction in the first quarter of fiscal year 2021 was $25,966.
Stock Option Grants to Employees and Directors
The Company estimates the fair value of share-based compensation utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is dependent upon several variables such as the
expected option term, expected volatility of the Company’s stock price over the expected term, expected risk-free interest rate over the expected option term and expected
dividend yield rate over the expected option term. The Company believes this valuation methodology is appropriate for estimating the fair value of stock options granted to
employees and directors which are subject to ASC Topic 718 requirements. These amounts are estimates and thus may not be reflective of actual future results, nor amounts
ultimately realized by recipients of these grants. The Company recognizes compensation on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each award.
The Company utilizes the simplified method to estimate the expected life for stock options granted to employees. The simplified method was used as the Company does not
have sufficient historical data regarding stock option exercises. The expected volatility is based on historical volatility. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury
yields with terms equivalent to the expected life of the related option at the time of the grant. Dividend yield is based on historical trends. While the Company believes these
estimates are reasonable, the compensation expense recorded would increase if the expected life was increased, a higher expected volatility was used, or if the expected dividend
yield increased.
There were no options granted to employees during the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021.
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for employees and directors during the year ended April 30, 2022, is presented below:
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares

Options

Balance Outstanding, April 30, 2021
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired

1,214,473 $
—
(258,419)
(7,297)
(88,575)
860,182 $

Balance Outstanding, April 30, 2022

840,385

Exercisable, April 30, 2022
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$

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

6.24
—
5.60
2.89
0.83
7.03

1.88 $
—
—
—
—
1.25 $

204,719
—
—
—
—
—

7.08

1.24 $

—
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Exercise
Price

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$3.24 to $4.38
$4.50 to $5.20
$5.95 to $6.28
$7.17 to $7.55
$8.57 to $9.07

$3.82
$4.94
$5.95
$7.45
$8.98

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding
Number of
Options

63,165
138,176
28,000
473,092
157,749
860,182

EXERCISABLE OPTIONS
Weighted
Average
Remaining Life
In Years

$4.50
$4.98
$5.95
$7.46
$8.98

Exercisable
Number of
Options

1.44
1.74
0.31
1.32
0.69

51,998
137,543
28,000
465,095
157,749
840,385

As of April 30, 2022, there was approximately $5,446 of unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 0.42 years.
Stock-based compensation related stock options, RSUs and restricted stock
A summary of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense, which is included in "general and administrative" expense in the consolidated statement of operations is
presented below:
Years Ended April 30,
2022

RSUs
Restricted Stock
Stock options

$

$

Total stock-based compensation expense

2021

2,095,533
307,283
131,849
2,534,665

$

$

3,335,250
62,007
560,828
3,958,085

Treasury Stock
As of both April 30, 2022 and 2021, 155,486 shares of common stock were held in treasury representing shares of common stock surrendered upon the exercise of stock options
in payment of the exercise prices and the taxes and similar amounts due arising from the option exercises. The values aggregating approximately $1,817,414 were based upon
the fair market value of shares surrendered as of the date of each applicable exercise date.
On October 16, 2020, the Company retired 16,667 shares of its treasury stock valued at $70,000, which were outstanding at April 30, 2020.
Note 12. Leases
The Company determines if a contract contains a lease at inception. The Company has entered into operating leases totaling approximately191,328 square feet of office and
classroom space in Phoenix, San Diego, New York City, Denver, Austin, Tampa, Nashville, Atlanta and the New Brunswick Province in Canada. These leases expire at various
dates through April 2031, and the majority contain annual base rent escalation clauses. Most of these leases include options to terminate for a fee or extend for additional fiveyear periods. As permitted by ASC 842, leases with an initial term of twelve months or less are not recorded on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company
does not have any financing leases.
As of April 30, 2022, our longer-term operating leases are located in Tampa, Phoenix, Austin and Nashville and are set to expire in six to eight years. These leases make up
approximately 96% of the total future minimum lease payments.
Operating lease assets are ROU assets, which represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term. Operating lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Operating leases are included in "Operating
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lease right-of-use assets, net", "Operating lease obligations, current portion" and "Operating lease obligations, less current portion" in the consolidated balance sheets at
April 30, 2022 and 2021. These assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. Variable lease costs such
as common area maintenance, property taxes and insurance are expensed as incurred. When the lease does not provide an implicit interest rate, the Company uses an
incremental borrowing rate of 12% to determine the present value of the lease payments.
Lease incentives are deducted from the ROU assets. Incentives such as tenant improvement allowances are amortized as leasehold improvements, separately, over the life of the
lease term. For the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, the amortization expense for these leasehold improvements was $661,131 and $306,217, respectively.
Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease expense for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, was 3$,868,333 and
$2,775,000, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
ROU assets are summarized below:
April 30,
2022

ROU assets - Operating facility leases
Less: accumulated amortization

$

Total ROU assets

$

2021

15,958,721 $
(3,312,771)
12,645,950 $

14,308,296
(1,593,433)
12,714,863

Operating lease obligations, related to the ROU assets are summarized below:
April 30,
2022

Total lease liabilities
Reduction of lease liabilities

$

Total operating lease obligations

$

2021

22,517,355 $
(3,671,466)
18,845,889 $

19,946,229
(1,617,600)
18,328,629

The following is a schedule by future minimum lease payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year
as of April 30, 2022 (a) (by fiscal year).
Lease Payments

Maturity of Lease Obligations

2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
Thereafter
Total future minimum lease payments
Less: imputed interest

$

Present value of operating lease liabilities

$

4,323,543
4,021,638
3,805,716
3,911,083
3,991,386
7,971,839
28,025,205
(9,179,316)
18,845,889

____________________

(a) Lease payments exclude $3.7 million of legally binding minimum lease payments for the new BSN Pre-Licensure campus location in Atlanta, Georgia for its lease signed but not yet
commenced.
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April 30,

Balance Sheet Classification

2022

Operating lease obligations, current portion
Operating lease obligations, less current portion

$

Total operating lease obligations

$

2021

2,036,570
16,809,319
18,845,889

$

2,029,821
16,298,808
18,328,629

$

April 30,

Other Information

2022

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted average discount rate

2021

6.81
12 %

7.46
12 %

Note 13. Revenue
Revenue consists primarily of tuition and fees derived from courses taught by the Company online as well as from related educational resources that the Company provides to
its students, such as access to its online materials and learning management system. The Company’s educational programs have starting and ending dates that differ from its
fiscal quarters. Therefore, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a portion of revenue from these programs is not yet earned and is therefore deferred. The Company also charges
students fees for library and technology costs, which are recognized over the related service period and are not considered separate performance obligations. Other services,
books, and exam fees are recognized as services are provided or when goods are received by the student. The Company’s contract liabilities are reported as deferred revenue and
due to students. Deferred revenue represents the amount of tuition, fees, and other student payments received in excess of the portion recognized as revenue and it is included in
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The following table represents the Company's revenue disaggregated by the nature and timing of services:
Years Ended April 30,
2022
2021

Tuition - recognized over period of instruction
Course fees - recognized over period of instruction
Book fees - recognized at a point in time
Exam fees - recognized at a point in time
Service fees - recognized at a point in time

$

Revenue

$

67,200,354
7,982,689
42,777
799,367
669,179
76,694,366

$

$

59,970,120
7,088,539
150,969
233,820
369,072
67,812,520

Contract Balances and Performance Obligations
The Company recognizes deferred revenue as a student participates in a course which continues past the consolidated balance sheet date.
The deferred revenue balance as of April 30, 2022 and 2021, was $5,889,911 and $6,825,014, respectively. During the year ended April 30, 2022, the Company recognized
$5,087,417 of revenue that was included in the deferred revenue balance as of April 30, 2021. The Company classifies deferred revenue as current when the remaining term of
the course, including affect to the refund policy, is one year or less.
When the Company begins providing the performance obligation by beginning instruction in a course, a contractual receivable is created, resulting in accounts receivable. The
Company accounts for receivables in accordance with ASC 310, Receivables. The Company uses the portfolio approach.
Cash Receipts
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The Company's students finance costs through a variety of funding sources, including, among others, monthly payment plans, installment plans, federal loan and grant programs
(Title IV), employer reimbursement, and various veterans and military funding and grants, and cash payments. Most students elect to use our monthly payment plan. This plan
allows them to make fixed monthly payments over the length of the payment plan. Title IV and military funding typically arrives during the period of instruction. Students who
receive reimbursement from employers typically do so after completion of a course. Students who choose to pay cash for a class typically do so before beginning the class.
Significant Judgment
We analyze revenue recognition on a portfolio approach under ASC 606-10-10-4. Significant judgment is utilized in determining the appropriate portfolios to assess for meeting
the criteria to recognize revenue under ASC Topic 606. We have determined that all of our students can be grouped into one portfolio. Students behave similarly, regardless of
their payment method. Enrollment agreements and refund policies are similar for all of our students. We do not expect that revenue earned for the portfolio is significantly
different as compared to revenue that would be earned if we were to assess each student contract separately.
The Company maintains institutional tuition refund policies, which provides for all or a portion of tuition to be refunded if a student withdraws during stated refund periods.
Certain states in which students reside impose separate, mandatory refund policies, which override the Company’s policy to the extent in conflict. If a student withdraws at a
time when a portion or none of the tuition is refundable, then in accordance with its revenue recognition policy, the Company recognizes as revenue the tuition that was not
refunded. Since the Company recognizes revenue pro-rata over the term of the course and because, under its institutional refund policy, the amount subject to refund is never
greater than the amount of the revenue that has been deferred, under the Company’s accounting policies revenue is not recognized with respect to amounts that could potentially
be refunded.
The Company had revenue from students outside the United States totaling approximately 2.0% and 1.0% of consolidated revenue for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
Note 14. Income Taxes
The components of income tax expense are as follows:
Years Ended April 30,
2022

Current income tax expense:
Federal
State
Foreign
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense:
Federal
State
Foreign
Deferred income tax expense
Income tax expense

$

$

F-34

—
27,400
400,000
427,400
—
—
—
—
427,400

2021

$

$

—
32,644
—
32,644
—
—
—
—
32,644
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Significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
April 30,
2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred rent
Stock-based compensation
Contributions carryforward
Accrued compensation
Warrant amortization
Intangibles
Interest expense limitation carryforward
Total deferred tax assets

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Stock-based compensation
Total deferred tax liabilities

2021

18,095,495
897,965
192,284
870,245
11,089
43,176
17,888
—
717,919
20,846,061

$

(1,000,092)
(463,074)
—
(1,463,166)
$

Deferred tax assets, net
Valuation allowance:
Beginning of year
Increase during period
Ending balance

19,382,895

(356,473)
(186,063)
(1,778,017)
(2,320,553)
$

(14,776,048)
(4,606,847)
(19,382,895)
$

Net deferred tax asset

—

15,737,351
1,009,273
252,479
—
11,013
—
—
—
86,485
17,096,601

14,776,048

(12,399,948)
(2,376,100)
(14,776,048)
$

—

As of April 30, 2022, as part of its periodic evaluation of the necessity to maintain a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, and after consideration of all factors,
including, among others, projections of future taxable income, current year net operating loss carryforward utilization and the extent of the Company's cumulative losses in
recent years, the Company determined that, on a more likely than not basis, it would not be able to use remaining deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Company has
determined to maintain a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. As of April 30, 2022 and 2021, the valuation allowance was approximately $19,400,000
and $14,800,000, respectively. In the future, the utilization of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to certain change of control limitations. If the
Company determines it will be able to use some or all of its deferred tax assets in a future reporting period, the adjustment to reduce or eliminate the valuation allowance would
reduce its tax expense and increase after-tax income.
At April 30, 2022, the Company had approximately $69,700,000 of net operating loss carryforwards, $28,200,000 of which will expire from 2031 to 2038, the remainder will
carryforward indefinitely. The Company believes its tax positions are all highly certain of being upheld upon examination. As such, the Company has not recorded a liability for
unrecognized tax benefits. As of April 30, 2022, tax years 2019 through 2021 remain open for IRS audit. The Company has received no notice of audit from the Internal
Revenue Service for any of the open tax years. A reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. statutory rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:
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The Company's effective income tax expense differs from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% as follows:
April 30,
2022

Statutory Rate applied to net loss before income taxes
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Effect on change in federal tax rates
Federal and State Minimum Taxes
Permanent Differences
Foreign income tax
Change in Tax Rates - States
Change in Tax Credits
Change in Valuation Allowance
Other
Effective Income Tax Rate

2021

21.0 %

21.0 %

4.2 %
—%
—%
(1.9)%
(4.4)%
1.1 %
—%
(50.3)%
25.6 %
(4.7)%

4.4 %
—%
(0.2)%
(0.2)%
—%
(2.8)%
—%
(22.8)%
0.3 %
(0.3)%

The Company determined that it has a permanent establishment in Canada, as defined by article V(2)(c) of the Convention between Canada and the United States of America
with Respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital (the “Treaty”), which would be subject to Canadian taxation as levied under the Income Tax Act. The Company is preparing to
file Canadian T2 Corporation Income Tax Returns and related information returns under the Voluntary Disclosure Program with the Canada Revenue Agency ("CRA") to cover
the 2013 through 2021 tax years during which a permanent establishment was in place. The Company will also file an annual Canadian T2 Corporation Income Tax return to
report the ongoing activity of the permanent establishment for 2022 and future taxation years.
As of April 30, 2022, the Company recorded a reserve of approximately $300,000 for the estimate of the 2013 through 2021 tax year foreign income tax liability. Additionally,
for the 2022 tax year, the Company recorded a reserve of $100,000 for the related foreign income tax liability.

Note 15. Quarterly Results (Unaudited)
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Quarter Ended July 31

Quarter Ended
October 31

Quarter Ended
January 31

Quarter Ended April
30

Year Ended April 30, 2022

Revenue
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
Operating loss
Loss before income taxes
Net loss

$

19,430,995 $
8,593,568
(1,238,459)
(719,878)
(870,888)

18,940,211 $
8,789,201
(2,657,536)
(2,846,358)
(2,852,258)

18,944,798 $
9,275,419
(3,335,644)
(3,502,387)
(3,733,997)

19,378,362
8,601,093
(1,738,684)
(2,089,758)
(2,128,638)

Net loss per share allocable to common stockholders - basic and diluted

$

(0.03) $

(0.11) $

(0.15) $

(0.09)

Quarter Ended July 31

Quarter Ended
October 31

Quarter Ended
January 31

Quarter Ended April
30

Year Ended April 30, 2021

Revenue
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
Operating loss
Loss before income taxes
Net loss

$

15,165,562 $
5,847,523
(366,341)
(945,096)
(943,196)

16,971,045 $
7,324,780
(2,797,247)
(4,333,995)
(4,370,525)

16,624,837 $
7,559,951
(2,784,825)
(2,804,806)
(2,815,266)

19,051,076
8,721,479
(2,295,735)
(2,332,432)
(2,319,986)

Net loss per share allocable to common stockholders - basic and diluted

$

(0.04) $

(0.19) $

(0.11) $

(0.09)
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EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on December 13, 2016, as amended by
Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 filed on November 21, 2018 (File No. 333-215075), the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on
September 21, 2020 (File No. 333-248932) and the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on December 18, 2020, as amended by
Amendment No. 1 filed on March 17, 2021 (File No. 333-251459), of our report dated July 29, 2022 on the consolidated financial statements
of Aspen Group, Inc. as of and for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021, which report is included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Aspen Group, Inc. for the year ended April 30, 2022.

/s/ Salberg & Company, P.A.
_____________________________
SALBERG & COMPANY, P.A.
Boca Raton, Florida
July 29, 2022

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Michael Mathews, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aspen Group, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date : July 29, 2022
/s/ Michael Mathews
Michael Mathews
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Matthew LaVay, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aspen Group, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date : July 29, 2022
/s/ Matthew LaVay
Matthew LaVay
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Aspen Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof, I, Michael Mathews, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:
1.

The annual report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

2.

The information contained in the annual report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael Mathews
Michael Mathews
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated : July 29, 2022

In connection with the annual report of Aspen Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof, I, Matthew LaVay, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1.

The annual report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

2.

The information contained in the annual report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Matthew LaVay
Matthew LaVay
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Dated : July 29, 2022

